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2016 12
613,911 — — 613,911
— 96,427 41,214 137,641
— 13,542 96,955 110,497
613,911 109,969 138,169 862,049
— 6,233 — 6,233
— 19,407 18,666 38,073
— 25,640 18,666 44,306
613,911 135,609 156,835 906,355
2015 12
555,654 — — 555,654
— 72,913 43,472 116,385
— 14,281 101,655 115,936
555,654 87,194 145,127 787,975
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 19,928 12,370 32,298
— 23,430 12,370 35,800
555,654 110,624 157,497 823,775
2015 12 87
124.8
( ( )
)
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( )

2016 12 ( )
43,678 18,633 1,035 63,346
47 595,435 4,117 599,599
43,725 614,068 5,152 662,945
— 139,732 — 139,732
— 1,432 — 1,432
43,725 755,232 5,152 804,109
23,837 3,095 4 26,936
34 584,717 2,224 586,975
23,871 587,812 2,228 613,911
— 96,361 66 96,427
— 9,941 3,601 13,542
23,871 694,114 5,895 723,880
— 6,233 — 6,233
— 15,674 3,733 19,407
— 21,907 3,733 25,640
23,871 716,021 9,628 749,520
13 10,718 1,893 12,624
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( )
2015 12 ( )
48,198 17,501 1,238 66,937
14 544,300 4,803 549,117
48,212 561,801 6,041 616,054
— 132,933 — 132,933
— 1,368 — 1,368
48,212 696,102 6,041 750,355
21,038 3,584 62 24,684
28 528,277 2,665 530,970
21,066 531,861 2,727 555,654
— 72,842 71 72,913
— 10,802 3,479 14,281
21,066 615,505 6,277 642,848
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 17,804 2,124 19,928
— 21,306 2,124 23,430
21,066 636,811 8,401 666,278
14) 16,023 2,138 18,147
2015 12
87 124.8
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2016 12 2015 12 10.4 12.4

) ( )
2016 12 2015 12

336 405
0.8 20.0 (7.1 ) 3.2 19.7 (5.9 )

35.0 97.5 (76.5 )
() 0.8  16.1(4.7) 0.7 11.8(5.5)
199 152
0.9 5.5 (1.6 ) 0.9 14.5 (2.4 )
/ 8.6 13.3 (11.4 )
500 681
2.6 14.1 (6.3 ) 2.9 14.3 (6.2 )
0.0 70.0 (45.1 ) 0.0 70.0 (40.5 )
() 1.9 15.7(3.4) 1.8 5.5(3.0)

/ 2016 12

2015 12
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2016 12 2015 12 18.9
21.4
2016 12 2015 12
(184) 136
) ( / )
2016 12 2015 12
2,313 2,278
35 91 (65 /68 ) 46 99 (68 /66 )
(bps) 993(148/100) 952(174/131)
96(21/8) 88(24/20)
83 (54 /70 ) 55 (34 /40 )
(236) (276)
(39) 87 (42 /45 )  (65) 94 (38 /45 )
63 (23 /22 ) 14 59 (26 /26 )
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2016 12 2015 12
2016 12 2015 12
2016 12 2015 12
2016 12 2015 12

2016 12 2015 12

2016 2015
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2016 12 2015 12
6,041 7,793
1,052 646

394 680
(351) (401)
(1,727) (1,399)
641 934
(898) (2,212)
5,152 6,041
(8,401) (6.,422)
@377) 528
14 99
(5,697) (5,194)
4,087 2,801
(553) (973)
1,299 760
(9,628) (8,401)
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( )
2016 12 2015 12
(2,727) (2,718)
/( (446) ®)
14 99
(201) (383)
892 324
(155) (424)
395 383
(2,228) (2,727)
(71) (124)
/( ©) @
1 55
(66) (71)
(5,603) (3,580)
/( 75 538
(5,496) (4,811)
3,184 2,422
(398) (549)
904 377
(7,334) (5,603)
2016 12
2015 12
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2016 12
261 294
( )
( )
2016 12 2015 12

139 136

90 93
(80) (90)
149 139
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2016 12 2015 12 1,292.8
992.5 1,381.7 1,451.3
2016 12 2015 12
186.7 123.7
( )
2016 12 2015 12
6,477 6,778
1,521 1,804
607 235
2,128 2,039
1,016 1,050
1,040 751
2,056 1,801
72 238
6,549 7,016
2016 2015 619 532

2016 495 2015 625
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( )
/
2016 12
613,911 — — — — — 613,911
86,069 27,178 13,193 11,201 — — 137,641
87,223 2,424 1,054 19,966 — — 110,667
787,203 29,602 14,247 31,167 — — 862,219
— — — — 6,158 75 6,233
— 2 7 27 29,430 11,253 40,719
— 2 7 27 35,588 11,328 46,952
787,203 29,604 14,254 31,194 35,588 11,328 909,171
844 42,261 — 494 — — 43,599
— 7 14 61 229 — 311
3,993 — — — — — 3,993
4,837 42,268 14 555 229 — 47,903
792,040 71,872 14,268 31,749 35,817 11,328 957,074
2015 12
555,654 — — — — — 555,654
60,086 41,900 3,378 11,021 — — 116,385
86,050 2,267 688 27,367 — — 116,372
701,790 44,167 4,066 38,388 — — 788,411
— — — — 3,413 89 3,502
— 1 6 19 21,111 12,591 33,728
— 1 6 19 24,524 12,680 37,230
701,790 44,168 4,072 38,407 24,524 12,680 825,641
— 29,276 — — — — 29,276
— 8 16 72 347 15 458
4,137 — — — — — 4,137
4,137 29,284 16 72 347 15 33,871
705,927 73,452 4,088 38,479 24,871 12,695 859,512
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( )
2016 12 2015 12
420,321 379,594
367,705 307,759
( )
2016 12 2015 12
20,110 22,036
21,563 20,146
2016 12 2015 12 609.4 576.4
2016 12 2015 12 473.7

387.1
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( LIBOR )
( )
80
C )
( )
2016 12 2015 12
7 2)
©) 18
— (©)
( )
2016 12 2015 12
128 29 158 24
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( )
2016 12 2015 12
7,513 13,301
511 975
(31) 32)
4,523 4,895
IAS 39
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2016 12 2015 12

— 221

14,803 10,036

4,254 5,300

22,616 26,625

41,673 42,182
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13 23
63 890
76 913
76 913
Q) (99)
@ (99
Q) (99)
76 93
99 1,160
175 1,253
175 1,253
9 (101)
@ (101)
2 (101)
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( )
/C ) /C )
2016 12

11 131
@n 123
(16) 254
(16) 254
(©)) (35)

(©)) (35)

— @

(©)) (36)

2015 12

2 120

6 150

8 270

8 270

@ (32)

@ (32)

— @

@ (33)
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25
(
)
2016 12 69.4 68.2 2015 12

83.4 74.9
2016 12 2015 12
2015 12 711

23.6

126.5
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2016 12

16,948  (12,361) 4,587 (1,120) 42) (2,919) 506
661,959  (62,360) 599,599  (524,767)  (42,870)  (12,425) 19,537

678,907  (74,721) 604,186  (525,887)  (42,912)  (15,344) 20,043
232,912 (48,312) 184,600  (85,692) — (95,557) 3,351
58,632 (6,162) 52,470 (3,531)  (37,476) (4,864) 6,599

970,451  (129,195) 841,256  (615,110)  (80,388) (115,765) 29,993

92,137 — 92,137 — — — 92,137

1,062,588  (129,195) 933,393  (615,110)  (80,388) (115,765) 122,130

1,740 (1,686) 54 — — — 54
648,143  (61,168) 586,975  (525,614)  (35,845) (8,941) 16,575

649,883  (62,854) 587,029  (525,614)  (35,845) (8,941) 16,629
187,418  (53,155) 134,263  (84,632) — (48,821) 810
77,514 (6,444) 71,070 (3,792)  (43,765) (683) 22,830

914,815  (122,453) 792,362  (614,038)  (79,610)  (58,445) 40,269

6,233 — 6,233 (1,060) — (5,162) 11
9,268 (6,742) 2,526 (12) (778) (250) 1,486
15,501 (6,742) 8,759 (1,072) (778) (5.412) 1,497

930,316 (129,195) 801,121 (615,110) (80,388) (63,857) 41,766

105,234 — 105,234 —_ — — 105,234

1,035,550  (129,195) 906,355  (615,110)  (80,388)  (63,857) 147,000
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( )
2015 12

15,662  (11,579) 4,083 1) (726) (1,993) 1,343
608,906  (59,789) 549,117  (474,498)  (42,162)  (11,095) 21,362
624,568  (71,368) 553,200  (474,519)  (42,888)  (13,088) 22,705
191,094  (27,391) 163,703  (48,219) —  (112,475) 3,009

55,187 (6,758) 48,429 (542)  (32,202) (7,900) 7,785

870,849  (105,517) 765,332  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 33,499

84,273 — 84,273 — — — 84,273

955,122  (105,517) 849,605  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 117,772

1,164 (1,164) — — — _ _
589,450  (58,480) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
590,614  (59,644) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
148,170  (34,149) 114,021  (48,130) — (64,720) 1,171

74,559 (5,027) 69,532 (1)  (42,162) — 27,349
813,343  (98,820) 714,523  (522,649)  (74,365)  (73,337) 44,172

3,502 — 3,502 (89) — (3,343) 70
8,694 (6,697) 1,997 (542) — — 1,455
12,196 (6,697) 5,499 (631) — (3,343) 1,525

825,539  (105,517) 720,022  (523,280)  (74,365)  (76,680) 45,697

103,753 — 103,753 —_ — — 103,753

929,292  (105,517) 823,775  (523,280)  (74,365)  (76,680) 149,450

2017
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Year Ended Decembaer

3§ in enilions Note 2018 25
Mk revenuss 4 56,50 ERA L]
Adminisirative gepenses B o, 29y (4,077}
operaingpeom am 268
Interest payabie and smiar charges 8 M) 288
Mt france incoma ] ] 7
hmmammuhﬂmum 1,843 2661
Tax on proft on ordinary actvites 1] (48T (35N
Profit for the Minanclal year 5 1456 5 2 308

Nt revenues and cpsaling proft of the company ars derved from conSinuing opsrations in the current snd pricr years.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

Yoar Ended Ducembaer

£ o enidions Nt 2016 2015
Proft for the fnancisl year % 1,456 52308
Oiher comprehaeive |ncomn

Itemes Ehat will reot e reclassified subsequently to profil o loss

Actuarial loss relating to the pension scheme 4] {189) [k
Dbt valuation adjustment 18 {182y =
UK. dfareed tax atinbubaile bo S comg bs of ethes comprehansive e 18 az 1
U K. eument tax sl ibutabie 10 the companets of other compahéern indoms 3 -
Other comprehensive |oss Tor the financial year, net of ta {276} [F:]
Total comprefhensive inoome for the financ sl year % 1,180 5 2306

The accompanying rotes s an inbegral part of tvese Inancial statements,

55
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GOLOMAN SACHS INTERNATICHNAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Balance Sheet
Anof Dacambar
§ i milbons Hote HE Fgl
Fizod msels e - . I
Current asssty
Financial instnaments owned {incudes $20,110 as of December 2016 and §22,005 as of December 2015, pledged as collateral) 13 G632, 845 815,054
Collateralised agresments 14 'Fll.lul'.l 1!-'_!:?0@_-
Do 15 69,066 180,488
Cash af Bank and in hand 20 26,882 0974
93,129 850210
Creditors: amoums Balling due within one year
Finanzial instnosenls sold, ot not et purchased 13 (E13,811) (S55,554)
Colmewnedmnengs W e oiesss
Caher 18 [110,831) (118,300
(B62,483) (FREAI0)
Mt cLuvent assels 71,648 1.0
Total assets loss current Sabiliies —— e W s
Creditors: ameluvs falling dus aller mors than o year
Collswaissdfmengs W emm  psD
Cfhar creditons 18 {38,070 3220
184,304 (35,600
Mol conts wchodiog peeidon o 00000 #4M 000 W6
Panson surplus k] 51 a1
Met assets inoluding pension surplus § 27,5313 5 253583
Capital and rogervms
Called up share captal : : : w5 s s s
Share premum a:eoun 4,884 4,884
Cagital reserve inon-distrisutabie) 17 17
Prokt and less acecunt 22,070 20,850
Total sharshold er's funids § 27,533 5 26,353

The financial staternents wene appeoved by the Board of Deectors on March 15, 2017 and signied on its behall by

DA m%&

b. W. McDonogh
Director

Thi Becompanying rotes ans an inlegral pan of these Snancial statements.
Company number. 02203851

54
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Changes in Equity

fear Ended December

5 i enliang e 215

Called up share capital

Baginning balance 5 S8z 5 &Ny

T e ~ —
4z a2

Share premium account

Baginning balance 4,864 ZEE
Sharet miued - 2001
L L I — L S 4,864
Capital reserve fnon-di stribulabls)

Bagnning balance 7 17
Ending balance 17 17
Profit and loss account

Baginning balance 0,50 18,584
Praofi o the fnaneisl year 1458 2308
Cher £ crnptahsernog lems (276} =
Share-based paymants. a7 630
“Nnnagemant racharge s Bl ———0)
Endng balance 2,0 0D
Total sharehodder s funids: 527,533 526353

N dividends ware paid s 2018 and 2015,

This Bccompanying rotes & an inbegral part of fvese Inancisl shebements.
35
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Cash Flows

5 i erlliend Hofe 2018 2015
Cash Mows from operating activities

Cuth gunarated From cpamiiony W SEMY  szem
'I'Mrwﬁ.u.gd ........ 23 . 3
Taxation paid 1428) 0%
Nt cash from cpersting actvities 0 M0 24
Cash Mows from investing activities

Paymaents o acquind Exed atkels 135 (k]
_Metcash used in investing actdties s i

Cash Mows from financing activities

Recwphs bomissng oodnary shavecogel - am
Inberast paid on longsterm subordnated loans 30 217
Receipts from isswing long-term subordinated loans - 2500
Mt cash Fromiused in) Enencing edvilies (e 4,333
Med increase in cash and cash squivalents T 200 &018
Cash and cash equivalons, beganng bal 970 3577
Foreign exchange losses on cash and cash squiahents ] (428
Cash and cash equivalents, ending bal ande 20 S18.EE1 S3,870

The accompanying notes are an integral part of fwess fnancial stabements.

56
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 1.
General Information

The company B a prvale wnlimited company and s
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office is Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street,
London, EC44 2BB, United Kingdom.

The company's immediate parent undertaking iz Goldman
Sachs Growp UK Limited (G3G UK), a company incorporated
and demigiled i England and Wales.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company
of the smallest and largest group for which consohdated
financial statements are prepared 15 The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., a company incorperated m the United States of
Amenca. Coples of its consolidated financial statements, as
well as certain regulatory filings, for example CQuarterly
Reports on Form 10-0) and the Annual Report on Form 10-E,
that provide additional nformation aboat G5 Group and its
business activities, can be oblained from Investor Relations,
2000 West Street, New York, NY 10282, United States of
Amenca, G5 Group's pnncipal place of business, or at
www . goldmansachs com/sharcholders’.

Basel Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company 15 included in the comsolidated Fillar 3
disclosures of GSG UK, which are required by the E, U, Capital
Requirements Regulation. GSG UK's 2016 Pillar 3 discloswures
will be made available in comunction with the publication of
its consohidated financial information at
www goldmansachs com/disclosures’.

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is included in the consolidated country-by-
coumiry reporting disclosures of G3G UK, which are required
by the Capital Reguirements (Country-by-Country Reporting)
Eegulations 2013, G3G UK's 2016 coumtry-by-couniry
disclesures will be made available by December 31, 2017 a
www.goldmansachs com/disclosures’.

57
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Note 2.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The company prepares financial statements under UK. GAAP.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with FES 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™ (FES 101}

These financial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis, under the historical cost convention (modified
as explaned in “Pension Armangements”™ and “Financal Assels
and Firancial Liabilities™ below), and in accordance with the
Companies Agt 2006,

The following exemptions from the disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adoepted
by the EU. have been applied in the preparation of these
financial statements in accordance with FRS 101;

« [FES 2 “Share-based Payment” paragraph 45(b) and 46 10 52
These disclosures are provided i the consolidated financial
statements of Group Ine

« 1AS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements” paragraph 3% to
present comparative information in respect of-
« [AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements” paragraph
THa} ), and
« LAS 16 ‘Froperty, Plant and Equipment” paragraph 73(e).
« [AS | “Presentation of Financial Staiemenis’ paragraphs
1ML}, 16, and 404-Dx,

« [AS % “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” paragraphs 30 and 31,

= [AS 24 “Eelated Party Disclosures” paragraph 17, and

= [AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures” requirements o disclose
transactions with companies also whelly owned within GS
Group.

Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial
statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act
2006 as s subsidiaries are not material for the purpose of
giving a true and fair veew

These financial statements are individual financial statements.

179/337
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues have been disclosed
instead of twrnover as this reflects more meaningfully the
nature and results of the company’s activities. Met revenues
includes the net profit ansing from iransactions, with both third
parties and affilmtes, in securities, foreign exchange and other
financial mstruments, and fees and commissions. This s
inclusive of associated interest and dividends.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Measured
at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or
despnated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at
fair value with realised and unrealised gains and losses as well
as assockted interest and dividend mcome and expenses
included 1n net revenues. Financial assets are marked to bid
prices and financial habalities are marked to offer pnces. Fair
value measurements do not include transaction costs.

Mon-denvative [inancial mstruments owned and  fnancial
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (i.e., cash instruments)
are recoprised wsing  settlement date  accounting,  See
“Firmneial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Recogration and
Derecognition”™ below for further detals. Unrealised gains and
losses related to the change in far value of these instruments
between trade date and settlement date are recognised within
et TEVEnues.

Investment Banking

Fees from financial advisory engagements and underwriting
revenues are recognised in profit and loss when the relevant
parties are contractually bound and as confract actvity
progresses unless the right to consideration does ned arise until
the occurrence of a critical event, in which ease revenue 15 not
recognised until that event has occurred.

Expenses associated with such engagements are deferred until
the related revenue is recognised or the engagement is
otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with financial
advisory engagements are recognised in administrative
expenses, net of client reimbursements, Underwriting revenues
are presented net of related expenses.

Investment Management

Management fees are recognised on an accrueal basis amd are
generally caleulated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset valee. All management
fees are recognized over the period that the related service is
provided,

Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund’s retum
or a percentage of a fund's excess return above a specified
benchmark or other performance target. Incentive fees are
recognised only when all material contingencies have been
resobved.

58
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Commissions and Fees

Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures
markets, as well as OTC transactions 1s recopnised in net
revenies on the day the trade iz executed.

Operating Leases. The company las entered inte operating
lease arrangements as the lessee. Leased assels are not
recogrused on the balance sheet. Costs in respect of operatng
leases, adjusted for any incentives granted by the lessor, are
charged on a .-maigl'rt-lzinc basis over the lease term and
included within administrative expenses in the profit and loss
Acooun.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Short-term emplovee
benefits, such as wapes and salanes, are measured on an
undizcounted basziz and accrued as an expense over the period
in which the employee rencers the service 10 the company.
Provision 15 made for discretionary vear-end compensation
whether to be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past peactice, a constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

Share-Based Payments. Group Ine. mssues awards in the
form of restricted stock units (RSUs) and steck options 1o the
company's employees for services rendered to the company.
Awards are classified as equity settled and bence the o of
share-based transactions with employees 15 measured based on
the grant-date fair value of the sward. Share-based awards that
do not require future service (e, vested awards, including
awards gramted 1o retirement ¢ligible emplovess) are expensed
immediately. Share-based awards that require future service
are amorized over the relevant service penod, Expected
forfeitures are included in determimng share-based employee
compensalion expense.

Group Ine. settles equity awards through the delivery of s
ordinary shares. Group Inc. pays cash dividend equivalents on
outstanding  RSUs. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Inc. under which it 1
committed 0 pav 1o Group Inc. the grant-date far value as
well as subsequent movements in fair value of these awards 1o
Giroup Inc. at the time of delivery to its employees.
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Dividends. Final equity dividends are recogmised as a liabality
and deducted from equity m the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company’s shareholder. Interim eguity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid.

Pension Arrangements. The company is a sponsor of a
defined contribution pension plan, and was a sponsor of a
hybrid pension plan until March 31, 2016, for the benefit of
certain employees. The hybead pension plan had both & defined
benefit section (the Plan) and a defined contribution section.
These are accounted for as follows:

« For the defined comnibution pension plan and the defined
contribution  section of the hybnd pension plan, the
contributions payable for the vear are charged to operating
profit.  Differemces between contributions pavable for the
year and contributions sctually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments on the balance sheet,

+ For the Plan, the amounts charged to operating profit are the
CUITent SeTVICE COS1S, any past service costs and any gains or
losses on setilements and curtailments. These amounis are
included m ostafl costs. The net mnterest 15 ncluded in net
finance income. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised
immediately in other comprehensive meome. Plan asseis are
measured at fair value and Plan habilities are measured on an
actuarial basis using the projected unit method and
discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rafe of retum on
a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent currency amd
term to the Plan habalities, Full actuarml valuations are
obtained at least triennially and updated at each balance sheet
date. Any surplus or deficit of Plan assets over Flan liabilities
is recognised on the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or
liability (defieit).
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Fixed Assets.

Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and provision for impairment. Fixtures, fittings
and equipment are depreciated on a straighi-line basis over
their estimated useful lives, which is between 3 1o 7 vears.
Depreciation is included in admimistrative expenses.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorier of
the useful economic life of the asset or the remamnng life of the
lease when the asset is brought into use. Depreciation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis,

Intangible Fived Assets

Imangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amorisation and provisien for impairment. Subject 1o the
recograbion criteria i LAS 38 “Intangible Assets’ beng mel,
costs incurred during the wear that are directly attributable o
the development or improvement of new business application
software are capitalised as assets in the course of construction.
Assets in the course of construction are transferred to computer
software once completed and ready for their imended use,

Computer software = amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life, which is three vears. No amortisation is
charged on assets in the course of construction. Amonisition is
mcluded 1n administrative expenses and the amortisation
policies are reviewed on an anneal basis.

Inmtangible fixed assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or
assel group’s carryving value may not be fully recoverahle

Fixed Asset Investments

Fiooed asset investments are stated at cost or amortised cost, as
applicable, less provision for impaiment. Amertisation is
included in administrative expenses.

Cash at Bank and In Hand. Cash at bank and in hand is
highly liquid overnight deposits held i the ardinary course of
business

Foreign Currencies. The company's f(nancial stalements
are presemied in LS, doellars, which 1z also the company’s
fumetional eurrency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated
e ULS, dollars a1 rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction occurred. Monetary assets and habilities and non-
monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value,
denominated in foreign currencies are translated infe 105,
dellars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Foreipn exchange pains and losses are recogmised in operating
prafat
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Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Recognition and Derecognition

Mon<derivative financial instruments owned and fnancisl
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (i.e., cash instruments)
purchased or sold i regular way transaclions are recognised
and derecognised using settlement date accounting,

Crther financial assets and financial liabilities. are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. They are de-recopnised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if the
company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risk and rewards of ownership of that financial asset. A
financial hability 15 derecogmised only when 11 15 extinguished
(1Le., when the obligation specified in the contract 15 discharged
or cancelled or expires).

Classification and Measurement
The company classifies its financial assets and financial
liabalities mto the below catepornes. The clasafication, which 15
determined at initial recognition, depends on the purpose for
which they were acquired or originated

« Financial assets and financial liabilities classified
as held for trading. Financial assets and firancial
liabiliies classified as held for trading include firancial
instruments owned and financial mstruments sold, but not vet
purchased.  Financial instruments owned and  Onancial
instruments  sold, bui not yet purchased include cash
mstruments and derivative instruments. Both are motially
recognised at fair value with transaction costs expensed in
prafit or loss. Such financial instrumenis are camed in the
balance sheet a1 far value and all subsequent pains or losses
are recognised in net revenues.

The directors are of the opinion that it would not be
appropriate to classify them as current asset investments or to
provide an amalysis of such securities between those listed
and unlisted.
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« Financial assets and financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss. The company
designates certain of its other financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assels
and financial labilities designated ot fair value through prodit
or loss are mitially recogrised at fair value with fransaction
costs expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets are measured
in the balance sheet at fair value and all subsequent gains or
losses are recogrised in net revenues. Financial lisbilities are
measured in the balance sheet at far value, with changes in
fair value attributable 1o own credit spreads (debt valuation
adjpestiment or DVA)  being  recogmised  in other
comprehensve income, 1f 1t does not create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch, and the remaining changes in the fair
value being recopmsed n met  revemes.  See  “Mew
Aceounting Standards — IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’™
below for further information. The primary reasons for
designating such financial assets and financil labilities a1
farr value through profil or loss are:

» The group of himancial assets, financial labilities or both 1z
maniged and s perfomance evaluated on a fair value
basis; and

« To eliminate or sigrificanily reduce a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arse from
measuring assels of liabilities or recognising the gains and
kosses on them on different bases.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair
value threaugh profit or loss include:

« Hesale agreements and substantially all  repurchase
agreements;

« Securities borrowed and loaned within Fixed Income,
Cumrency and Commodities Client Execution;

« Substantially all secured debt secunties issued, which
mecludes certain hybrid financial mstruments and transfers
of assets sccounted for as inancings rather than sales,

« Certain unsecured debt securities ssued, including certain
hvbrid financial instruments,

« Certain intercompany unsccured bomowings included in
other creditors; and

« Certain debtors, including transfers of assets accounted for
as secured loans rather than purchases,

Hybrid fmancial instruments are instruments that contain
bifurcatable embedded denvatives If the company elects to
bifurcate the embedded dermvative from the associated debt,
the derivative is accounted for at fair value and the host
contract is accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portion of any fair value hedges. If the company
does not elect w0 bifurcate, the entire hybnd [inancial
instrument is designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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These financeal assets and financial labilities at far value are
generally valued based on discounted cash flow technigues,
which incorporste inputs with reasomble levels of price
transparency, and are generally classified as level 2 because
the inputs are observable. Valuation adjusiments may be
made for hquidity and for counterparty and G35 Group's
credit quality.

+ Loans and receivables; and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost. Loans and recevables are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market, They
include certain collateralised agreements, substantially all
debtors and cash at bank and in hand. Such financial assets
are imtially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and
subsaquently measured at amortised cost wsing the effective
interest method (see below) Finance revenue 15 recorded in
el FeVEnues.

Financial habilities measured at amortised cost mnclude
cenain collateralised financings and the majority of other
creditors, Such fnancial labihities are initially recognised at
fair value plus transsctions costs and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective mnterest method (see
below). Finance costs, including discounts allowed on 1ssue,
are regorded 1n net revenues with the exceplion of inlerest on
long-term subordinated loans, which i= recorded in interest
payable and similar charges,

The effective interest method 15 a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or a
group of francial assets of financial labilties) amd of
allocating the interest income or mierest expense over the
relevant period The effective interest mte is the rate that
exactly discounts estimatesd future cash pavments or receipls
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrving amount of the financial asset or financial liabality
When caleulating the effective interest rate, the company
estimates cash fows considening all contractual terms of the
financial asset or financial lability but does not consider
future credit lesses. The calculation includes all fees and
points paid or received that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other
premiums of discounls

The company assesses its loans and receivables st each
balance sheet date for any ohjective evidence of impairment
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been mncurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the firancial asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated fuiwre cash llows discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective mterest rate. The
amount of the loss is included within net revenues, if trading
related, or in administrative expenses if non-trading related.

l
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Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Fimancial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arangements. A
financial liability is any liability that i= a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or ancther financial asset to ancther entity; or i
exchange fnancial assets or financial liabilities with another
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable o the
entity. Am equity investment 1s any contract that evidences a
resiceal interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liabilies, Instruments are evaluated o determine il they
contain both hability and equity components. The mtal
carrving amount of a compound fimancial instrument is
allocated first 10 the lhability component, measured at far
value, and the equity 15 assigned the residual amount.

Offsefting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Fimancial assets and finencial labilnies are offset and the net
amount presented in the balance sheetl where there 1s:

« Currently a legally enforceable mght to set-off the recognised
amounts; and

= Intert to wettle on a net basis or 1o realise the asset and settle
the liability simaltanecsly .

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and
financial liabilities are presented on a gross basis on the
balance sheet.

Fair Value Measuremernt
See Note 24 for details about the fair value measurement of the
company’s financial assets and financial liahilities,

Hedge Accournting

The company applies hedge accounting for centain imerest rate
swaps used to manage the interest rale exposure of cerlain
fixed-rate unsecured long-term and short-term borrowings. To
qualify for hedge accounting, the dermvative hedge must be
highly effective at reducing the nsk from the exposure being
hedged. Additionally, the company must formally document
the hedging relationship at inceplion and test the hedging
relationship 10 ensure the denvative hedge continues to be
highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship.

Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Collateralised agreements  include resale
agreements and securities borrowed, Collateralised financings
include repurchase agreements and secunties loaned. See
“Classification and Measurement”™ abave for details on the
classification and measurement of these instruments. Collateral
received or posted can be in the form of cash or secunties.
Cash collateral is recognised. /derecognised when received pasd.
Collateral posted by the company in the form of securities is
ned derecognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral
received in the form of secunties is not recognised on the
balance sheet. I collateral received is subsequently sold, the
obligation to return the collateral and the cash received are
recognised on balance sheet.
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Current and Deferred Taxation. The tax expense for the
pertod comprises current and deferred taxation Tax s
recognised in the profit and loss account, except 1o the extent it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively emacted al the balance sheet date in the countries
where the company operates and generates taxable income,
Dieferred tax is recogrised in respect of all temporany
differences that have originated, but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more 1ax or a right
1o pay bess ta in the Duture with the following exceptions:

» Diefierred tax assets are recogrised only to the extent that the
directors consider that it i more likely than not that there
will be sumtable taxable profits from which the future reversal
of the underlying temporary differences can be deducted,

+ Deferred 1ax is measured on an undiscourted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the penods i which
temporary differences reverse, based on fax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Dieferred tax is recognised in the profit and loss account of
directly in other comprehensive income according to where the
associated gain or loss, to which the deferred tax is attnibutable,
15 recognised.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, Provisions are recognised in the firancial statements
when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to seftle a present {legal or constructive) obligation,
which has anisen a5 a result of past events, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
Legal obligations that may arise as a result of proposed new
laws are recognised as obligations only when the legislation is
virtually cerain to be enacted as drafied

A contingent ltability 15 a possible obligation that anses from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
CCCMTENGe of non-occirrence of one or more uneerain fulure
evenls not wholly within the control of the company or a
present obligation that anses from past events but s not
recognised because enher an outflow of economic benelits is
nat probable or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably
mesured,

A contingent asset 15 8 possible asset that arises from past
events and whose exastence will be confirmed only by the
ooeurrence of mon-ocowrrence of one or more uncertain future
events ned whally withan the ¢ontrol of the company.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets ame not recognised
in the financial statements. However, disclasure is made unleéss
the probability of settlement 1= remote.
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New Accounting Standards.

IFRS 8 ‘Financial Instruments’

In MNovember 2016, the EU endorsed IFRS % “Financial
Instruments’ (IFRS %), This standard provides requirements for
recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities
and some contracts (o buy or sell non-hinancial items, replacing
AR 39 ‘Fimancial  Instuments:  Recognition  and
Measurement”. This standard requires that changes i the fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to own credit spreads
(debt valuation adpstiment or DVA) are presented in other
comprehensive income, if it does nol create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch.

This standard 15 effective for the company in January 2018,
with early application being permitted either in s entirety or
only in relation 1o the presentation of DVA. The company has
early adopted only the requirements related 1o the presentation
of DVA effective from January 2016,
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HNote 3.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of francal stalemenls requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recogrised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimation means that actual owcomes could differ from those
estimates. The following judgements have had the most
significant effect on amcunts recognised in the fnancial
slatements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certan of the company’s Dnancial assets and  financial
liabalities include sigmilicant unobservable inputs (Le., level 3)
See Mote 24 for information about the carrying value, valuation
technigques and significant inpuis of these instruments,

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings

The company estimates and provides for potential losses that
may anse oul of litigatien and regulatory proceedings 1o the
extent that such losses are probable and can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgement is required m making these
estimates and the company’s final habalities may ultimately be
matenally different.

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan liabilities are
determined using actusrial valuations, This involves making
assumiptions about discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension ncreases. Due 1o the
complexity of the valuation, such estimates are subject to
significant uncertainty.
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Note 4.
Segment Reporting

The company reports its activities in the following four
business segments: Investment Banking; Institutional Client
Services, Investing & Lending, and Investment Management.
See “Results of Operations — Segment Reporting”™ in Part [ of
this annual report for a description of the company’s sepments.

Basis of Presentation

In reporting segments, certain of the company’s business lines
have been mpgregated where they have similar econcmic
characteristics and are similar in each of the following areas:
(1) the nature of the services they provide; (u) their methods of
distribution; {n) the types of clhients they serve; and (W) the
regulatory envirenments in which they operate.

The cost drovers of the company taken as a whole,
compensation, headeount and levels of business activity, are
broadly similar in each of the company’s business sepments.
Drirect costs of emplovment in the company”’s segments reflect,
among other [aclors, the overall performance of the company
as well ss the performance of ndividual businesses.
Consequently, operating profit margins in one segment of the
company's business may be significantly affected by the
performance of the company”s other business sepments.

The company allocates assets (including allocations of GCLA
and cash, secured client financing and other assets), revenues
and expenses among the four business segments. Due to the
integrated nature of these sepments, estimates and judgements
are made in allocating certain assets, revenues and expenses.
The allocation process 8 based on the manner in which
marmgement currently views the performance of the segments,
Transactions between segments are based on specific eritenia or
approximate third-party rates. Total administrative expenses
includes charitable contributions and mark-to-market of share-
based compensation that have not been allocated to individual
business segrments.

In addition to transactions entered mto with third parties, the
company also enters into transactions with affilates in the
normial cowrse of business as part of market-making activities
and general operations. Revenues are allocated 1o, and received

from, such affilmtes for these transactions.

Mansgement believes that the information in the tables below
provides a reasonable representation of each segment's
contribution to met revenwes, operating profit and total assets,
Operating profit has only been preserted for the company's
sigmficant segments, which are Investment Banking and
Institwtional Client Services.
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The segment nformation presented m “Segment  Net

Revenues” and "Segment Operating Profit”™ below 15 prepared

according 1o the following methodologies

« Revenue and expenses directly associated with each segment
are included in determaning operating profit.

Met revenues in the company’s segments include allocations
of interest ineome and interest expense to specific seeurities
and cdher positions in relation o the cash generated by, or
funding requirements of, such underlyving positions with the
exception of interest on bong-term subordinated loans, which
15 presented in interest pavable and similar charges (see Note
&) MNet imterest 15 included in segment net revenues as it is
consistent with the way in which management assesses
segment performance

« Orverhead  expenses not  directly  allocable to specific
segments are allocated ratably based on direct segment
CXPENSES,

Segment Net Revenues

The table below presents the net revenues of the company’s

sepments.

Yiond Endid D inibad
5 in reilicng 26 2 &
Investment Banking
Feraricial Advisory $ 583 5 RSO
Underweiting srs 668
Total Investment Banking §1.138 51.279
Instituticnal Cllent Services
Fuoad lneaimss, Cumancy tnd Commadiies
| ClentEageution ] ne L
Eabes _____ )
Total Institutional Client Servdces 580 S 002
Investing & Lending 5 500 5 380
Inyestmant Managemant 3 xR 3 4TH
Tobal red rovenues .50 ST.0M6

Substantially  all interest meome and  inferest  expense
recognised within net revenues is atinbutable 1o Institutional
Client Services.
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Segment Operating Profit
The table below presents the operating profit of the company’s
significant segments,

Year Ended December
§ it malliaas 018 2015
Investment Barking
Hut revemnaes 51,15 51,170
AdmirrHratve sxpentes 2 12
Cparating prodic 5 4 5 467
Insstitutional Cliend Servces
Hat revaret 4,559 4.902
Adminsrats s s aea
Gperating profit $2,007 2250
Total fet evenes 56,545 57,018
“Total administrative expenses 4388 4077
Total operating profn 52,700 52838
I the table above:

« Total net revenues includes net revenues of $822 million and
3835 million for 2016 and 2015, respectively, related 1o
Investing & Lending and Investment Management.

« Todal administrative expenses  includes  administrative
expenses of 3542 million and 5579 million for 2016 and
2015, respectively, related to Investing & Lending and
Investment Manapement sepments, and certain overhead
expenses that have nol been allocated 1o the company’s
segments of 3513 million and 342 million for 2016 and
2015, respectively, representing mark-to-market of share-
based compensation and chantable contnbutions.

Segment Assets
Substantially all of the company’s assets are attributable 1o

Institwtional Client Services.
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Geographical Analysis

Due to the highly integrated nature of international financial
markets, the company manages i3 businesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating Emnﬁtahlht_',' to geographic regions is dependent on
estimates and management judgement.

Geographic results are generally allocated as follows:

« Investment Banbing: location of the client, investment
banking team and underlyving risk.

+ Institutional Client Services: location of the market-making
desk and the primary market for the underlying security.

+ Investing & Lending: location of the investing and lending
Team.

« Investment  Management:  location  of the investment

maragement team.

The table below presents the total net revenues of the company
by geographic region allocated based on the methodology
referred to above.

Yaar Enced Dacamber
§ s ilions 016 5
Het revenues

Europe, Middls East and Africs .03 56 242
Americas o LoD
Asn ] BE 754
Total vl revenues 56,540 57.018

i
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MNote 5.
Administrative Expenses

The table below presents the company’s administrative

“Deprecition and amorisation
‘Orcupancy

Profenional e

Othes sapenied

Tetal non-compeniatian sxpentet

Total admin|sirative sopenses

In the table above:

« Oecupancy expenses include nel operating lease rentals for
land and buildings of 380 million and 381 million for 2016
and 20135, respectively.

« Professional fees include fees payable to the company’s
auditers for the auwdit of the company's annual financial
statements of 55 million for both 2016 and 2015, and fees
payable to the company’s auditor for other services of 51
million and 54 million for 2016 and 20135, respectively.

« Other expenses  include miscellanecus taxes, charitable
contributions, management fees charged by and to group
undertakings relating o operatwonal and  adnimstrative
suppost, and management services received from  and
provided to affiliates,
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Mote B,
Directors’ Emoluments

The table below presents the company’s  directors”
emoluments,

Year Ended Decemnber
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Mote 7.
Staff Costs

The table below presents the company's average monthly
number of staff (employees including directors, consultants
and temporary stalt),

§ in milfons 018 015 Awsrage for the
Agrwebewmilomeety W B Year Ended December
Company pensitn coamibutions to mensy Nembar T TR
purchase Sekeney - el Employess including directors
Total directors” emoluments 7 [ It Banking v 731
Inutiuticnal Clisnt Services 1,353 1,407
The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid Imvesting & Lending 159 16
director, Invesiment Management &M s
o T R
You Enched Docember I _ Brs @ &€R
£ in millons 2016 M & Conzultants and temporary staff Al a7
Aggregaty smsluments 53 B Tolal average number of stal [XE:) 6148
g Ty .
purchass schames - - The company has the use of the serviees of a number of

Azcrued annusl pention o end of year - -

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, directors’
emoluments  above represent the proportion of  todal
emcluments paid or pavable in respect of qualifving services
only. This total only mcludes the value of cash and benefits m
kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in
aceordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of 51 2008/410
Directors also recerve emoluments for non-qualifying services
which are not required to be disclosed

For persons who were directors for some or all of the vear,
three directors were members of a defined contribution scheme
and a defined benefit scheme, four directors, meluding the
highest pad director, have receved or are due 10 receve
Group Inc. shares in respect of long term incentive schemes
during the vear, and two directors, including the highest paid
director, have exercised options during the vear.

The aggregate emoluments of the eight non-sxeeutive directors
whe were members of the board of directors for all of pant of
the year ended December 2016 was approximately 31.1
million. Ceramn non-executive directors recewved or will
recenve additional enpoing fees in respect of advisary services
provided during the vear, the agpregate amount of which s
approcamately 31,3 million,

mdividuals who are emploved by afhhated entities and
seconded to the company. These scconded individuals are
included in the disclosure of headeount and related stafl costs.
Consultants and temporary stafl costs are included in total
direct costs of employment, below. Total headeount was 5,903
and 6458 as of December 2016 and December 2015,
respectively.

The table below presents employvment costs incumed by the
company, including those relating to direciors

Yaad Endad Disaambi

§ i mitecs e cois
Aggregate gross wages and salares 53,567 2454
Employer's Matonal ivsurance Contribetons Br.] 285

Pension costs, employer contributions 1o

Db eerteitntion plan and definnd eontribut
section of the hyteid pension plan L] 2

D brioted Bisnia i mﬂmﬂhh}hﬂpﬂnm ll'i.'i.“““"“‘.ﬂ.““““-““E-
Tailal direct costs of employment FX $2.834

In the table above, total direct costs of emplovment include a
charge of 3488 million for 2016 and a charge of 56 mllion for
2015, relating to  the mark-to-market of share-based
compensation.

Note 8.
Interest Payable and Similar Charges

Interest payable and similar charges compnses inierest on
long-term  subordineted loans from  paremt and  group
undertakings of $346 million and 3223 mllion for 2016 and
200 5, respectively. See Mote 18 for further details,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3.
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a pension plan with a hybnd structure,
having both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
contribution section. The Flan provides retirement benefits on
the basis of members’ hinal salary, with a normal retirement
age of 65 for most members. The Plan is funded, with the
assets of the scheme held separately from those of the
company, N separate trustee-adm mistersd funds.

The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contribution plan. As of
March 31, 2016, the Plan was ¢losed to future benefit accruals

fior existing participants.

The Plan operates under trust law and 15 mamaged and
admimstrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan
Trustee Limited (the Trustee) on behalf of the members in
accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Rules and
relevant legislation. The Plan's assets are held by the trust

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was carmied out by a
qualified independent actuary as of July 31, 2016 using the
projected unit funding method and updated to December 31,
2016, As of December 2016, the Plan liabilities comprise 97%
in respect of deferred members and 3% in respect of current
beneficiaries.

Risks of the Plan
The main risks of the Plan are:

« Funding Shertfall, Additional contnbutions will be
required if the investment retums are not sufficient o pay for
benefits. The level of equity returms will be a key determinant
of overall investment retum; the mvestment portfolio 15 also
subject to a range of other nisks typical of the asset classes
held, in particular interest rate risk and inflation nsk on
bomds.

Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Flan's investment
strategy, with a significant propertion of the assets invested
in equities and other return-secking assets 15 that the
difference between Plan assets and Plan labilities may be
volatile.

Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan liabilities and the
currenl service cosl are sensitive o the assumptions made
about future inflation and life expectancy. It 15 also sensitive
to the discount rate, which depends on market vields on
sterling-denomimated A corporate bonds,
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Financial Assumptiens

The table below presents the significant financial assumptions
used to determine the present value of the defined benefit
obligation

% pav anoum il 2018
Dissgurt rate 2.59% I8
Rabe of increate in salaies a.00 4.00
T T T e T
Rabe of pricn ndation — CF| 745 240
Rabe of i in pensions in p nits

{post-Hovember 30, 1856 accnual) 125 a0
— e G

(post-Nevember 30, 19945 sccnual) 243 240
Fmbs of | in paniions in delfament N

(postApril 5, 2009 sccrual) 243 240
Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the mortality assumptions used to
determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation
The mortality assumptions adopted were the “31 series all
pensioner  light™ base table with allowance for future
improvenments from 2002 onwards in line with the CWI 2012
core projections with a lomg-lerm mate of improvement of 1%
[T LA

Year Endad December
Yivirs piill 2015
Life sxpectancy ot 55 for o mesmber currentty &5
..... e Nt
53
Ml 54 53
Females 4.9 268

Defined Benefit Cost

The table below presents the defined benefit cost related to the
Plan recognised in the company’s profit and less account and
in other comprehensive income.

Yiar Endad December

5 i s s 2015
Froft and |0%s account
Curant tarsicn sol £ 9 547
Curtalment gain - [}
bt fnance mowme —
Total charged (o B profil and 1683 seeoumt - 18
Ciher comprhendive income
Raturn on Man aseets graaber $an decownt rate ®11) [l
Achrarinl loss = Bnsncial assumptons 3L T
Total koss recognised bn olher

comprelnsing income hE 3
Tatal defined benel ol L] £18
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconcilistion of Plan assets, Plan

liabalities and the net pension surplus,

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Sensitivity Analysis

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan
liabilines for each significamt actuarial assumption. The
sensitivities are based on a change in each assumption while

Plan Flam  Net Pension . .
. P Usbitos gk helding all other assum plions constant.
mﬁ:m - o §341 Tl'here are . inherent  limitations in _1h:'s amalysis, as such
e 2 W i idiosyncratic movements are unlikely to occur The
Curtaiment gain - - - methodology used to caleulate the sensitivities are consistent
Mt frnce income o % L) across the two penods presented i the able below.
Retum on Flan sssets greater
an Spccunt rete m = &1 Iinpact to Plan Linbiey
Mctuarial gain - Esbiity in i [ in it
oxperionce - = 1s 5 in mallions % 5 ins g %
Actusrisiion = nanciel A5 of Decomber 16
. ... B—. 0.25% change in
Emgioyer contributions 8 s et e ST (R4 5193 L
Barwadits puid - 0.25% change in price ' )
Foreign exchange gainiioss) {354y k) [N inflaticn 137 6.5 (4% 7.1
As of December 31 52,189 HZI0E 5 1 year change in lie
sapactancy 1 4.0 1) (.8}
Yaar Encied Disseenbar 2015
Az of January 1 BT migem ST &g of Dmcermbar 2015
Curment sendcs cost - 147 (47) 0.25% change in
Curtailment gain . 4 e e cumnl rabe FHIZH) (7.8 F 142 a0
e = o = Tt
Retur o Plan sasts greater infation 12 71 {105) (8.7}
_ Sendwotmte - # Ayarchangeinie
Aduarial gain — kabdigy sopaciancy 4 34 =2 (3.3
AN - 13 13
T Nature of Future Gash Flows

Forsign sschange gaindioss)

s of Decomber 31

Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Plan Trustees have a long-term asset allocatson strategy io
invest 5% of assets in retumn seeking investments (such as
equities) and 35% in habality matching assets (such as Galts)
The Plan has a hedging programme ivesting in swaps and
other derivatives in order to reduce the exposure to changes in
interest rates and inflation. The table below presents the fair
value of Plan asséts,

Cash -1I:.|':I.:rld'l squivalents
Othae
Total

it

Simce the Plan's closure 1o futare accrual from March 31, 2016,
the company has ceased 1o make regular contnbutions into the
Flan but will cominue to assess the funding requirements of the
Plan with the Trustees on a permodic basis,

On a nenmial basis, a formal funding valeation of the Plan 15
performed for the Trstess 1o assess the funding needs of the
Plan This valuation differs from the actuanal valuation
required for accounting purpeses due to the use of different
ST LIS,

The most recent funding valuation was performed by a
qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2015, which
indicated that the Plan was in a funding deficit of £66.3 million
(582 million). As of December 31, 2016, the company has
agreed with the Trustees to contribute £73.3 mullion (590
millian) to the Plan, in two instalments by contributing £40.0
million (349 million) in January 2017 and £33.3 million (341
million) in January 2018, Had these contnbutions been made
priar o December 31, 2016, the net pension surplus recogrised
on the company s balance sheet would have been 5143 million

The company expects 36 million of benelits 1o be paid out of
the Plan to members in 2017

The weighted average duration of Plan habalities was 36 vears
a5 of December 2016,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 10,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2013)
(2015 SIP), which provides for, amongst others, gramts of
RSUs and incentive stock options.

GEI recorded share-based compensation in respect of the
amortisation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
3497 million and 3630 million for 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The commesponding credit 1o equity has been transferred 1o
hahilities a= a result of the terms of the charpeback agreement
with Group Inc. under which the company is committed to pay
e Group Ine, the grant-date fair value as well as subsequent
moevenments in e value of those awards 1o Group Inc. at the
time of delivery to its employees.

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. grants BSUs to G30's emplovees under the 2013
3IP, which are valued based on the closing price of the
underlying shares on the date of grant after taking into account
a lgqudity discount for any applicable post-vesting and
delivery transfer restrictions. RSUs generally vest and
underlving shares of comman stock deliver as outhined in the
applicable RSU agreements. Employee RSU  agreements
generally  provide that vesting i3 accelerated in cerlain
cireumstances, such as on retrement, death, disability and
conflicted employment. Debvery of the underlving shares of
common stock is conditioned on the grantees satisfying certain
vesting and other requirements ouwtlined in the award
agresments.

iy
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Stock Options

Stock options granted to employees generally vest as outlined
in the applicable stock option agreement In general, options
expire on the tenth anmversary of the grant date, although they
may be subject to earlier termimation or cancellation under
ceriain circumslances in accordance with the terms of the
applicable stock option agreement and The Goldman Sachs
Amended and Restated Stock Incemtive Plan in effect at the
time of grant,

The table below presents options outstanding. All cutstanding
options as of December 2016 were granted in 2007 and 2008

Weighted \Weighted

Avarage Fomrage

Options Exercize Remaining Life

Esxgecize Price Crtstanding Price {ymars)

For those options exercised during the wvear, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise was S194.04 and
S196.28 for 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Hote 11, Mate 12.
Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities Fixed Assets
The table below presents the company’s amalysis of tax on The table below presents the company”s [ixed assets.
ofit on ordinary activities.
P At of Dacamibae
Yoar Ended Decemt § i mallanz ] 2015

5 in milions Fol] s Toagitls Exademale __FM
Currend tax Intangibie kod assets Ak =
ik . s o T e o
e T T B R = Sl st aaaeis T =
“""'P"-‘m!_ e
Total curment tax 530 487 Tangible Fixed Assets

The table below presents the movements i tangble fived
Dieferred tax assets dusing the vear,
Ongination and ol of ismponsry diffe 46} 54
Efie<t of drcransedi &) UK. corp R

e re 2 05 Leasehold  fisings and

Adustmants in respact of price paricds - [RE] 5 i mlong Improvements AT Tiokal
Total deferred tax 3] 4 Cost
Total tax on profit on ordinary activities SET § 353 A of Jarusany 1 [v. £91 £

Addice 7 - w
In September 2016, a budget was enacted that will reduce the Dispornals - n i
UK. corporate iax rate by | percentage point effective Apnl 1, Az of Decembaer 31 52 i@ 3

20200 The company remeaswed its deferred tax asset
accordingly but this change did not have a matenial impact on
the company’s effective 1ax rate for the year ended December
20l6.

The table below presents a reconciliation between tax on profit
on ordinary activities and the amount caleulated by applying
the weighted average rate of UK. corporation tax applicable to
the company for the vear of 28.0% (201 5: 20025%) 1o the profit
en ordinary activities before tax.

Yo Ended Docambar

5 in rvilicns 216 20 5
Proft on ordinary sdivities befone taafion F1.843 EFL ]
Proft on ordinary sctivities muBiped by

LLE. corporate tax rate of 2000 (2015 20.25%) 544 530
Tagwhrglnmiremetd

delered tax pysels L] (L]
o B 2>
.i;ﬁ.’....‘.z rer o -

undertaiings for nil considermtion [Fi] {289

= &

Exchangs dfwencesandcther 03 &
Asfjustanty in reupact of pricd parnicdy (8 5
Efigct of chiet 2 ) LK, corporal

i raled 3 155
Total tax on profit on ordinary acovities 5 487 § 353

0

Accumulated depreciation

Intangible Fixed Assets
The table below presents the movements in intangible fixed
assels during the year.

Asmets in e

Compoier course of
& i millions sotwane sy chon Total
Cost
s of Jarasary 1 5= 5= 5 =
" Taamnn 5 .
Ag of Dacambar 31 M £ 108
Accumulated amortisation
A of Jarsary 1 - - -
Charge for the year (see Nobe 5] 3 - k]
Az of December 31 3 - 3
Het book valus
Ag af December 2018 E4 SR 105
3 of Ducammbar 2015 %= %= % -

From January 2016, the company has capitalised intermally
developed compater software. Prior to 2016, such costs were
capitalised in ancther group undertaking, with the associated
amortisation being recharged to the company.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Fixed Asset Investments
The table below presents the movements in fixed asset
investments during the vear,
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Maote 13.

Financial Instruments Owned and Financial
Instruments Sold, But Not Yet Purchased

Cthr
SRERE A Eredamant, Fimancial mstruments owned and Onancial instruments sold,
) by othar than but not yet purchased compnse financial instruments and
f::lm sndatalings loany Towl investments within the operatimg activities of the company.
At of Janusry 1 . 5 5 Fmancial instruments owned includes financial instruments
s of Decemoe 31 - 1 1 owned pledged as collateral. See MNote 24 for further
""""" infarmation
Accummulaled degreciation
As of January 1 - = - The table below presents the company’s financial instruments
faofDecemoerds 000 = il - owned,
Hi Book walde As. of Dacamber
A5 of December 2016 5= # 1 % iy mllions 2018 2018
Az of Decembe 1015 5- §1 [l Cash Irsfruments
Money market instuments £ 21 5 454
The table below presents the subsidiaries over which the Gevsenmant and &gency obigations 18459 16654
company exercised control as of December 201 6: Morgape and oihe azsel-backed loans
and securitios 74 1,084
. = e
and e clictigebons L L 12000
propertion  Class of _Equiies and convedible detantaes w3 .38
Hame of Counfryof  ofvoing  shares Mumber  Masture of Comimiiling 0 L
party [ I d rights held held  business Total cash instrumsnis 1,46 688,937
Goldman Sachs
{Cayman) Cayman Oudinary Finarcial Derivative Insruments
Limited Islards 100%  shares 250 senvices raresiratey 0000000
lpopema BD Credt
Furshssz Curencies
IrdstyC Y Freastment Commodities L] 12,626
Zambnisty Peland 100% ' ' e Equiies 58,850 52.880
Total derivabive irestrumends &0, 500 8117

" This subaidisry undetaking is contralled other mes Swough voling sights
atsched to shares.

The company has interests in a number of special purpose
entities and capital guaranteed funds which do not meet the
defmition of a legal subsidiary, baa give nise o the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were
legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special purpose
entities and the capital guarantesd funds consast of the issuance
of loan notes under the terms of a repackaging programme.
These special purposes entities and capital guaranteed funds
are consolidated in the financial statements of Group Inc

Total financial instraments ownsed 5516 084

The table below presents the company®s financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased

An of December
5 i rralong 2018 FE]
Cash Irstruments
_Gavaenmant and agency cblgalions % 10,099 5 7433

J:mmm.lnddl:l securies and
11“ —_—
L Ll .

Deerivative Instruments

Total derivative irsiruments SE8. 075
Total financia instrum-ents sold, but nof yet
purchased 12,011 $555,654

193/337

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 14,
Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents the company's  collaterahised
agreements.
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Mote 16.
Deferred Tax

The table below presents the components of the company's
defermred tax asset.

Az of December As of Decamber
5 in milfons 8 2015 § in millonz 2016
Resale agzeomants s120,005 511037 _Depreciation in excess of capkal alowances 3= 53
Secvnwsboramed mes  Gais  Posrewemeniteneds s
Total collateraised agreements S1E4,600 3163703 _Delerred compersation . L
Diwbt valustion adjustrment 48 -
In the table above: Totel cheSrmied ba o 5oea

+ Total collateralised agreements includes amounts due from
group undertakings of 3121.45 Wllion and $91.84 Wallion as
of December 2016 and December 201 5, respectively

« Total collateralsed apreements includes balances due in
maore than one vear of $433 million and 5187 billion as of

In the table above, deferred compensation is mainly in respect
of share-based compensation.

The table below presents changes in each component of the
company”'s deferred tax asset.

Drecember 2016 and December 2015, respectively. A3 of Dicamie
5 i ralliang 2016 2015
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
As of January 1 5 3 5 3
Note 15. Trm:hmﬂunﬂtmdiﬁsutmt m =
Debtors Asof December 31 5 - 5 3
Post-retirement benefits
The table below presents the company’s debtors balances. All PR £ (88}
debtors are due within one vear of the balance sheet date, “Transier bz the prodt and loss scecunt g
unless noted below. Tranihis b athie comprahinta incems AT 1
FeolDecembar st —s(m_ see
An of Decembar
5 i eilons S L] l:lﬂuwdmnpmnl:lm
A due from brok er'dealers and ] $57, 290 $53.047 Ag ol Janzery 1 M 5502
=3 Transier bo the profit and loss sccount _-'ﬂ 1£
As of December 31 5572 634
Dbt waluation adjusteiEnt
As of Janwary 1 5 - 5 -
“Transher o other comprehansie income o s -
Inthe table above: ReolDwemberst X
« Amounts due from broker/dealers and customers includes Tailal
balances due in more than one vear relating 1o secured Az of January 1 o0 M
lending and'or prepaid commedity contracts of 5276 million T"':“::':::: :‘]‘“'""""“‘" moecerd “ e
illi . = M5 -
ﬂndSBﬁ?mlllmasct'm'.mbcr 2016 and December 2015, e - [— = =
respectively. A% of December 31 S04 5568

» Toaal debtors include financial assets of S68.96 billion and
35987 hallion as of December 2016 ard December 2015,
respectively, and non-Onancal assets of 5736 milhon and
3614 million as of December 2016 and December 2015,
respectively,
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Hote 17, Mate 18,
Collateralised Financings Other Creditors
The table below presents the company's  collaterahised The table below presents the company’s other creditors.
financings.
A of Decmiba

As of Decermber 5 it el FLuld A5
3§ in milions 016 W15 Amounts falling duee within one year
Amounts falling dus within one year [Banklame L N
Repurchase agresments 5 B SI % maETa Creprdraty T e
e R bk e
Total 137,541 SB35

Amounts dus bo parent and group
Amounts falling due after more Ethin one year urchestakings = unsecured bonowings 18,822 7,188
Repunchase agresments 5 5,74 5 3502 Amounts dus ba perent and group
S unition aared E = dertukings — other craditon 287 1038
Total 5 6,233 § 3502 Agenanl b g 5"-”__ gk I
Total colateralsed Nanc s SW3,ETA SUBET P ——— P o
Corporation tax payable 200 i3

In the table above, total collateralised financings includes ' W =13
armownts due 1o group undenakings of $97.91 hillion and Dithee creeciters and aceruals Lo 1430
58267 billion as of December 2016 and December 2015, Toind $iner 18300

respectively, of which 39758 billion and $82.55 billion as of
December 2016 and December 2015, respectively, are due
within one year.

73

Amounts falling duse after more thian one year
Eank kaant 5 -

Longiem subardinated foans TR
15
L, & 16,892

""“W“Nﬁ"hﬂnlﬂmvmp S ——

urchestakings - other d creditoms 2T 244
.kgmﬂh 7 ...' papbe

1o pasent and greup wnderakings 7458 -
Other creditors 5 =
= ¥ 38,073 § 32.208
Ttal eeher cowilton STAB00F 3148088
In the table above:

» The accrual for management charges payvable 1o parent and
groap  umdertakings 15 in respect  of  share-based
compensation.

« Total amounts falling due within one year includes Dinancial
liabilities of 5110050 hillion and 511594 hillikon as of
December 2016 and December 2015, respectively, and non-
financial liabalities of 5434 million and 33064 million as of
December 2016 and December 2015, respectively.

= All amcunts falling due after more than one year are financial
liahilities as of December 20016 and December 2015
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Debt Securities Issued
The table below presents the company s debt securities issued,

Az of Decembaer
% in milions e 25
Amounts lalling duse within one year
Unserured debt secunties wih sfflistes £ 2,080 51,778

Unipzired debl securities with esternal

Sacured debt vecurities with saternal

SO Partien 1,515 1857
Total L) BELR
Amounts Falling due after nvore thar one year
Uniscurad dabt securitivs wih alflistes 5 838 5 &n
Unsecured debt ssounties with esternal

eourtaparteg B, 537
Fecured debt socurties with afilates T 1,148
e

courfsparties 1,000 O
Total $11,157 5 7,896
Tolal ebt securities ssued $23,078 521,748

In the table above, secured debl securities are secured by
securities which have been pledged as collateral. Thas pledged
collateral 15 either recoprised within “Financial instruments
owned” or sourced through collateralised agreements.

The table below presents the maturity of the company’s long-
term debt secunities issued.

A of Dacimbar
5 i milong 18 2015
Ol & yE BN D 00 hand yErE § 1,630 52,554
Ot e vty and up ba Bl pears 1,295 2,074
O vl yian 6,233 3,258
Total 11,157 47 808

Amounts due in more than five vears predominantly relate to
structured debt securities with mansities falling due between
2022 and 2056, Payments on these secunties are typically

referenced to  underlving [nancial  assets,  which  are
predominately interest rate and equities-related.

Long-Term Subordinated Loans

Long-term subordinated  loans  comprise  long-lerm

subordinated loans from parent and growp undertakings, which
are unsecured and carry inferest at a margin over the U5,
Federal Reserve's federal funds rate. The margin is reset on a
pertoclic basis o reflect changes in G3 Group’s weighted
average cost of debt. Long-term subordinated loans constitute
regulatory capital as approved by the FRA and are repayable
subject 0 PRA approval. Long-term subordinated loans of
58.70 hillion are repayable between December 14, 2021 and
April 28, 2025, Any repayment prior to these maturity dates
regquires PRA approval, Long-term subordinaed loans of 5255
million are repayable upon giving or receiving at least 3 years'
notice to or from the group undertaking and is subject to FRA
approval

EDINETOOOO
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Debt Valuation Adjustment

The fair value of debt securities 1ssued that are designated at
fair value through profit or loss are calculated by discounting
future cash flows at & rate which incorporates G35 Group's
credit spreads.  The net DVA on such financial liabalities 15 &
pre<tax loss of 3182 million for 20016 and has been included in
“Debt valuation adjuwstment”™ in other comprehensive income.

Intercompany Borrowings

Amounts due to parent and proup undenalangs falling due
after more than one year include loans that are repayable in
maore than five years, As of December 2016, the company had
a variable rate loan of 3211 millien with a maturity of June 13,
2026 and as of December 2013, the company had a vanable
rate loan of 5284 million with a maturity of October 22, 2063,

Mate 15
Share Capital

The table below presents the company”s share capital.

Ordinary shares
Allsited, called up and fully paid of §1 ench £ i milans
A of January 1, 2018 SE1, 064, 161 f=1 ]
As of December 31, 2018 1,064,181 s

Mote 20
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The table below presents the company’s cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows,

Az of Decemiber
£ in malliong 2018 2018
Luwshutbankandinbend swEmE .97
Orvardra®s (pee Mote 18) 17 L]
Taotal cash and cash equivalnts S16,881 50,570
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 21,
Reconciliation of Cash Flows From
Operating Activities

The table below presents the company’s reconcilition of cash
flows from operating activities.
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MNote 22.
Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents the company’s commitments and
contingencies

Yur Enced December As of December

5 in milicas 18 Fl] § in millons 2018 20186
Proft on ordnary scthvities before taxation § 1,843 5 285 Contingent and forward stading rsale
Adusments for ard ppcuritins barrowing agresments 43,500 520,278
Degrecintion and arsrsiation Ferward stading ripurchate and 4

[soe Motes & and 12) 7 4 landing agresments 11,808 11,483
Charge ke defned benels pian {sea Note 8 - 18 Ot 1,093 4187
Forslgn eschangs losses v 433 Total FE T Sid 008G
Shars-bEssd COMDATIARON MEpars a0 w2
Provisiarn for Eabilities - 1 The company enters into resale and secunties borrowing
knserst paynble and sivilar charges (see Hobe ) e 5 agreements and repurchase and secured lending agreemenis
Gosh g d bafore changes in cpemting s - that settle at a future date, generally within three business days.

- I .
Changes in operafing assets

Discr ) i ind inst

b oramed

i, But rod 94 puichased 58,257 {86, T5)
- . s e d fnancings B8 121,784
Dicr bt 1 previsions e ablitiel = 07
Changes i it Bt 1,445 (124,677}
Contibuticns gaid to defned banad flan

{sue Hoke 8] i @37
Carsh gorerated from cparations 3 B7a% 5 L@

Cash generated from operations includes interest pard of 32.05
Billion and 52,16 billion for 2016 and 2015, respectively, and
interest received of $1.83 billion and $2.22 billion for 2016 and
2015, respectively.
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The company also enters nle commitments to provide
contimgent financing 1o s clienls and counterparties through
resale apreements. The company's funding of these
commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual
conditions to the resale agreement and these commiiments can
expire unused.

Other commitments primarily relate to collateral commitments
and commitments 1o extend credit.

In addition, there are regisiered charges on the company’s
assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business.

Leases

The company leases certain buildings under long-term lease
agreements. Under these lease apreements, which are subject 1o
rencgotiation at various intervals specified in the leases, the
company pays all insurance, maintenance and repairs of these
properties. The table below presents tofal future minmum
rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases for
each of the fellowing pericds.

Betwaaconeandbveyes m Ealil
Orver Bve yoars - 18
Taital 11 58

Total future minimum sublease payments expected to be
received under nen-cancellable subleases as of December 2016
and December 2015 were %46 million and $70 million,
respectively.
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Legal Proceadings

The company 15 iwolved in a number of judicial, regulatory
and arbitration proceedings (including those described below)
cOnCeming matters arising in connection with the conduct of
the company’s business, however it 15 not practicable to
reliably estimate an impact, if any, of these proceedings.

Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. GSI is among
the defendants named in putative antitrust class actions relating
te the trading of mnterest rate swaps, filed beginning in
Movember 2015 and consolidated m the U5, District Court for
the Southern Dhstrict of Mew York, The second consolidated
amended complaint Oled on December 9, 2016 penerally
alleges a conspiracy ameng the defendants since at least
Januwary 1, 2007 to preclede exchange trading of interest rate
swaps. The complaimt seeks declaratory and imunctive relief as
well as treble damages in an unspecified amount. Defendants
moved to dismiss on January 20, 2017,

(G31 15 among the defendants named in antitrust actions relating
to the trading of interest rate swaps filed in the 1.5 District
Court for the Scathern Dustniet of New York beginning in April
2016 by two operators of swap execution fcilities and certam
of their affiliates. These actions have been consolidated with
the class action deseribed above for pretrial proceedings. The
second consehdated amended complaint Gled on December 9,
2016 generally asserts claims under federal and state antitrust
laws and state common law in commection with an alleged
conspiracy among the defendants o preclude trading of interest
rate swaps on the plantffs® respective swap execulion
facilities and secks declaratory and injurctive relief as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount. Defendanits moved to
dismiss on January 20, 2017,

Commeodities-Related Litigation. G351 15 among  the
defendants named in putative class actions relating to trading
in platinum and palladium, filed beginning on Movember 25,
2014 and most recently amended an July 27, 2015, in the U5
District Court for the Scuthem Dhstrict of New York The
complaints generally allege that the defendants viclated Federal
antitrust laws and the Commodity Exchange Act in connection
with an alleged conspiracy 1o manipalate a benchmark for
physical platinum and palladium prices and seck declaratory
and injunctive relief as well as treble damages in an
unspecified amourt, On September 21, 2015, the defendants
moved 1o dismiss.
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and certain of its affiliates, including
(G51, are subject to a number of other investigations and
reviews by, and in some cases have received subpoenas and
requests  for documents and  information  from,  various
governmental and  regulstory  bodies and  self-regulmory
orgam=ations and lihgation relating to vanous matters relatmg
to the (G5 Group’s businesses and operations, including:

« The 2008 financial crisis;

« The public offering process.

« Investment management and financial advisory services,

« Conflicts of interest;

« Tramnsactions ivolving government-related financings and
other matters, ncluding those related 10 1Malaysia

Development Berhad (IMDE), a sovereign wealth fund in
Malavsia,

The offering, auction, sales, trading and clearance of
corporate  and  government  securifies,  currencies,
commodities and other financial products and relaed sales
and other communications and activities, including
compliance with short sale rules, algorithmic, hagh-frequency
and quantitative trading, futures trading. options trading,
when-issued trading, transaction reporting, technology
systems and conirols, securities lending practices, irading and
clearance of credit derivative instruments and interest rate
swaps, commodities activities and metals storage, privale
placement practices, allocabions of and trading n secunfies,
and trading activities and communications in connection with
the establishment of benchmark rates, such as currency rates,

Coempliance with the UK, Bribery Act and the 115, Foregn
Corrupt Practices Act;

-

Hiring and compensation practices;

Systemn of risk management and controls; and

-

Insider trading, the potential miswse and dissemination of
material non-public nformation regarding corporate and
governmental developments and the effectiveness of insider
trading controls and information barriers,

In addiion, mvestigations, reviews and hiigation mvalving the
company's affiliastes and such affiliates” businesses and
operations, including vanous matters referred to above but alse
other matters, may have an impact on the company's
businesses and operations.
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Hote 23,

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclosures in relation to the company’s [inancial risk
management and capital management have been presented
alongside other risk mamagement and regulatory information in
Part | of this annual report and are dentified as audited, wheere
relevant.

Hote 24,
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the carrving value of the company’s
financial assets and financial liabilities by category.

In the table above, certain of the company's Intercompany
unsecured borrowings that have been desigrated at fair value
were previously disclosed as measured at amortised cost. As of
December 2015, 557 million of other creditors falling due
within one vear and $12.4% billion of other creditors falling
due alter more than one vear have been moved from amortised
cosl 10 designated a1 fair value to more approprately present
these balances. These financial instruments have been
presented i bevel 2 in the fair value hierarchy. See “Fair Value
of Financial Assets and Financial Labilities by Level™ below,

Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value of 2 fnancial instrument is the amount that
would be recenved to sell an asset or pard 1o transfer a Labaliny
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measwrement date. Financial assets are marked 10 bid prices
and financial labilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value
measurements do not include transaction costs, The company

T mﬁ::::m:mm measwres certain financial assets and financial liabilities a3 a
3 i ilans trmding e vilus ol Tokd p:'tiluliu (1.e., based on its net exposure to market and'or credit
TI5ESE).
[Feancial mstraments coned $R62043 8 - % = bie
Collatersized agrenmants = 1arn HEBE 184,600 UK. GAAP has a three-level fair value hierarchy for
:"‘“‘1 - ""t_! ::ﬁ ..... ::';f disclosure of fair value measurements. The fair value hicrarchy
esh a bank m:mmu ; i - - priontises mputs to the valuation technigues used o measure
fair value, giving the highest pricsity to level 1 inputs and the
&3 of Detembe 2015 lowest priority to level 3 inputs. A financial asset or financial
m::’“"“““‘“;d“ww ..... i uzm; ..... :m??;_s‘?:::; liability’s level in the fair value hierarchy s based on the
Mm" = - 1,388 T T lowest level of input that is sigrificant to its fair valuee
in h - - BATY BT méasurement.
Total francial amets SEIG06A 5134301 § 60,260 $549 505
Financist Liabiktios The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
P H:;: :l:f‘:ln:: Amo :w_“d ol Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
“his of December 2018 to which the company had sccess at the measurement date for
Asnounts faling dus within one year wentical, unrestnicted assets or labiliies.
Firancial instruments sold,
bunotystpuschaned  TH2ON 8 - 3 - #eaan Level 2. Inpuls 1o valuation techniques are ohservable, either
Catatarassed Smncngs S eaarwia o wren  eve S IPRS T q
Othar cradion = 13542 P6.055 110407 Irectly or mncirectly.
Total BI3811 108,988 195,168 L0480 ) . )
— Level 3. One of more inputs to valeation technigues are
Asnounts falling dus afler mone thin cne yrar significant and uncbservable.
(Colatersized fnancings - L ...}
Other crediors - 19487 ::m :ﬁ: The fair values for substantially all of the company™s financial
Tord - FEXTT I T . -
T T T T ) i:us and financial ]:abu]mesaLITi are fair 'n?llmsl onta rﬁm@
15 arc tﬂbﬂd an ub@.:rr C prices A InpLts Are
Ad of Despmier 2015 classified m levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hicrarchy. Certain
Asmainds Flling due wilhin afse year level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities may
m:l::t . ncka, sEEreEs - % P require appropriate valuation adjustments that a market
“Calteralised Msancings - 12813 43472 116,305 participant would require to amive at fair valee for factors such
Other eradhinrs = 14,781 101,655 115038 as counterparty and G3S Group's credit quality, funding risk,
Tas 556,064 BTASS 145137 TeT.05 transfer restrictions, ligquidity and bid'offer spreads. Valuation
Arnounts TG cue Ler fone AN o year adjustments are generally based on market evidence.
[= BrBnCngs - 3502 - 3_._@9_1:
Other credions - 15,528 12.370 12288
Total - 430 12370 35800
Total inancial labltins  SEGLEGE  G110834  §157467  SEA776
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Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Cash Instruments. Cash mstruments include government
and agency obligations, corporate loans and debd securities and
other debt obligations, equities and convertible debentures, and
other non-derivative financial instrumenis owned and financial
instruments sold, but not vel purchased. Valuation technigues
and sigmficant inputs for each level of the fur value hierarchy
include:

Level 1 Cash Instruments

Level 1 cash mstruments are valued using quoted prices for
identical unrestricted instruments in active markets. The
company delines active markets for equity instruments based
on the average daily rading volume both in absalute terms and
relative to the market capitalisation for the instrument. The
company defines active markets for debd instruments based on
both the average daily trading volume and the number of days
with trading activity.

Lavel 2 Cash Instruments

Level 2 cash instruments can be verified to quoted prices,
recent trading activity for identecal or simailar instruments,
broker or dealer quatations or allermalive pacing sowrces with
reasomable levels of price transparency. Consideration 1s given
to the nature of the quotations (e.g., mdicative or firm) and the
relationship of recent markel actvity 1o the pnces provided
from alternative pricing sources.

Valeation adjustments are typcally made to level 2 cash
instruments {1} if the cash mstrument 1= subject to transfer
restrictions and'or (1) for other premiums and liquidity
discounts that a market participant would require (o armive at
fair value. Valuation adjustments are generally based on
market evidence.

Level 3 Cash Instruments

Level 3 cash mnstruments have one or more significant
valuation inputs that are not observable. Absent evidence to the
comtrary, level 3 cash mstruments are mitally valued at
trarsaction price, which 15 conssdered to be the best initial
estimate of fair value, Subsequently, the company uses other
methodelogies o determine fair value, which vary based on the
type of mstrument. Valuation inputs and assumptions are
changed when comoborated by substantive  chservable
evidence, including values realised on sales of financial assets,

Vabuation techniques of level 3 cash instruments vary by
instrumient, but are generally based on discounted cash flow
techmiques. The valwtion techmigques and the nature of
significant inputs used to determine the fair values of each type
of level 3 cash instrument are described below,

EDINETOOOO
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« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securities. Sigruficant inputs are generally  determined
based on relative value analyses and include:

» Market vields implied by transactions of similar or related
- Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumptions if a default ocours; and

« Timing of expected future cash flows (duration) which, in
cerlain  cases, may incorporate the impact of other
unchservable inputs (e.2., prepayment speeds).

Equities and Convertible Debentures. Egquities amd
convertible debentures include private equity investments.
Recent thard-party completed or pending transactions (e.g.,
merger proposals, tender offers. debd restructurings) are
considered to be the best evidence for any change in fair
value. When these are not available, the following valuation
methodologies are used, as appropriate:

-

« Industry multiples and public comparables;
+ Transactions in simalar instruments; and
« Discounted cash flow technigues

« Corporate Obligations and Other Cash Instruments.
Corporate obligations and other cash instruments consists of
corporate Joans and deb securities and cther delit obligations
and government and agency obbgations. Sigmificant mputs
are generally determined based on relatve value analyses,
which neorporate compansons both 1o poces of credit
default swaps that reference the same or similar underlying
instrument or entity and to other debt instruments for the
safne issuer for which observable prices of broker quotations
are available. Sigruficant mputs include:

« Market vields implied by transactions of similar or related
assels,

« Current levels and changes in market indices such as the
iTrasee, CDX and LCDX  (indices that track the
performance of corporate credit and loans, respectively);

« Current perfeemance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumplions if a default occurs, and

« Maturity and coupen profile of the instrument.
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Derivative Instruments. Denvatives may be traded on an
exchange (exchange-traded) or they may be privately
negotiated contracts, which are usually referred to as OTC
derivatives. Certain of the company’s OTC derivatives arne
cleared and settled through central clearing counterpariies
(OTC-cleared). while others are bilateral comtracts between
two counterparties (bilateral OTC).

The company”’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
denvative pricaing models (e g, discounted cash flow models,
comrelation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methodologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations). Price
tramsparency of derivatives can penerally be characterised by
product tvpe, as descnbed below.

« Interest Rate. In peneral, the key inputs used to value
interest rate dernvatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts, Interest rate swaps and options denominated
in the currencies of leading industnialised nations ane
characterised by high trading volumes and bght bidfoffer
spreads. Interest rate derivatives that reference indices, such
as an inflation index, or the shape of the vield curve (e.g.. 10-
year swap rate vs, Z-vear swap rate) are more complex, but
the key inputs are generally observable.

Credit. Price transparency for credit defaull swaps.
including both single names and baskets of credits, varies by
market and underlying reference entity or obligation. Credit
default swaps that reference indices, larpe corporates amd
major  sovereigns  generally  exhibit the most  price
transparency. For credit default swaps with other underliers,
price transparency varies based on credit rating, the cost of
bomowing the underlying reference ohligations, and the
availability of the underlying reference obligations for
delivery upon the default of the issuer. Credit default swaps
that reference loans, asset-backed secunities and emerging
market debt mstruments tend to have less price transparency
than those that reference corporate bonds, In addition, more
complex credit denvatives, such as those sensitive 1o the
correlation  between two or more underlying reference
obligations, generally have less price transparency.

Currency. Prices for cuency dervatives based on the
exchange rates of leading industrialised nations, including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent. The
primary  difference between the price transparency of
developed and emerging market curmency derivatives is that
emerging markets tend 1o be observable for contracts with
shorler lenars.

T
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« Equity. Price transparency for equity denvatives vanes by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the comman
stock of corporates included m major equity indices exhabit
the most price transparency. Equity derivatives generally
have observable market prices, except for contracts with long
tenors of reference prices that differ significantly from
current market prices. More complex equaty dermvatives, such
as those sensitive to the correlation between two or more
individual stocks, generally have less price transparency,

Liquidity 15 essential to observability of all product types. 1

transaction volumes decline, previously transparent prices and
other inpauts may become unchservable, Conversely, even
highly structured products may at times have trading volumes
large enough to provide observability of prices and other
irputs,

Levef 1 Derivatives

Level | derivatives include shom-lerm comtracts for [uture
delivery of secunities when the underlying security 15 a level 1
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and ase valued at their quoted market price.

Level 2 Derivatives

Level 2 derwvatives include OTC denvatives for which all
significant valuation inpuls are commoborated by market
evidence and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued wsing models that calibrate o
market-clearing levels of OTC denvatives. In evaluating the
significance of a valuation imput, the company considers,
among other factors, a portfolio’s net risk exposure to that
inp

The selection of a particular model to value a derivative
deperdds on the contractual terms of and specific nsks inherent
in the instrument, as well as the availabilny of pricing
mformation in the market. For dervatives that trade in bguid
markets, model selection does not  involve  significant
mamagement judgement because outputs of models can be
calibrated to market-clearing levels

Valuation models require a vanety of inputs, such as
contractual terms, market prices, yield curves, discount rates
(including those derived from imterest rates on collateral
recewved and posted as specified in credit suppost agreements

for collateralised denvatives), credit curves, measures of

volatility and correlations of such inputs. Significant inputs to
the valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer guotations or other allernative
pricing sources with reascnahle levels of price transparency.
Consideration s given to the nature of the gquotations (eg.,
indicative or firm} and the relationship of recent market
activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.
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Level 3 Derfvatives

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which ubilise
cbzervable level 1 andior level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs. Uncbservable imputs include
certain correlations as well as credit spreads and equity
volatility inpats.

Subsequent to the initial valuation of a level 3 derivative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting pains and losses
are recorded in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
commoborated by evidence such as similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and/or broker or dealer quotations
or other empinical market data. In circumstances where the
company cannot venfy the model value by reference o market
trarsactions, i 15 possible that a different valuation model
could produce a matenally different estimate of fair value. See
below for further information about significant unchservable
inputs used in the valuation of level 3 derivatives,

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price
and the far value calcubated by imernal models, a gain or loss
15 recognised aller imtial recognition only to the extent that it
arises from a change in a factor (mcluding time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price,

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are integral to determining the fair value
of derwvative portfolios and are used to adjust the mid-market
valushions produced by derivative prcmg models to the
appropriate exit price valuation These adjustments mcorporate
bid'offer spreads, the cost of lguidiny, credit valuation
adjustiments and funding valuation adjusiments, which account
for the credit and funding risk inherent i the wncollateralised
portion of derivative portfolios. The company also makes
funding valuation adjustmenis 1o collateralsed dervatives
where the terms of the agreement do not permit the company to
deliver or repledge collateral received. Market-based inputs are
generally used when calibraiing valuation adjusiments io
market-clearing levels.

In  addmion, for derivatives that  include  sigmificant
unobservable inputs, the company makes model or exit price
adjustments to account for the valuation uncertainty present in
the transaction,
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Qther Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Valuation techmiques and significant inputs of other financial
assets and Oinancial lisbilities include

« Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. The significant mputs to the valuation of resale
and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed and
Ioaned are funding spreads, the amount and timing of
expected future cash flows and interest rates

- Debtors. Deblors measured at fairr value are pnimanly
comprised of secured lending and prepaid commodity
contracts. The significant inputs 1o the valuation of such
receivables are commodity prices, interest rates, the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows and funding
spreads,

- Other Creditars. Other creditors primarnly comprise hybrid
financial mstruments and prepaid commodity contracts.

The sigmficant mputs to the valuation of secured other
creditors measured at fair value are the amount and tming of
expected future cash flows, interest rates, funding spreads,
the fair value of the collateral delivered by the company
(which iz determined wing the amount and timing of
expected future cash lows, market prices, markel vields and
recovery assumplions) and the frequency of additional
collateral calls

The sigrificant inputs to the valuation of unsecured other
creditors measured ot e valwe are the amount and timing of
expected future cash flows, mterest rates, the credit spreads
of G3 Group, as well as commodity prices in the case of
prepaid commodity comtracts. The inputs used to value the
embedded  derwvative component of hvbnd  financial
instruments are consistent with the inputs used to value the
company’s other derivative instruments.
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Fair Walue of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities by Level

The mables below present, by level within the far value
hierarchy, fimancial assets and financial liabilitties measured at

fair value ona recuring basis.

Financial Assets and Financial Lisbilites
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Significant Uncbservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Value Measurements

Cash Instruments. As of December 2016 and December
2015, the company had level 3 cash mstrument assets of $1.04
ballion and $1.24 billion, respectively. Level 3 cash instrument
liabilies were nol material. The table below presents the
amourd of level 3 cash instruments assets, and ranges and

ot Fair Value a5 of December 2018 11 _
& in milions Level 1 Level2  Lewel 3 Total weighted averages of significant unobservable inputs used to
Elnare|d Apsels value the company’s level 3 cash instrument assets
Cath intinaments 3T 518633 $1,005 5 63,6
Diarivatvn inskrumants 4F 305,438 417 se9E
Instrumenis Asiets
Feranicial imstruments cwnad 43,775 B4, 088 5,132 662,043 a LH“; :.“h! .t Urak e :p:h
Colateraised agresments - 139,532 - 139,732 P——
G = s = iaE (Waigrted gus
T - 4 5 iy mllions Drcemnbir 216 Cwcember 2015
- - Mertgages and olfer assel-backed loarms and securlies
Financ|al Lisbiliies Laval 3 mraets ik L au'sd
Asmaurns Falling due within ane year Yod  OENIe MR TIN 3210 19T 5.0%)
_Cash inetraments _dREF & 5008 F 4 8N Rucovery rate J0% o 975% (7.5 hoia
Derratvn inskrumants M sELTT ZE4 SEG9TH Durastien (yeani) aEe 6.0 (7 07te 118055
Financial imstruments soid, Equities and convertible debentures
but not yet purchirsed AT SRT.EZ s B39 Livel 3 ssaais 99 152
Colteraived Srancings 0 - 98381 00 88 987
Other erachion S esst ame1 1asE Mubples MctoSAR{18Y OBt 1450 (240
Total a1 G044 5005 773,350 CHssgunt mabetyieid HA A e 130 (11.4%)
T ——— one year Corporate obligations and other cash insfruments.
Collataraiznd Buaneings - 8,253 - 8,273 Leveldgmams 0000 $500 L
“Other credion - 15,874 378 18,407 Yield O 0e T (B0%) 2% o 14.5% (6.2%)
Total = @igor 333 25,040 Recovery rite | DL0% o TO.0% WO 00 e TOAE (0.5%)
Total Teancial labaies SAT1T STe.0 T Duration {ysars) 1.9 00 15.7 (L4 180 5.8 (3
Het dedvabive Instruments 5 13  § 10,8 51,5393 5 12,634 In the table above:

Finaneial Avials and Rassdial Lisbiites
at Fair Valss a5 of Decembar 2018

_Sr:ll':rm Larwnd 1 Lared 2 Lirvasd 3 Todal
Einpncial Assels

Cehinttrements SaB18e S 1600 BmA § 6G8AT
Dbty o instrumants 14 544300 aE0 BB 1IT
Feranicial imstruments cwnaed 4B 212 561,801 6,041 616,054
Collataralived agreements - 133833 00 - 132843
[ - 1,368 = 1,368
Total Inarcial axiets 40717 06107 S5O0 5760,355
Financia Liabigies

Amounts falling due within one year
Cmhindrements SN.008 5 684§ 62§ 24084
Dhint b 8 | FYSEIL Pabs, M s TT 2 s E30,670

Feraacul wrilrumenty ol

531,861

10,802
088 615508

Amounts falling dus after more than one year

Collataatand teanings - s - 3se
Cthar credions = 17804 2124 19.008
Tetal - 21,308 2124 23,430
Total inancial iabiities $H.088 5838811 58,401 5866278
Pl g it in St 5 14§ 15023 52,138 5 18,147

In the table above, as of December 2015, level 2 other creditors
falling due withan one year and other creditors falling due after
more than one year have been increased by 387 million and
81248 billion, respectively. See “Financial Assets  and
Financeal Liabalities by Category™ above for further details,

» Ramges represent the 3igniﬁcant unobservable inputs that
were used in the valuation of each tvpe of cash instrument.

. "L\’:islrh:d averages are caleulated by weighting each input
by the relative Fair valuee of the cash instruments.

« The ranges and weighted averages of these inputs are not
representative of the appropriate  inputs o use when
caleulating the far value of any one cash instrument. For
example, the highest yvield for mongages and loans s
appropriate for valuing a specific loan but may not bhe
appropriste for valuing any other loan Accordingly, the
ranges of inpuls do not represent uncertaimy in, or possible
ranges of, fair value measurements of the company’s level 3
cash instruments.

Incresses i vield, discoumt rate or durstion used i the
valuation of the company’s level 3 cash instruments would
result ina lower fair value measurement, while increases in
recovery rate, basis or multiples would result in a higher fair
value measurement. Due 1o the distinctive mature of each of
the company”s level 3 cash insiruments, the interrelationship
of mputs 1= not necessanly uraform within each product type.

= BEquaties and convertible debentures include private equity

investments.
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« Dnscount rate/yvield was not signaficant 1o the valuation of
level 3 equities and convertible debentures as of December
2016, Recovery rate was not significant 1o the valuation of
morigages and other asset-backed loans and securities as of
December 2015,

« Mortgages and other asset-backed loans and securities and
corporate ah]lgatmn.q. and other cash instruments are valued
using discounted cash flows, and equities and convertible
debentures  are valued using markel comparables and
discounted cash Qows.

« The fwr value of any one instrument may be determined
using multiple valuation techniques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
1o determine fair value, Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these technigues.

Derivative Instruments. As of December 2016 and
December 2015, the company had met level 3 denvative
instruments of 3189 billion and $2.14 bilhon, respectively.
The table below presents the amount of net level 3 derivative
instruments, and ranges, averages and medins of sigmbicant
unobservable nputs used to value the company’s credit and
equitics derivative instruments, As of December 2016 and
December 2015, the company had net level 3 Onancial
instruments of 5(184) milhon and 5136 million, respectively,
relating to inferest rate, currencies and commodities denvatives
for which the range of sigmbicant wnobservable inputs has not
been disclosed as the amounts are not material.

Het Lewel 3 Derirative Instramiests and
Rangs of Sgnificant Linobsarmable nputs
(Aaragailedian) as of

5 in milions December 2018 Dwcember 2015
Credit 52,013 52278
Cormalation 5% to 919 (ESNAER) % o S [GEN AR
Cradtpreadsbpel Zio W3 (E100 110 862 (1744131}
Ulpliront credl ponts 0 to 88 (218} 0 i B (24520
Rocovery rates T b B (A
Exaittes 5(336) 5276}
Gorelation  (98)% to B7% (ZWMS%) (B6/% to B4 (ENMEN)
Wil alility 5% to BN [2IWSITIW] 140 be S (2EOLDENY
Inthe table above:

+ Met derivative assels are shown as posilive amounts and net
dervative Liabilities are shown as negative amounts.

» Ranges represent the significant wmobservable inputs that
were used mthe valuation of each tvpe of derivative,

« Averages represent the arithmetic average of the inputs and
are not weighted by the relative fair value or notional of the
respective financial instruments. An aversee greater than the
median indicates that the majonity of inputs are below the

average.
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« The ranges, averages and medians of these mputs are mot
representative of the appropriate inputs to use when
caleulating the fair value of any one dervative. For example,
the highest correlation for credit denvatives is appropriate for
valuing a specific credit derivative but may not be
appropriate  for valuing any  other credit  dervative.
Accordingly, the rmanges of nputs do nol represent
uncertamnty in, or possible ranges of, fair value measurements

of the company™s level 3 derivatives,

« Credit dervatives are valued using option pricing, correlation
and discounted cash flow models, and equities derivatives are
valued using option pricing models.

« The fair value of any one instrument may be determined
wing muluple valuation techniques. For example, oplion
pricing models and discounted cash flows models are
typically used together to determine fair value. Therefore, the
level 3 balance encompasses both of these technigques.

« Comrelation within - equities  mcludes  oross-product

correlation.

Range of Significant Unobservable inpuits

The following 15 information about the ranges of significant

uncbservable inpuls wed to value the company's level 3

derivative instruments:

« Comrelation. Ranges [or comelalion cover a vanely of
underliers both within one market (eg, equity index and
equity single stock names) and across markets (eg.,
correlation of an equity mdex and a foreign exchange rate),
as well as across regions.

« Volatility. Ranges for volatility cover numercus underhiers
across 4 variety of markets, maturities and strike prices. For
example, volatlity of equity indices is generally lower than
velatility of single stocks.

« Credit spreads, upfront credit peints and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credit poinis

and recovery rates cover a varely of underliers (index amd
single names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit qualities
(high-vield and inwestment-grade). The broad range of this
population gives nise to the width of the ranges of significant
unobservable mputs.
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Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inpuis

The following is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company's level 3 fair value measurements to changes in
significant unobservable inputs, in isolation:

« Correlation. In general. for contracts where the holder
benefits from the consistent directional performance of the
underlying assel of index prices {eg. interest rates, credit
spreads, foreign exchange mates, inflation rates and equity
prices), an increase in comelation results inoa hugher fair
value measurement.

« Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
volatility results in a higher fair value measurement.

« Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
ratés. In general, the far value of purchased credit
protection increases as cradit spreads or upfront credat points
increase of recovery rates decrease. Credit spreads, upfront
credit poinis and recovery rates are strongly related to
distinctive risk  factors of the underlvimg reference
obhgations. These include reference entity-specific factors
such as leverage, volatility and industry; market-based risk
factors, such as borrowing costs or liquidity of the underlying
reference obligation, and macroeconomie conditions,

Due to the distinctive nature of each of the company’s level 3
denvatives, the mterelationship of inputs 15 not necessarily
uniform within each product type.

B3
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Qther Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Significant unobservable inputs of other financial assets and
financial liabilities include

« Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Az of both December 2016 and December
2015, the company had no level 3 resale agreements,
securitics bommowed or  securities loaned. As of both
December 2016 and December 2015, the company’s level 3
repurchase agreements were nol material.

Debtors. As of both December 20016 and December 2015,
the company’s level 3 deblors were rul.

Other Creditors. As of both December 2016 and
December 2015, the significant unobservable inpuls used 1o
value the company’s secured level 3 other creditors have
been incorporated m the company’s cash  instruments
disclosures related to unobservable inputs, within corporate
obligations and other cash mstruments. See “Cash
Instruments™ above.

-

As of both December 2016 and December 201 5, substantially
all of the company’s unsecured level 3 other creditors are
hybrid financial instruments. As the significant unobservable
inputs used 1o value hybrid financial instruments primanly
relate to the embedded denvative component of these
borrowings, these inputs are incorporated in the company's
denvative disclosures related to unobservable inputs. See
“Derivative Instruments™ above.

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During 2016 and 2015, there were no significant transfers
between level | and level 2 financial assets and financial
liabilites measured at fair value on a recurning basis.
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Level 3 Rolforward

The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for all level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value on a recurming basis. Gains and losses
arising on level 3 assets are recognised within net revenues in

the profit and less account. In the table below

« If a fimancial asset or financial liability was transferred to
level 3 during a reporiing period. iis entire gain or loss for the
period is included in level 3. For level 3 financial assels,
incTeases are shown as positiv e amounts, while decreases are
shown as negative amounts. For level 3 financial labilities,
incTeases are shown as negative amounts, while decreases ane
shown as positive amouns,

Transfers between levels are recogrisad at the bepinning of
the reporting period in which they occur. Accordingly, the
tables do not include gains or losses for level 3 financial
assels and fnancial labilities that were transferred out of
level 3 prior to the end of the peniod.

Level 3 financial assets and financial lishilities are frequently
econamically hedged with level | and level 2 financial assets
and financial labilities. Accordingly, level 3 gains or losses
that are reported in the table below for a particular class of
financial asset or fnancial hability can be partially offset by
gains or losses atinbutable to level 1 or level 2 in the same
class of financial asset or financial liability or gains o losses
anributable o level 1, level 2 or level 3 in a different class of
financial asset or financial hability, As a result, gains or
losses included in the level 3 rollforward below do not
necessarily represent the overall mpacl on the company™s
results of operations, hquidity or capital resources.

Yem Ended Decenber

5 in milions 18 2015
Tobal Tnancial assets

Beginning balance: % 6,081 sT.7E
Gainsilass) 1,082 55
Fales 1351 (401}
Trarnfers into level 3 541 o
Trarafers et of el 3 Nt 2213
“Ending balance 55,152 SE041
Total fnancial labaiies

Beginning balance: S8, 422)
Gainuilosssa) 28
Purchases )
oo o
Trarshers into level 3 7
Trarnbers ol of bevel 3 760
Ending balance TB.A01)

54
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The table below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information for financial labilitees meluded in the
summary table above, The information for financial assets
included m the summary table above has not been
disaggregated as it solely relates to “Financial instruments
owned”,

5 i mallang
Financial instruments solid, but not yet purchased
Eagirning balance

Tran gkt st bsl 3

Transhers out of level 3

Ending balance

Collateralised Nnancings

Begrang balasce 5y 5 124y
Gain sf{losses) 1% [r]
Setthements 11 55
Ending balance § 166 EIET

Transfers out of level 3

Ending balnce

Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Year Ended December 2016, Transfers into level 3
primarily reflected transfers of certain credit denvatives from
level 2, prncipally due 10 unebservable eredit spread and vield
inputs  becoming  significant to the valuation of these
mnstrumenits and the transfers of certain equity dernvatives from
level 2, prncipally due to unobservable volatility and
correlation inputs becoming significant to the valwation of
these denvatives

Transfers out of level 3 primarily reflected transfers of certain
credit derivatives to level 2, principally due to unobservable
credit spread inputs no longer being sigmficant 1o the net nisk
of certain portfolos, transfer of certain equity denvatives to
level 2, principally due to unchservable wvolatility and
correlation inpuls no longer being sagnificant to the net nisk of
certan  portfolios and  transfer of certain  interest rate
derivatives to level 2, due to unchservable long dated interest
rate bases becoming observable,
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Year Ended December 2015, Transfers nto level 3
primarily reflected transfers of certain credit dervatives from
level 2, principally due to unchservable credit spread inputs
becoming significant to the valuation of these instruments and
the transfers of certain equity derivatives from level 2,
principally due to uncbservable volatility and correlation
inputs  becoming spmificamt o the valuation of these
denvatives.

Transfers out of level 3 primanly reflected transfers of certain
credit denvatives to level 2, principally due to unchservable
credit spread mputs no longer being ﬂ.ignlﬁmﬁt 1o the met risk
of certain portfolios,

Fair Value Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Valued Using Techniques That Incorporate
Unobservable Inputs

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities may
be determined in whole or pant using a valuation technigus
based on assumptions thal are not supported by prices from
observable current market transactions in the same mstrument
or based on available observable market data and changing
these assumplions will change the resultant estimate of far
value. The potential mmpact of using reasonable possible
alternative assumptions for the valuations, including significant
unobservable mputs, has been quantified as of December 2016
and December 2015, as approximately 3220 million and 5261
million, respectively, for favourable changes, and 3294 million
and $238 million, respectively, for unfavousable changes. In
determining  reasomably  possible  altermative  unfavourable
assumptions, & detailed business and position level review has
been performed to wlentify and quantifly inslances where
potential uncertainty exists. This has taken into account the
positions” fair value as compared to the range of available
market information.

The table below presents the amounts not recognised in the
profit and loss account relating to the difference between the
fair value of fnancial instrumends held for trading at initial
recognition (the transaction price) and the amounts determined
at imitial recognition using the valuation techniques (day 1
P&L).

5 i prwlhons 18 ]
A of January 1 138 G
- L s =
........... Eactior i o e ey e
during the peiod (3 #)
A% of December 31 5148 ]

S
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

Az of December 2016 and December 20015, the company had
$129.28 billion and $99.25 billion, respectively, of current
financial assets and S138.17 killion and 514513 hellion,
respectively, of current financial habilities thal are not
measured at far value. Given the shon-term nature of these
instruments, their carrying amownts in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

As of December 2016 and December 2015, the company had
S18.67 billion and $12.37 billion, respectively, of financal
liabilites that are due afier more than one vear that are nol
measured a1 fair value which predominantly relate to long-term
intercompany  borrowings. The interest rates of these
berrawings are varishle in mature and approsamate prevailing
market nterest rates for mstruments with similar terms and
characteristics, As such, their carrying amounts in the balance
sheet are a reasonable approximation of fair value,

Items of Income, Expense, Gains or Losses

The table below presents the tems of income, expense, gains
of losses related 1o the company’s financial assets and Grancial
liabilites that are presented within net revenues.

Yead Ended Desermbie

5 in mallong plaL] 2015
Hon=interest income 58,477 26,778
Interest nesme

Inderest incoma from exdemal counberpartes 1,521 1,804
Intareit income fram parent and group underiakings ea7 235
Total interest income LiE 058
Interest expense

Irdaraet dap o extaes i partas 1,018 1,050
Inferest gupserrse Fom parent and group undertakings 1,040 E
Tetal Itiresl expaiie 205 1801
Wit interest Income T2 FE]
Tetal nat révenes 58,549 37.018
In the table above:

« Mon-mterest income includes commissions and fees income
of 5619 million and %532 million for 2016 and 2015,
respectively. This is recognised in Instinutional Cliemt
Services and Investment Management.

« Mon-mterest imcome ncludes net losses of 5495 million for
2016 and net gans of 5625 milhen for 2015, i relation to
the company’s financial assets and financial liahilities
designated at fair value through profit or less, This is
recognised in [nstitutional Chient Services. The remaining net
revenues within Instiutional Client Services predommately
relate to net gains from financial assets and financial
liahilities held for trading
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
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Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below presents the cash flows of the company's The fair values of financial lmbilibes held for trading and
financial labilities by contractual maturity including mterest financial liabilities desagnated at fair value through profit and
that will accrue, except for financial instruments sold, but not loss have been disclosed as this 15 consistent with the values
vet purchased Financial mstruments sold but not vet used mn the bgudity risk mamagement of these instruments.
purchased are classified as wading'on demand  Fimancial Liquidity risk on derivatives is mitigated through master
liabalities, with the exception of those that are held for trading netting agreements and cash collateral armangements.

or designated at fair value through profit and loss, are disclosed

at their undiscounted cash flows
Financial Linkili
Mara than Mo thas Mahe than
o month  thies manths o ybar
Lass but lass bat e st brin Graabe
Trading thbn G0 i Siee than s than e thanm fve

§ in milions on demand manth ranthe waar PRI YRArE Total
Asnourds faling due within one year

Firmncial imstruments sold, but not yel purchased S8aen £ - H - 5 = £ - % - £813.91
Collataraised Eaancings 25,050 2TATH 13,150 11,201 - - 137,541
Total 787,203 20,602 14,47 3,167 - - 862,219
Amourds alling due after more than ohe year

Coilatpralized Snancings - - - - 6,158 EE] [ B ]
. ey ; Ty T Y T
Total - 2 7 = 35,588 11,328 a8, 952
Total - on-bal ance-sheet TE7. 200 0,604 18,254 184 35,508 1,728 508,171
Contngent and frward wtating risale and securities

Bafréwing agraamenli 14 42361 - 4 - - 41,500

mmm ............ ———————e e
e T T
Total — off-bal ande-sheel 4,837 42,268 14 555 229 - L]
Total Tinancial liabaies STRE0 FTET2 $4, g .70 35,817 11,338 957,074
Ay of Decomber 2018

Arnounts alling dus within one year

Ferancial ivstruments sold, but not yet purchased BEAL Bl £ - 5 - £ - £ - 5 - SE5E Bad
Collateralived Snancings B0.088 41,800 3378 11,021 - - 16,355
Dithar cracdion BE.050 2267 E58 37387 - - 118,372
Total 70,780 44,167 4,056 238, 33 - - TBE 411
Amaounts falling due after more than one year

Colaberaiaed Brancings - - - - 3413 BS 3,802
e et T . : o TR GE a
Tetal - 1 ] 19 24524 12680 a0
Total —on-balange-thieel 7.7 44,168 4,072 25407 454 12,600 25 641

Consagent and forward siaring resals and securities

I - mae - - [ S
.......... L L L. L
Total - of-balance-shost 4137 020 8 72 347 5
Total fnancial labities $705, 527 $T3452 5 4,008 130,478 S248T1 12685 850,512
k6
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Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives financial instruments (e.g., government
and agency obligations, corporate debt securities, equities and
comvertible debentures) as collateral, primarily in connection
with resale agreements, securities bomrowed, denvative
trarsactions and customer margin loans. The company obtains
cash and securities as collmeral on an upfront or contingent
basiz for dervative mstruments and collateralised agreements
to reduce its credit exposure to individual counterparties,

In many cascs, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering imo
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primarily in conmection with secured chent financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledge these
financial instruments  in connaction with other  secured
financings, collateralising dervative transactions and meeting
company or customer setilement requirements,

The company also pledges certain fnancial mstruments owned
in conmection with repurchase agreements, securities lending
agreements and other secured fimancings to counterparties who
may of may el have the right to deliver or repledge.

The table below presemts financial instruments received as
collateral that were available 1o be delivered. or repledged and
were delivered or repledged by the company.

Ak o Dichribir
§ in eilicns 8 015
Coilataral available to be delivered or repledged S420,31 5378, 564
[ that was or 1oy d 367,704 307,785

The table below presents mformation about assels pledped.

As of December
5 A vl HAE 2015
Francial meruments cwned pledged 1o courterpatias that
Had the right ba delver o replecige s20,110 S22.038
Déd niok hew the right be delbvsr or repladge 583 20,148

The company has received cash collateral in respect of
financial instruments owned of 36094 billion and $57.64
billion as of December 2016 and December 2015, respectively,
and posted cash collateral in respect of financial instruments
sald, but mot vet purchased of $47.37 billion and $38.71 billion
as of December 2016 and December 2015, respectively.
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In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lending
transactions, the company funds certain assets through the use
of other secured fimancings and pledges financial instruments
as collateral n these transactions. These other secured
financings consist of labilities related (o special purpose
entities, transfers of fnancial assets that are accounted for as
financings rather than sales and other structured Onancing
arrangements. Other secured financings include arrangements
that are non-recourse

Hedge Accounting

The company designates certain interest rate swaps as fair
value hedges. These interest rate swaps hedge changes in fair
value attnbutable 1o the relevant benchmark imerest rate {e.g.,
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR]) effectively
converting [ixed rate obligations imo Moating rate obligations.

The company applies a statistical method that utilises
regression analysis when assessing the effectivencas of its fair
value hedging relationshaps in schieving offseting changes n
the fair values of the hedging instrument and the nsk beng
hedged {(1e, interest rate nsk) An interest rate swap 15
consulered highly effective in offsetting changes m fair value
attnbutable 1o changes 1 the hedged nsk when the regression
analysis results in a coefficient of determination of $0%% or
greater and a slope between 30% and 125%,

For qualifying fair value hedges, gains or losses on derivatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item atnbutable o
the hedged nsk are included i net revenues. When a denvative
is no longer designated as a hedge, any remaining difference
between the carrving value and par value of the hedged item is
amortised over the remaining life of the hedged item using the
effective interest method

The table below presents the gains/{losses) from imerest rate
derivatives accounted for as hedges, the related hedged
borrowings and the hedge ineffectivensess on these derivatives.

Year Ended Decerber
3 in s FLIL] 016
Irdturest rat hacges 57 B3
Hudge Burrawings in 18
Hedge IneMechventss - 3 @

The table below presents the fair value of asset and liability
derivative instruments designated as hedges

As of DecemBer X018 As of Decambar 2015
Dherivative: Derivative Der paim Dwriatioe
5 it realiong Assets Liabilties Assats Lin bilithss
Tetal [IFL] [F2] 3150 o
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Unconsolidated Structured Entities

The company has interests in structured entities that 1t does not
comtrol (uncorsolidated structured entities), which primarily
includes: semior and subordmated debt m residential and
commercial  morigage-backed and other asset-backed
securitisation  entities,  collateralised debt obligations and
collateralised loan obligations; denvatives and guarantees,

Structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by
issuing debt securities that are enther collateralised by or
indexed to the assets held by the structured entity. The debt
securities issued by a structured entity may include tranches of
varving bevels of subordimation. The company’s invalvement
with structured entities primanly includes securitisation of
financial assets.

In certin instances, the company provides puarantees,
including denvative guarantecs, to unconsclidated structured
entities or holders of interests in unconsolidated stroctured
entities.

The table below presents a summary of the unconsolidated
structured entities in which the company holds imerests. The
company’s maximum exposure to loss 15 mainly a result of
derivatives, commitments and guarantees, for which the
maximum exposure o loss 15 the notional amount, which does
nol represent anticipated losses and also has not been reduced
by unrealised losses already recorded As a result, the
maximum exposure 1o loss exceeds habilities recorded for
denvatives, commitments and guarantees, provided to
unconsolidated structured entities,

As of December
£ in milions 218 2015
Asety in dnacturid entities 512 13,301
Cafrying vakse af istenedis - sasth 511 975
Cairying vake af edeedis - Bablites (=301 {3
Mol ) o kg bo bk 4,523 4596

The carrying values of the company’s interests are included m
the balance sheet n “Financial instruments owned™ of
“Firaneial instruments sold, bat not yet purchased”,

B
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Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. Dunng the
vear, the company transferred certain financial assets where the
transfers failed to mecet the derecognition criteria, as contained
i IAS 39 ‘Financial Irstruments: Recogmition and
Measurement”, and as a result of which the company continues
to recognise thess assets in full on the balance sheet.

The company transfers assels owned to counterparties in the
ordinary  course of business to collateralse  repurchase
agrecments and other secunties lending transactions.  In these
transactions the transferred assets continue to be recognised by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
requare the financial instruments 1o be repurchased at maturty
of the agreement and the company remains exposed to the
price, credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
assel, a financial liability 15 recognised in respect of the
consideration received and recorded within “Collateralised
financings”. When the company receives non cash collateral
(i the form of secunties) no lability 15 inally recognised. If
collateral received 13 subsequently sold, the obligation (o retum
the collateral 15 recogmised as a hability within “Financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased™.

In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lendmg
agrecments, the company obtains funding through the we of
other amangements that fail to meet the derecognition criteria,
For exaniple, sales of secunties with related derivatives, such
a5 total retum swaps, through which the company retains
substantially all of the risk and reward of the transferred assets,
A [mancial hability s recopnised in such cases for the
procesds received.

Oiher financial assets transferred that continue o be recogmsad
on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate 1o pledges of
securities as collateral, primarily for derivative transactions.
The obhgations wunder such derivatives are recorded in
“Financial instruments seld, but not yei purchased”.

The table below presents financial assets which have been
transferred but which remain on balance sheet for accounting
purpeses. The carrying amount of the asscomted financial
liabilities generally approximate the camying amount of the
assels transferred

Ais of Decembar

5 i malliong 2016 HHE
Woniy market nstumeets 5 - 5 o
‘Geovernmant and agency cbligations 14B03 10036
e —

chiver bt obligations 4,254 5300
Equities and convestible debenbures 21,618 625
Teaital 41,673 42 102
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Derecognised Assets With Ongeoing Exposure. The
company has continuing involvement in the form of denvative
trarsactions and guarantees with certain  unconsolidated
structured entities to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These derivatives may be credit-linked 1o the
assel transferred and resull in the company retaining specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company to make
pavments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
asset if certain contingent events occur

In addition, the company transters financial assets to
securitisation vehicles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets bul may have continting
invalyement with the transferred assets, including ownershap of
beneficial interests in the securitisation. The company may also
purchase semor of subordinated secunities  ssued by
securitisation vehicles in conmection with secondary market -
making activities.

Where the company's continuing invelvement in translerred
assets 15 through dervatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure 1o loss s the notional amounts of the derivative or
puarantée. For retaimed of purchased interests in secumlised
assets, the company”s risk of loss 5 limited 1o the fair value of
these interests, In all cases these retained interests are carned at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transfer at fair value
and therefore does not typacally recognise significamt gains or
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
comtinuing involvement that could require the company to
repurchase derecognised financial assels

B
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The tables below present mformation about the company's

exposwre through continuing involvement and the gains or
losses related to those ransactions

Macdmum
Carréing  Expatiane
5 i mallang _ Arrteunt ta Ledd
As of Decomber 7016
Assets
Cash intruments 313 F 23
Derivative instuments Lx] A0
Financial instruments owned il 1l
Taotal 5 5 01
Liabilivies
Derivatives instruments. 500 5 (99
Finaneasl instrumseets sold, buk nod yet porchased [Fa] (LT
Tolal 5 (8 5 _{99)
A of Decembar 2015
Assets
Cash msruments £ T8 5 83
Dorivalivs sty W 1,180
Finanssl inglursete ownsd 175 1.253
Tetel 3175 51,253
Liabilities
Darivaliiet insirumsnts 3 (3 3 (101
“Financial instrurts s6k, but o yot purchased | @ty
Crthesr cresditors - -
= FE] F (101
Incomel  Cumulatve
(Expanaa) -
5 in malliang _ in the year  (Expenus)
As of Decomber 7016
Agsis
Cash mntrumsnis 11 1M
Darivatios nstuments [&n 123
Financeal instruments owned (18 254
Tatal H16 § 54
Linbilivies
Derivatives instruments. i (35
Finaneasl instrunsests sold, but not yet perchased [E1] [EE]
“Cttwe credters - [
Tolal 5 (3 L]
Ay of December 2018
Aseels
Cash insruments £ 2 % 120
Doiivativn mstments [ 150
Finianal inatrumaty swnsd L] 70
Tokal 58 § 270
Liabilities
Durivalives insirumsnts 3 (1) 5 (3%
“Finanial insumeets sold, but not yet prchased (1) (301
Orthes craclitors = 1)
Tetal 3 (1) (3%
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

HNote 25,

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

The tables below present the company’s lnancil assets and
financial liabilites that are subject to enforceabls netting
agreements and offsetting  Amounts are only offset in the
balance sheet when the company currently has a legally
enforceable night to set-off the recognised amounts and an
intention either to settle on a net basis, or 1o realise the asset
and settle the habiliy simultaneously. In the tables below:

» Gross amounts exclude the effects of both counterparty
netting and collateral, and therefore are ol representative of
the company” s CONOMIC ¢ XPOSUre.

Amounis not offset in the balance sheet include counterparty
neting (1., the netting of fnancial assets and Onancial
liabilities for a given counterparty when a legal nght of setoff
exists under an enforceable netting agreement), and cash and
security collateral received and posted under enforceable
credit support agreements, that do not meet the criteria for
offsetting under UK. GAAP,

Where the company has received or posted collateral under
credit support agreements, but has not yet determined
whether such agreements are  enforceable, the related
collateral has not been included in the amounts net offset in
the balance sheet

*

EDINETOOOO
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Gross amounts include denvative assets and  denvatve
liabilities of $6.94 billion and 36.82 billon, respectively, as
of December 2016, and derivative assets and derivative
liabilities of $8_34 blhion and $7.49 billion, respectively, as
of December 2015, which are not subject to an enforceable
nefting agreement or are subject to a netting agreement that
the company has not vel determined to be enforceable.

Substantially all collateralised agreements and collateralised
financings are subject to enforceable netling agreements as of
December 2016 and December 2015,

As of December 20015, $7.11 hillion of other creditors have
been moved from fnancial labidities not subject o
enforceable netting agreements to financial liabilities subject
ip  enforceable netting  apreements, 3236 hillion  of
collateralized financings have been moved from financial
liabilities subject to enforceable netting agreements to
fimancial labilities not subject to enforceable nettmg
agreements and the amoun disclosed as security collateral
posted on collaterahised financings has been increased by
$12.65 ballion to more appropreately present these balances.

oOoOooodn

As of Decembar 2018
Araounts mel offsel inihe Balance dleet
Amounts  Met ansount
offet inthve  presented in

Gross balance  the balance  Counberparty Cash Becurity Het
5 i mvlions oS shized sheet nieting collateral collakeral amaunt
Flnancial Assels
Gmhfenenents 0000 B TME O B0EIN F 4NT % NLIM O §F N % @R 3 e
Daivatve intbrumants E61,059 (62,3800 509,500 [5324,7ET) H2.870 (124259 10,537
Ferancial instroments cwned ETR.007 (T4, 720) 604,186 (525, EBT) 2,008 (15,344) 20,043
Colatersdsed agreements. Z2en2 eain s (eoen) - mssan  aas
Detlors. (6, 162) 52470 (3,531} {37 ATE) [4.B64) 6,594
Fetwecial siats SUbjoct 1o onloreaable nating agpaseienss ___ GTOAS1 (29995 SHZ6 (O1STI0) @03 (1s765) 999
Fasmeial ety not subject 1o on ior obabbe ReSng §Qereny w2137 - 9437 - - - 23,137
Total inanclal assets 51,062,588 S{120,105) $913.393 S(815,110p  HE0J3F)  S(115763)  $122,130
Einanci Linbiiies
Amaunts falling due within omne year
Cash instnaments -] § (1,688 5 4 - % - % - H £
Diaxirvait o inshru mants {61,163) R TE] (525,614 {35,84%) [E.841) 16,575
Fetwacial mlramants o8 bl holy# purchased _________ SWaEI (82950)  SaTea0 (25618 (RO4T) 16,629
Colatersised Enancings {53,155 1H, P83 B21)
Otherredtos BAS)  TANT0 (3,707) 3,785 BB 1283
Total (122453) PR 614,038y {F a6 (BB A4S 40,289
Amounts falling due afer more than ohe year
Colateralised fnancings 6,233 - [ Jea k] 1,060} - & 162) LR
DOther craditon 0,268 (6.742) 2576 {12} 778 {250 1438
Total 15,501 (B, 742y 8750 (1,072} [EEL] (2417} 1497
Ferancial babdties wimecl to b natting agr 30,318 (120,165) 801,121 [CIERELT] {B0,385) [CEETH] 41,788
Ferancial labiities not subyect bo enforceables netfing agresmants 105,204 - 105, 58 = - - 105,54
Total financial liabafies $1035550 6170105 5008355 (615110} 5{60,09%)  § (BAE57)  §147,000

90
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Az of Diecember 2015
Ancunts not offest in the Balands shas
Asnounie Mat amaunt
olfestinthe  preasnted in
Grats bal i Bl c party Cath Security Hat
amounts shipt shaet nesng collatmral collateral amount

5 15662 § (11,579 5 4083 5 2y 5 [T § ey § 1343

E00.006 [E8.78 549017 (474,408 142,183} 21,382
[FETT] (71360 553.200 474,518 [LRXTT) 22705
........ 191084 TSN 163TEN  (eAnmy )

55,187 6, 758) 48,428 (EA2Y {32, 7,785
Foranicial sssets not subject o enforceable nefting agresments 84273 - B4.273 - = 84,273
Tolal insncial assets 5 HS.‘IE S0551T) 5845805 S523.780F  S7E.080H 5117.772
Firepnc) s Lintiiiey
Amounts falling due within ane year
Cash insinaments 1164 5 (1,164 -3 - 3 - 5 - 5 - 3 -
‘Deivatveinstumenss £384E0  (5a4B0 | 530,570 (474488 (32,203  (BE17} 16682
“Financil nErumonts s bulnoty purehaned @064 [SU6H) 530970 (474AWE)  (32.203) (BT 15652
Colatersized fnancings 140170 (34,140 114,021 481304 - {84, T200 1,171
Othar credions T4 559 {5 02T) A9 552 21} 142 163} - 27,349
Tetal 813,343 [Ba.820p 714,523 (522 628y {74, 358} {73337} 44172
Amounts faling dus after more than one year
Collateralised fmancings Aoz I .. S . L S - —
Cthar credions .60 {6.687) 19487 [t byl = = ASS
Total _ _ 12,108 {6.80T) _Sas (=10 = (3343} 535
Ferecial babliies subpect by enkecoabl ing age ks B25.539 {105, 51T) 7022 (525 2000 {74, 355} T BBl 45,897
“Fanancial kabiities not subject to enfon:sable netfing g 103,763 - 103753 - - - 103,763
Ttal fnancial labilties 5 628,202 S105517) 83 TTh SSZA2800  $(74.385) S(TEES0)  $148480

A clearing orpanisation adopted a rule change in the first
quarter of 2017 that requires transactions 0 be considered
settled each day. Certain other clearing organisations allow for
similar treatment. To the extent transactions with these clearing
organisations are considered settled, the impact would be a
reduction in gross derivative assets and habibties, with no
impact 1o the net amount in the table above,

|
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OoOoOoOoOodno
2015 12 2014 12
7,016 798,210 6,430 731,541
(4,077) (463,840) (4,155) (472,714)
2,939 334,370 2,275 258,827
(285) (32,424) (222) (25,257)
7 796 7 796
2,661 302,742 2,060 234,366
(353) (40,161) (452) (51,424)
2,308 262,581 1,608 182,942
2015 12 2014 12
2,308 262,581 1,608 182,942
?) (341) 111 12,628
1 114 (22) (2,503)
) (228) 89 10,126
2,306 262,354 1,697 193,068
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®3)
2015 12 2014 12
13 11 1,251 12 1,365
14 1 114 2 228
12 1,365 14 1,593
(2015 12
2014 12
15 616,054 70,088,464 693,748 78,927,710
22,036 24,404
)
16 163,703 18,624,490 203,516 23,154,015
17 60,488 6,881,720 66,561 7,572,645
23 9,974 1,134,742 3,586 407,979
850,219 96,729,416 967,411 110,062,349
15 (555, 654) (63,216,756) (641,413) (72,973,557)
19 (116,385) (13,241,121) (139,137) (15,829,616)
20 (116,300) (13,231,451) (145,904) (16,599,498)
(788,339) (89,689,328) (926,454) (105,402,672)
61,880 7,040,088 40,957 4,659,678
61,892 7,041,453 40,971 4,661,271
19 (3,502) (398,423) (2,514) (286,018)
20 (32,298) (3,674,543) (16,700) (1,899,959)
(35,800) (4,072,966) (19,214) (2,185,977)
21 — — an (1,934)
26,092 2,968,487 21,740 2,473,360
10 261 29,694 257 29,239
26,353 2,998,181 21,997 2,502,599
22 582 66,214 533 60,639
4,864 553,377 2,863 325,724
( ) 17 1,934 17 1,934
20,890 2,376,655 18,584 2,114,302
26,353 2,998,181 21,997 2,502,599
2016 14
M.S.
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)

2015 12 2014 12
533 60,639 533 60,639
49 5,575 — —
582 66,214 533 60,639
2,863 325,724 2,863 325,724
2,001 227,654 — —
4,864 553,377 2,863 325,724

( )
17 1,934 17 1,934
17 1,934 17 1,934
18,584 2,114,302 16,887 1,921,234
2,308 262,581 1,608 182,942
/C ) @ (228) 89 10,126
630 71,675 529 60,184
(630) (71,675) (529) (60,184)
20,890 2,376,655 18,584 2,114,302
26,353 2,998,181 21,997 2,502,599
2015 2014
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®)
2015 12 2014 12
24 2,889 328,682 88 10,012
3 341 14 1,593
(403) (45,849) (169) (19,227)
/( ) 2,489 283,174 (67) (7,623)
©) (341) ) (228)
©) (341) @ (228)
2,050 233,229 _ _
@17) (24,688) (166) (18,886)
2,500 284,425 — —
/( ) 4,333 492,965 (166) (18,886)
C ) 6,819 775,798 (235) (26,736)
3,577 406,955 4,004 455,535
(426) (48,466) (192) (21,844)
23 9,970 1,134,287 3,577 406,955
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EC4A 2BB 133
(GSGUK)
10-K )
)
10282
www .goldmansachs.com/shareholders/
GSGUK
www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures/
) GSGUK
2016 12 31 www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures/
FRS 101
FRS 101
FRS 101 FRS 101
(
2006
EU IFRS FRS 101
45 (b) 46 52
38
79 (@)(iv)
73 (e)
10 (P 16 40 A D
30 31
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FRS 101
FRS 101
FRS 101
FRS 101 2014 ( )
2014 12 FRS 101
FRS 101
(
2014 2014 12
FRS 101 FRS 101

15 — 15 12 — 12
1 — 1 2 — 2
16 — 16 14 — 14
A 516,105 (371) 515,734 692,227 1,521 693,748
B 225,854 (14,376) 211,478 219,234 (15,718) 203,516
A 70,212 (11,813) 58,399 77,643 (11,082) 66,561
4,032 — 4,032 3,586 — 3,586
816,203 (26,560) 789,643 992,690 (25,279) 967,411
A (457,164) 703 (456,461)  (641,404) (9)  (641,413)

B/C  (190,211) 17,025  (173,186)  (157,369) 18,232 (139,137)
A (133,350) 11,481  (121,869)  (155,474) 9,570  (145,904)

(780,725) 29,209  (751,516)  (954,247) 27,793 (926,454)

35,478 2,649 38,127 38,443 2,514 40,957
35,494 2,649 38,143 38,457 2,514 40,971

c — (2,649) (2,649) — (2,514) (2,514)
(15,332) — (15,332)  (16,700) — (16,700)
(15,332) (2,649)  (17,981)  (16,700) (2,514)  (19,214)

18) — (18) an — an

20,144 — 20,144 21,740 — 21,740

156 — 156 257 — 257

20,300 — 20,300 21,997 — 21,997
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533 — 533 533 — 533
2,863 — 2,863 2,863 — 2,863
( ) 17 — 17 17 — 17
16,887 — 16,887 18,584 — 18,584
20,300 — 20,300 21,997 — 21,997
FRS 101
FRS 101
( )
2014 12
FRS 101
D 5,899 531 6,430
D (3,624) (531) (4,155)
2,275 — 2,275
(222) — (222)
E 28 1) 7
2,081 1) 2,060
E (456) 4 (452)
1,625 an 1,608
E 90 21 111
E (18) ) 2)
( ) 72 17 89
1,697 — 1,697
FRS 101
A. FRS 101
2015
DVP
GS GAAP
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2014 371 703
118.1 114.8
2014 12 15.2
110.8 95.7

B.IAS 32 (1AS 32 )
IAS 32 ( IAS 32 )
GAAP FRS 101

2014 143.8

2014 12 157.2
C.

2014 26.5

2014 12 25.1
D (

) 1AS IAS 18
2014
531
E.IAS 19 (2011 ) 1AS 19 (2011 ) ( IAS 19
) GAAP
1AS

19

IAS 19 2014 21

1AS

2014 12
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IAS 32
FRS 101
IFRS 13
( )
2014 53.6
2014 12 73.6

IAS 12

IAS 17

FRS 101 IFRS IFRS 13
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
590 452
689 939
1,279 1,391
2,549 2,387
2,353 1,893
4,902 4,280
360 266
475 493
7,016 6,430
( )
2015 12 2014 12
1,279 1,391
812 828
467 563
4,902 4,280
2,644 2,761
2,258 1,519
1 7,016 6,430
2 4,077 4,155
2,939 2,275
2015 2014 835
759
2015 2014
579 458 2015

2014 42 108

231/337



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
( )
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5,252 4,827
1,010 928
754 675
7,016 6,430
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
2,834 3,042
550 531
95 100
88 85
4 4
! 173 180
2 147 120
8 186 93
1,243 1,113
4,077 4,155
2015 2014 81
87 2015 2014 16
12
2015 2014
2015
2014 0.6
2015 2014 0.4 0.5
( )
2015 12 2014 12
8 6
8 6
( )
2015 12 2014 12
3 2
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2006
( sl
)2008 /410
(
)
( )
2015 12 2014 12
721 696
1,407 1,400
146 111
593 534
2,755 2,503
5,622 5,244
527 338
6,149 5,582
2015 12 2014 12 6,458 5,730
( )
2015 12 2014 12
2,454 2,621
295 314
62 61
23 46
1 2,834 3,042
2015 2014 83
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2015 2014
285 222 20
10
( )
65
2008 2015
2016 31
24
UK ( )
2012
12 31 2015 12 31 2015 12
28 69
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
3.80 3.80
4.00 4.00
RPI 3.40 3.30
CPI 2.40 2.30
(1996 11 30 ) 3.20 3.10
(1996 11 30 ) 2.40 2.30
(2009 ) 2.40 2.30
s1
2002 CM12012
( )
2015 12 2014 12
65 65
24.0 23.9
25.3 25.2
45 65
25.3 25.3
26.8 26.7
( )
2015 12 2014 12
47 46
(24) —
) )
16 39
(28) (319)
(13) (19)
44 227
/C ) 3 (111)
/C ) 19 72)
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)

2015 12

1,817 (1,560) 257

— @7 “n

— 24 24

68 (61) 7

28 — 28

— 13 13

— (44) 44)

37 — 37

(10) 10 —

/¢ ) (103) 89 14)

12 31 1,837 (1,576) 261
2014 12

1,509 (1,353) 156

— (46) (46)

67 (60) 7

319 — 319

— 19 19

— (227) 27)

44 — 44

© 9 —

/¢ ) (113) 98 (15)

12 31 1,817 (1,560) 257

237/337



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Ogoooood
65 ( ) 35
( )
( )
2015 12
873 — 873
534 — 534
250 — 250
56 — 56
73 51 124
1,786 51 1,837
2014 12
992 — 992
478 — 478
206 — 206
118 — 118
— 23 23
1,794 23 1,817
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
2015 12
0.25 (123) (7.8) 142 9.0

0.25 112 7.1 (105) 6.7)
54 3.4 (52) (3.3)

2014 12

0.25 124) (7.9) 143 9.2

0.25 117 7.5 (109) (7.0)
53 3.4 (51) (3.3)
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11
RSU 2015
( 2015  SIP )
( GSI )
2015 2014 630 529
2015  SIP GSI RSU
RSU

RSU RSU

240/337



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

10
2015 12 2006
2008
( ) ( ) ( )
75.00 89.99 2,154,052 78.78 3.00
90.00 119.99 — — —
120.00 134.99 — — —
135.00 194.99 — — —
195.00 209.99 847,310 202.40 1.51
2015 12 3,001,362 113.68 2.58
75.00 89.99 3,383,700 78.78 4.00
90.00 119.99 — — —
120.00 134.99 271,481 131.64 0.92
135.00 194.99 — — —
195.00 209.99 847,310 202.40 2.51
2014 12 4,502,491 105.23 3.53
2015 2014
196.28 169.82
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
372 243
18 39
77 62
467 344
54 101
(155) —
(13) 7
(114) 108
353 452
(i)2016
( )2020
20.25 (2014 21.5 )
( )
2015 12 2014 12
2,661 2,060
539 443
® 7
©) (21)
(29) (29)
8 12
®3) (6)
5 46
(155) —
353 452




13

12 31

12 31

2015 12
2014 12

14

12 31

12 31

2015 12
2014 12
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ooooooo
)
24 10 34
1 2 3
— €)) €))
25 11 36
17 5 22
2 2 4
— 1) 1)
19 6 25
6 5 11
7 5 12
)
— 2 2
— €)) €))
— 1 1
— 1 1
— 2 2
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2015 12
( )
) 100 250
8 100 * *
*
15
27
( )
2015 12 2014 12
454 1,225
16,654 16,910
1,094 2,004
2,128 1,689
10,240 12,236
36,358 32,187
9 —
66,937 66,251
321,915 367,156
48,094 64,636
113,522 112,717
12,926 15,964
52,660 67,024
549,117 627,497
616,054 693,748
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2015 12

2015 12

2014 12

2014 12
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( )
2015 12 2014 12

7,433 10,831
— 6
2,417 2,298
14,834 14,515
24,684 27,650
312,222 359,428
43,944 59,748
112,892 113,264
12,897 15,892
49,015 65,431
530,970 613,763
555,654 641,413

( )

2015 12 2014 12
110,318 116,140
53,385 87,376
163,703 203,516
918.4 1,349.2
18.7 21.5
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
53,047 56,392
6,768 9,641
569 454
44 35
60 39
60,488 66,561
2015 12 2014
598.7 660.6
501
( )
2015 12 2014 12
3 3
(68) 1)
634 502
569 454
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12

12

31

31

31

31
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1,025.6
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2015 12 2014 12

2015 12
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
3 3
3 3
(€D (D)
(18) 2
1 (22)
(68) (CD)
502 612
132 (110)
634 502
454 584
114 (108)
1 (22)
569 454
( )
2015 12 2014 12
38,578 44,287
77,807 94,850
116,385 139,137
3,502 2,514
3,502 2,514
119,887 141,651
826.7 1,031.5
2014 12 825.5
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
63 111
4 9
13,850 15,545
54,544 61,419
27,195 49,464
18,316 17,076
1 834 1,077
134 78
230 250
1,130 875
2 116,300 145,904
100 —
8,958 6,458
7,896 6,387
14,316 2,702
344 379
684 774
3 32,298 16,700
148,598 162,604
2 2015 12 2014 12 1,159.4 1,455.8
2015 12 2014 12 364 328
3 2015 12 2014 12

248/337




EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
( )
2015 12 2014 12
1,778 3,807
9,722 9,136
493 672
1 1,857 1,930
13,850 15,545
671 471
5,317 3,076
1,148 1,190
1 760 1,650
7,896 6,387
21,746 21,932
( )
2015 12 2014 12
2,554 1,637
2,074 3,059
3,268 1,691
7,896 6,387
2021 2046
PRA )
PRA
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2015
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2015 29
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ooooooo
( )
2015
17
8
Q)
an
)
IAS 37
( )
533,447,150 533
48,517,011 49
581,964,161 582
GSI
36,088,475 GSGUK  42.95
1,513,911,525 1,550,000,000
12,428,536 GSGUK  40.23
487,571,464 500,000,000
( )
2015 12 2014 12
9,974 3,586
4 ()
9,970 3,577
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OooooOodd
)
2015 12 2014 12
2,661 2,060
4 4
— 1
16 39
433 208
502 770
1 (10)
285 222
3,902 3,294
77,694 (178,014)
39,813 7,962
6,194 (8,390)
123,701 (178,442)
(85,759) 184,952
(21,764) (34,184)
(17,137) 24,502
an 10
(124,677) 175,280
(37) (44)
2,889 88
2015 12 2014 12 21.6
2015 12 2014 12 22.2
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
29,276 34,572
11,483 14,760
4,137 4,001
44,896 53,333
)
( )
2015 12 2014 12
95 98
347 385
16 80
458 563
2015 12
70 90
2015 12

2011
GSI

252/337



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

(
( ) IKB AG )
( )
GSI 2014 21
Gsl
10
2014 12
GSI 2015 11 25
2008
GSI 2013
2014 29
2014 24
2014 10 2015 26
2015
GSI 2014 23
2016
GSI 2014 11 25
2015 27

2015 21
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)
27
( )
2015 12
616,054 — — 616,054
— 132,933 30,770 163,703
— 1,368 58,506 59,874
— — 9,974 9,974
616,054 134,301 99,250 849,605
2014 12
693,748 — — 693,748
= 158,809 44,707 203,516
— 1,780 64,280 66,060
_ — 3,586 3,586
693,748 160,589 112,573 966,910
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2015 12
555,654 — — 555,654
— 72,913 43,472 116,385
— 14,194 101,742 115,936
555,654 87,107 145,214 787,975
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 7,446 24,852 32,298
— 10,948 24,852 35,800
555,654 98,055 170,066 823,775
2014 12
641,413 — — 641,413
— 85,846 53,291 139,137
— 16,149 129,427 145,576
641,413 101,995 182,718 926,126
— 1,928 586 2,514
— 5,899 10,801 16,700
— 7,827 11,387 19,214
641,413 109,822 194,105 945,340
( ( ) )
FRS 101
GS
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iTraxx CDX LCDX(
)
( )
( )
iTraxx CDX LCDX
(
)
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2015 12 2014 12 12.4
2015 12 2014 12
(
2015 12 2014 12
3.2 19.7 1.9 17.0
6.2 ) 3.8 )
18.0 70.0 57.1 57.1
(2015 12 2014 12 (33.7 ) G7.1 )
642 0.7 11.8 1.3 12.7
758 ) (5.4 ) G.7)
2.9 14.3 1.6 24.4
6.7 ) (5.5 )
0.0 70.0 0.0 70.0
(2015 12 2014 12 (58.8 ) (37.4 )
444 1.9 5.5 0.7 6.4
10.3 ) (3.1 ) (3.0 )
(
)
(2015 12 2014 12 0.9 14.5 0.9 6.3
152 2.4 ) 1.5 )
187 ) / 8.6 13.3 15.8 15.8
(1.4 ) (15.8 )
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ooooOoog
2015 12 2014 12 21.4 31.2
2015 12 2014 12
136 242
( / )
2015 12 2014 12
(2015 12 2014 12
22.8
33.6 )
46 99 57 99
(68 /66 ) @7 /75 )
(bps) 952bps (bps) 700bps
(174bps/131bps) (143bps/107bps)
88 84
(24 /20 (35 /16
) )
55 14 60
(34 /40 ) (30 /25 )
(2015 12 2014 12
(276) (65) 94 (34) 91
(484) ) (38 /45 ) (46 /42 )
14 59 68
(26 /26 ) (1 /21 )
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2015 12 2014 12
2015 12 2014 12
2015 12 2014 12
( )
2015 12 ( )
48,198 17,501 1,238 66,937
14 544,300 4,803 549,117
48,212 561,801 6,041 616,054
— 132,933 — 132,933
— 1,368 — 1,368
48,212 696,102 6,041 750,355
21,038 3,584 62 24,684
28 528,277 2,665 530,970
21,066 531,861 2,727 555,654
— 72,842 71 72,913
— 10,715 3,479 14,194
21,066 615,418 6,277 642,761
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 5,322 2,124 7,446
— 8,824 2,124 10,948
21,066 624,242 8,401 653,709
(14) 16,023 2,138 18,147
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( )
2014 12 ( )
40,292 23,983 1,976 66,251
17 621,663 5,817 627,497
40,309 645,646 7,793 693,748
— 158,809 — 158,809
— 1,780 — 1,780
40,309 806,235 7,793 854,337
22,740 4,889 21 27,650
34 611,032 2,697 613,763
22,774 615,921 2,718 641,413
— 85,722 124 85,846
— 13,412 2,737 16,149
22,774 715,055 5,579 743,408
— 1,928 — 1,928
— 5,056 843 5,899
— 6,984 843 7,827
22,774 722,039 6,422 751,235
Q@n 10,631 3,120 13,734

2015 2014
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( )
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C )
2015 12

7,793 646 680 401)  (1,399) 934 (2,212) 6,041

7,793 646 680 (401)  (1,399) 934  (2,212) 6,041
(2,718) ®) 99 (383) 324 (424) 383 (2,727)
(124) 0} — — 55 — — 1)
(3,580) 538 —  (4,811) 2,422 (549) 377 (5,603)
(6,422) 528 99  (5,194) 2,801 (973) 760 (8,401)

2014 12

8,055 2,509 1,700 (765)  (3,089) 712 (1,329) 7,793

180 — — — — — (180) _

8,235 2,509 1,700 (765)  (3,089) 712 (1,509) 7,793
(3,835) (423) ) (655) 1,173 (245) 1,268 (2,718)
(1,010) — — — 886 — — (124)
(2.668) 132 @ (2,954) 1,773 447) 586 (3,580)
(7,513) (291) (3) (3.609) 3,832 (692) 1,854 (6,422)
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2015 12
2014 12
2015 12
2014 12 261 179 238
146
( )
( )
( )
2015 12 2014 12
136 80
93 118
(90) (62)

12 31 139 136
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1,125.7
2015 12 2014 12
248.5 113.9
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2
625 2014
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489
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992.5
1,827.2
( )
2015 12 2014 12
6,778 6,015
1,804 2,510
235 22
2,039 2,532
1,050 1,265
751 852
1,801 2,117
238 415
7,016 6,430
532 657
2015
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Ogoooood
( )
/
2015 12
555,654 — — — — — 555,654
60,086 41,900 3,378 11,021 — — 116,385
86,050 2,267 688 27,367 — — 116,372
701,790 44,167 4,066 38,388 — — 788,411
_ _ — — 3,413 89 3,502
— 1 6 19 21,111 12,591 33,728
— 1 6 19 24,524 12,680 37,230
701,790 44,168 4,072 38,407 24,524 12,680 825,641
— 29,276 — — — — 29,276
— 8 16 72 347 15 458
4,137 — — — — — 4,137
4,137 29,284 16 72 347 15 33,871
705,927 73,452 4,088 38,479 24,871 12,695 859,512
2014 12
641,413 — — — — — 641,413
74,056 49,908 5,273 9,900 — — 139,137
91,919 3,626 439 50,068 — — 146,052
807,388 53,534 5,712 59,968 — — 926,602
— _ — — 2,418 96 2,514
— 2 4 26 9,110 8,675 17,817
— 2 4 26 11,528 8,771 20,331
807,388 53,536 5,716 59,994 11,528 8,771 946,933
— 34,572 — — — — 34,572
— 8 16 74 385 80 563
4,001 — — — — — 4,001
4,001 34,580 16 74 385 80 39,136
811,389 88,116 5,732 60,068 11,913 8,851 986,069
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
379,594 369,545
307,759 294,994
( )
2015 12 2014 12
22,036 24,404
20,146 17,656
2015 12 2014 12 576.4 575.4
2015 12 2014 12 387.1

354.6
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80
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( )
2015 12 2014 12
2) 85
18 (80)
® 5
158
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ooo0000
IAS 39
( )
2015 12 2014 12
221 1,047
10,036 11,095
5,300 6,248
26,625 23,670
42,182 42,060
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( )
2015 12
76 93
99 1,160
175 1,253
175 1,253
@ (101)
@ (101)
@ (101)
2014 12
64 64
120 1,308
184 1,372
184 1,372
@ 92)
@ 92)
@ %2
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/C ) C )
2015 12

2 120

6 150

8 270

8 270

@ 32)

@ 32)

— (&)

@ (33)

2014 12

27 119

66 144

93 263

93 263

2 (D)

2 (31)

— (&)

2 32)

28
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2015 12

1,2

15,662  (11,579) 4,083 1) (726) (1,993) 1,343
608,906  (59,789) 549,117  (474,498)  (42,162)  (11,095) 21,362
624,568  (71,368) 553,200  (474,519)  (42,888)  (13,088) 22,705
191,094  (27,391) 163,703  (48,219) —  (112,475) 3,009
55,187 (6,758) 48,429 (542)  (32,202) (7,900) 7,785
870,849  (105,517) 765,332  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 33,499

84,273 — 84,273 — — — 84,273

955,122  (105,517) 849,605  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 117,772

1,164 (1,164) — — — — —
589,450  (58,480) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
590,614  (59,644) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
150,534  (34,149) 116,385  (48,130) — (52,066) 16,189

67,453 (5,027) 62,426 1)  (42,162) — 20,243

808,601  (98,820) 709,781  (522,649)  (74,365)  (60,683) 52,084

3,502 — 3,502 (89) — (3,343) 70
8,694 (6,697) 1,997 (542) — — 1,455
12,196 (6,697) 5,499 (631) — (3,343) 1,525

820,797  (105,517) 715,280  (523,280)  (74,365)  (64,026) 53,609

108,495 — 108,495 — — — 108,495

929,292  (105,517) 823,775  (523,280)  (74,365)  (64,026) 162,104

83.4 74.9
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( )
2014 12

1,2

17,460  (14,453) 3,007 (161) — — 2,846
759,612  (132,115) 627,497  (549,005)  (42,710)  (10,215) 25,567
777,072 (146,568) 630,504  (549,166)  (42,710)  (10,215) 28,413
219,234 (15,718) 203,516  (88,761) —  (109,488) 5,267

58,046 (9,975) 48,071 (602)  (28,928) (8,903) 9,638

1,054,352  (172,261) 882,091  (638,529)  (71,638) (128,606) 43,318

84,819 — 84,819 — — — 84,819

1,139,171  (172,261) 966,910  (638,529)  (71,638) (128,606) 128,137

744,162  (130,399) 613,763  (549,005)  (28,928)  (16,091) 19,739
744,162 (130,399) 613,763  (549,005)  (28,928)  (16,091) 19,739
164,830  (25,693) 139,137  (88,665) —  (35,933) 14,539
72,453 (8,601) 63,852 (161)  (42,710) — 20,981
981,445  (164,693) 816,752  (637,831)  (71,638)  (52,024) 55,259

2,514 — 2,514 (96) — (2,418) —
9,603 (7.568) 2,035 (602) — — 1,433
12,117 (7,568) 4,549 (698) — (2.,418) 1,433

993,562  (172,261) 821,301  (638,529)  (71,638)  (54,442) 56,692

124,039 — 124,039 — — — 124,039

1,117,601  (172,261) 945,340  (638,529)  (71,638)  (54,442) 180,731

125.2 105.0
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATICHAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY}
Profit and Loss Account

Year Ended Decembaer

3§ in enilions Nege 2015 2014
Mk revenuss & 57,08 58430
Adminisirative gepenses & 4,07 7Y (4, 158)
Oiperating profit 2,818 2278
Interest payabie and smiar charges -] {285) (i)
Mt france incoma 1 r 7
hmmwmmﬂmtmuﬂm 2661 2080
Tax on proft on ordinary actvites | {155 (453
Profit for the finandclal year 52,308 51,608

Mt revanuss and cperating proft of the company are derved from confinuing opsrations in the curment and price years.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

'r'lI_'End-ld Ccembar
£ i milloms Nt NE 2014
Profit for the financisl year § 2,308 & 0,608

Oiher comprehanlve | nooms!loss)

IRiermes Ehat will reot e reclassified subsequently to proft of loss

Actuarial profidiioss) relating to the pension scheme {11] [k} 111
LUK, deksread tax atiribotebde to ®e actuanal profbiloes) 18 1 [Fra]
Other comprehensive Income! [loss) for the Ananclal year, net of fax [Fi] E: -]
Total comprehensive income for the Ninanc sl year 5 2,306 51,897

The accerrpanmying nates sk an inbigral pan of hete Erandial sabements.
53

2771337
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GOLDSLAN S ACHS INT ERMAT 0 NAL (URLIAITED COMPANY)

Balance Sheet
B of Disctmibar
§ b il 1 Hote 205 FiEs
Awed assets
Targble 3530 12 ] 1 1 12
TrivFTm s 14 1 2
12 1%
Durrert e els
Firancial instruments ooebd (rcluder §17 008 sl §24,404 pledged ar colatersl 30 of Decembar 2015 and
Dhiscas embyser 1014, ro e ctiwsely) 15 B16,054 BII 748
Collmeraitiad Do s 18 LR E] 03 510
Dbsors 17 &0, 48 LLEL
Lt n bk and in hand I3 9.974 J560
450,213 T 4011
Creditors: amounts falling dus wit hin one year
Firancial instrumants sobd, but not vee purchared 1% 555 654) B141)
Collateralised dnarsings 19 [116,385) (129,137)
I(eher orediore i §116 300 | (145 5 044
[EEEREERT [ LEESS]
Met currert azselis L] 40087
Tolal assels |55 cumerd labdites B892 4081
Crechiors: amourts falling due after more than orm war
Collmerabized iharaings 19 (2.502) z514)
Ceheer cre diors ) [52.239) {16.700)
[25,200) (192 14)
Prossgions for libilities il = 1T}
[ s FEH 71740
Pargsin fagher 10 Fil 57
et 3 22els including perison sufphas § .95 5 11997
Capital 3 reserves
Called up share capital I i a2 ¥ 533
Shimre e i I BECoUn 4,064 1883
Capital rese v (non -disk butable) 17 i7
Proft 5nd lots secount 20,550 18584
Todsl share holder s Punds § 26,353 $ 11997

The financial satermants were approved by the Board of Direclors on March 14, 2016 and sgned on its behalf by

U !

M. 5. Sherwood
Director

This Bccompanying notes 3re an inde gral par of these Snancal FoRemants,
Companmy nsmb er: G2 52051
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Changes in Equity
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fear Ended December

Called up share capital
_Balance. baginning of year

e — ~
Bolonce endctwer N — ]
Share premium account
Balance. beginning of year 2,863 ZEES
Sharet miued 2,001 -
L L —— L S 2083
Capltal reserve fnon-i striuabie)
Balance, beginning of year 7 17
Balance. snd of year i 17
Profil and loss account
Balance, beginning of ysar 18,584 18 Ay
Profit iz the fnanssl year 3,308 808
Other cormprahseri incomelons) 12) EH
Share-based paymants [T 528
et recle st she bl o, R — —
Halancn end of yaar 0,590 16584
Total shareholder' s funds 526,353 520,997
Mo dividands wird paid i 2015 and 2014,
This Bccompanying rotes & an inbegral part of fvese Inancisl shebements.

35
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Cash Flows

5 in Fndlong Hode 2015 2014
Cash Mows from operating activities

Carth genenated fom cpamtions M um i@
Tacationrecehed 00000000 3 L]
Tavgnn paed 403 L]
He2 cash fomi(osed in) cperating activiies ARG (L]
Cash Mows from investing activities

Payments o acquins bisgble foed aiials 1] [F:]
MNotomhvd b bvwalng wibelos S _m i
Cash Mows from finmncing activities

Reeiph fomissng oednary shavecapl L mem -
Inberast paid on longsterm subordnated loans @#1n {168
Receipts from isswing long-term subordinated loans 2500 -
Mt cash Fromiused in) Enencing edvilies 4333 {166
Med increasedecreass) in cash and cash equivalents BE10 235
Cash and cash equivalents, begening of year 57T 4,004
Foreign exchange losses on cash and cash squicahents [478) (193
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year FE] 53,070 53677

The accompanying notes are an integral part of fwess fnancial stabements.

56
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 1.
General Information

The company B a prvale wnlimited company and s
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office is Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street,
London, EC44 2BB, United Kingdom.

The company's immediate parent undertaking iz Goldman
Sachs Group UK Limited (GSGUR), a company meorporated
and demigiled i England and Wales.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company
of the smallest and largest group for which consolidated
financial statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., a company incorperated m the United States of
Amenca. Coples of its consolidated financial statements, as
well as certain regulatory filings, for example Quarterly Report
on Form 10-0) and Anmul Report on Form 10-K, that pravide
additional mformation about G5 Group and its  business
activities, can be obtained from Investor Relations, 200 West
Street, Mew York, NY 10282, United States of America, GS
Group's  principal  place of  business, or at
www . goldmansachs com/sharcholders’.

Basael Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company 15 included in the comsolidated Fillar 3
disclosures of GSGURK, which are required by the ELT Capital
Requirements Regulation GSGUK s 2015 Pillar 3 disclosures
will be made available in comunction with the publication of
s financial  statements  at  www goldmansachs. com/
disclosres/,

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is included in the consolidated country-by-
coumiry reporting disclosures of GSGUK, which are required
by the Capital Reguirements (Country-by-Country Reporting)
Eegulations 2013, GSGUK’s 2015 coamtry-by-couniry
disclesures will be made available by December 31, 2016 a
www.goldmansachs com/disclosures’.
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MNote 2.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

For all pericds up to and including the vear ended December
2004, the company prepared its fimancial statements in
accordance with the previeus UK. GAAP. From January 1,
2015, the company transitioned from the previous UK, GAAP
to FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework' (FRS 101).
These fGnancial statements are for the Grst [l anmual perod
covered by FRS 101, All periods presented in these financeal
statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101,
The impact on the company™s financial statements as @ result of
adopting FRS 101 15 described in Mote 4.

These hinancial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis, under the historical ¢ost convention (modified
a3 explained in “Pension Arrangements”™ and “Financial Assets
and Financial Liabihnes™ below), and in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006,

The following exemptions from the disclosure requirements of
IFRS as adopted by the EU have been applied in the
preparation of these financial statements in accordance with
FRS 101:

= [FRS 2 “Share-based Payment” paragraph 45(b) and 46 1o
52, These disclosures are provided in the conschdated
financial statements of Group Inc.

# [AS 1| “Presentation of Financial Staements’ paragraph 38
to present comparative information in respect of:

# [AS | "Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraph
THa)(iv): and

« [AS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ paragraph
T3(e).
# [AS | “Presentation of Financial Stalements’ paragraphs
1K E, 16, and 4041,

« JAS B ‘Accounting Policies, Changes i Accounting
Estimates and Errors” paragraphs 30 and 31,

*  1AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures” paragraph 17, and

# IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures’ reguirements to
disclose transactions with companies also wholly owned
within G5 Group.

Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial

statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act

2006 as ns subsidianies are not material for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view.

These financial statements are individual linancial statem énts.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues have been disclosed
instead of twrnover as this reflects more meaningfully the
nature and results of the company’s activities. Met revenues
includes the net profit ansing from iransactions, with both third
parties and affilmtes, in securities, foreign exchange and other
financial mstruments, and fees and commissions. This s
inclusive of associated interest and dividends.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Measured
at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or
despnated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at
fair value with realised and unrealised pains and losses as well
as assockted interest and dividend mcome and expenses
included 1n net revenues. Financial assets are marked to bid
prices and financial habaities are marked to offer pnces. Fair
value measurements do not include transaction costs.

Mon-denvative [inancml mstruments owned and  financial
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (Le., cash instruments)
are recoprised wsing  settlement date  accounting,  See
“Firmneial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Recognition and
Derecognition”™ below for further detals. Unrealised gains and
losses related to the change in far value of these instruments
between trade date and settlement date are recognised within
et TEVEnues.

Investment Banking

Fees from financial advisory engagements and underwriting
revenues are recognised in profit and loss when the relevant
parties are contractually bound and as confract activity
progresses unless the right to consideration does ned arise until
the occurrence of a critical event, in which case revenue 15 not
recognised until that event has occurred.

Expenses associated with such engagements are deferred unnl
the related revenue is recognised or the engagement is
otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with fnancial
advisory engagements are recognised in administrative
expenses, net of client reimbursements, Underwriting revenues
are presented net of related expenses,

Investment Management

Management fees are recognised on an accrueal basis amd are
generally caleulated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset valee. All management
fees are recognized over the period that the related service is
provided,

Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund’s retum
or a percentage of a fund's excess return above a specified
benchmark or other performance target. Incentive fees are
recognised only when all material contingencies have been
resobved.
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Commissions and Fees

Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures
markets, as well as OTC transactions 1s recopnised in net
revenies on the day the trade is executed.

Operating Leases. The company las entered into operating
lease arrangements as the lessee. Leased assels are not
recogrused on the balance sheet. Costs in respect of operatng
leases, adjusted for any incentives granted by the lessor, are
charged on a .-maigl'rt-lzinc basis over the lease term and
ineluded wathin administrative expenses in the profit and loss
Acooun.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Short-term emplovee
benefits, such as wapes and salaries, are measured on an
undizcounted basziz and accrued as an expense over the period
in which the employee renders the service 10 the company.
Provision 15 made for discretwonary vear-end compensation
whether to be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past peactice, a constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

Share-Based Payments. Group Ine. msues awards in the
form of restricted stock units (RSUs) and stock options 1o the
company's employees for services rendered to the company.
Awards are classified as equity settled and bence the cost of
share-based transactions with employees 15 measured based on
the grant-date fair value of the sward. Share-based awards that
do not require future service (e, vested awards, including
awards gramed 1o retirement ¢ligible emplovess) are expensed
immediately. Share-based awards that require future service
are amomized over the relevant service penod, Expected
forfertures are included in determimng share-based emplovee
compensalion expense.

Group Ine. settles equity awards through the delivery of s
ordinary shares. Group Inc. pays cash dividend equivalents on
outstanding  RSUs. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Inc. under which it 13
committed 0 pav 1o Group Inc. the grani-date far value as
well as subsequent movements in fair value of these awards o
Giroup Inc. at the time of delivery to its employees,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Dividends. Final equity dividends are recogmised as a liabality
and deducted from equity m the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company’s shareholder. Interim eguity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid.

Pension Arrangements. The company is a sponsor of a
defined contribution pension plan and a hybrid pension plan
for the benefit of certain emplovees. The hybrid pension plan
has both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
comribution section. These are accounted for as follows:

* For the defined contribution pension plan and the defined
contribution section of the hybnd pension plan, the
contributions pavable for the vear are charped 10 operating
profit  Dnfferences between contributions payable for the
vear and contributions actually paid are shown as either
aceruals or prepavments on the balance sheet.

* For the Plan, the amounts charged to operating profit are
the current service costs, any past service costs and any
gams or kosses on settlements and curtailments. Thesse
amounts are included in staff costs. The net imterest is
included in net fmance income, Actuarial gains and losses
are recognised immediately in the statememt of other
comprehensive income. Plan assets are measured at fair
value and Plan liabilities are measured on an actuanal basis
wing the projected unit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the current rate of retun on a high-guality
corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the Plan
lighilities. Full actuarial valuations are obtained at least
wriennially and wpdated an each balance sheet date. Any
surplus or deficit of Plan assets over Plan lmbilities s
recognised on the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or
Tiability (deficith.
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Tangible Fixed Assets. Tangble fixed assets are stated at
cost less  accumulated  depreciation  and  provision  for
impairment. Fixures, fittings and equpment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated weful lives, which
is between 3 to 7 wears. Depreciation 15 included in
admirustrative expenses.

Leaschold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of
the useful economic life of the asset or the remaining life of the
lease when the asset s brought into use. Depreciation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis.

Fixed Asset Investments. Ficed assel investments are
stated at cost or amortised cost, as applicable, less proviston for
impairment.  Amortisation 18 included in administrative
expenses,

Cash at Bank and In Hand. Cash at bank and in hand is
highly liquid evernight deposits beld in the ordinary course of
business.

Foreign Currencies. The company’s [inancial statements
are presemted in US. dollars, which 15 also the company's
functional currency,

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are wranslated
mto U5, dollars at rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction  occurred.  Monetary  assets  oand  labalities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated o US
dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Foreign exchange gains and bosses are recognized in operating
prafat
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Recognition and Derecognition

Mon=derivative financial instruments owned and financial
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (1.e., cash instruments)
purchased or sold i regular way transactions are recognised
and derecognised using settlement date accounting,

Crther financial assets and financial liabilities. are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contraciual provisions
of the instrument. They are de-recopnised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if the
company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risk and rewards of ownership of that financil asser A
financial hability 15 derecogmised only when it 15 extinguished
(re., when the obligation specified in the contract 15 discharged
or cancelled or expires).

Classification and Measurement
The company classifies its financial assets and financial
liabalities mto the below catepornes. The clasafication, which 15
determined at initial recognition, depends on the purpose for
which they were acquired or originated

+ Financial assets and financial liabilities classified
as held for trading. Financial assets and financial
liahilities classified as held for trading nclede firancial
instrumants owned and financial instruments sold, bt ot
vet purchased. Fmancial instruments owned and financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased include cash
nstruments and derivative nstruments. Both are imatially
recognised at fair value with transaction costs expensed in
profit or loss, Such financial mstruments are carmied in the
balance sheet ot fair vabee and all subsequent gains or
losses are recognised in net revenues.

The directors are of the opinien that it would not be
appropriste 1o classily them as currenl assel investments of
i provide an amalysis of such sccunties between those
Tisted andd unlisted,
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= Financial assets and financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The
company designates certain of its other financial assets and
financial habiities st farr value through profit or loss.
Firancial assets and financial habilities designated at far
vilue through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value with transaction costs expensed in profit or loss. They
are measured m the balance sheet at far value and all
subsequent gains or bosses are recognised in net revenues.
The primary reasons for designating such financial assets
amnd financial liabilitses at fair value through profit or loss
are;

s The group of fimancial assets, financial habilives or
both 15 managed and ils performance evaluated ona fair
value basis; and

¢ To eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement or
recoprition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilitics or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets and financial lishilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss include:

s Resale apreements and substantially all repurchase
agrecments;

* Securities borrowed and loaned within Fixed Income,
Currency and Commaodities Client Execution;

« Substantially all secured debt secunities 1ssued, which
includes cenain hybrid firancial  instruments  and
transfers of assels accounted for as Anancings rather
than =ales;

« Certain unsecured debt secunties issued, including
certain hybnd mancial instruments; and

s Certain debtors, including transfers of assets accounted
for as secured loans rather than purchases,

Hybnd financial instruments are nstruments that contan
bifurcatable embedded derivatives. If the company elects to
bifurcate the embedded dervative from the associated debt,
the derivative is aceounted for at fair valee and the host
contract is accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portien of any fair value hedges. I the company
does not elect to bafurcate, the entire hybnd [inancial
mstrument is designated at fair value through profit or loss,

These financial assets and financial labilities at fur value
are generally valued based on discounted cash flow
techniques, which incorporate mputs with reasonable levels
of price transparency, and are generally classified as level 2
becawse the inputs are observable. Valuation adjustments
may be made for liguidity and for counterparty and G3
Giroup's eredit quality.

284/337

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Loans and receivables; and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost. Loans and recemvables
are mnon-derivative fimancial  assets with  fixed or
determinable payments that are nod quoted in an active
market. They melude certain collateralised agreements,
substantially all debtors and cash at bank and m hand. Such
financial assets are imitially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortsed
cost using the effective interest method (see below).
Finance revenwe is recorded innet revenues,

Financial liabilities measured at amorised cost include
certain collateralised financings and substantially all other
creditors. Such Onancial Liabilities are imatially recognised
at fair value plus transactions costs and subsequently
measired a1 amortised cost using the effective interest
method (see below), Finance costs, including discounts
allowed on 1ssue, are recorded i net revenwes with the
exception of imerest on long-term subordinated loans,
which is recorded in imterest pavable and similar charges.

The effective interest method 15 a8 method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial lability (or
a group of Onancial assets or Onancial labilities) and of
allocating the interest income of interest expense over the
relevant pertod. The effective interest rate s the rate that
exactly discoumts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrving amount of the Gnancial asset or financial
lability. When caleulating the effective interest rate, the
company estimates cash flows consudering all contractual
terms of the financial asset or fnancial labiliny bu does
ot consider future credit losses. The calculation includes
all fees and points paid or received that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate, ransaction costs, and all other
premiums or discounts,

The company assesses its loans amd receivables at each
balance sheet date for any  objective evidence of
impairment.  [f there 15 objective evidence that an
impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the Onancial asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s onginal
effective interest rate. The amount of the loss is included
within net revenues, if rading related, or in administrative
expenses if non-trading refated

l
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Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Fimancial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements. A
financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or ancther financial asset to ancther entity; or i
exchange fnancial assets or Gnancil liabilities with another
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable o the
entity. Am equity investment 1s any contract that evidences a
resicheal interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liabilines, Instruments are evaluated o determine if they
contain both hability and equity components. The mtal
carrving amount of a compound fimancial instrument is
allocated first 10 the lhability component, measured at far
value, and the equity 15 assigned the residual amount.

Offsefting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Fimancial assets and financial labilities are offset and the net
amount presented in the balance sheetl where there 1s:

» Cumently a legally enforceable nght to set-off the
recognised amounts, and

® [Infent to seftle on a net basis or 1o realise the asset and
settle the lability simultanecusly.

Where these conditions are not mel. financial assets and
financial habilites are presented on a gross basis on the
balance sheet.

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 27 for details about the fair valee measurement of the
company's financial assets and fnancial habilites.

Hedge Accounting

The company applies hedpe accounting for cenain interest rate
swaps used to manage the interest rate exposure of certain
fixed-rate unsecured long-term and shori-term borowings. Te
qualify for hedge accounting, the denivative hedge must be
highly effective at reducing the nsk from the exposure being
hedged. Additionally, the company must formally decument
the hedging relationship &t inception and test the hedging
relationship to ensure the denvative hedge continues to be
highly effective aver the life of the hedging relationship.

Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Collateralised agreements  nclude  resale
agreements and securities borrowed. Collateralised financings
include repurchase agreements and secunties loaned, See
“Classification and Measurement” above for details on the
classification and mezsurement of these instruments. Collateral
received or posted can be in the form of cash or securities,
Cash collateral is recognised/derecognised when received/pasd.
Collateral posted by the company in the form of securities is
not derecognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral
received in the form of secunties is not recognised on the
balance sheet. If collateral received iz subsequently sold, the
obligation to return the collateral and the cash received are
recogmsed on balance sheet.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Current and Deferred Taxation. The tax expense for the
period comprises current and deferred taxation. Tax s
recognised in the profit and loss account, excepd to the extent it
relates to sems recognised in the statement of other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the company operates and generates taxable income.
Dieferred tax is recognised in respect of all timmg differences
that have originated, but not reversed at the balance sheet date,
where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will
result inan obligation to pay more tax or a nght to pay less tax
in the future with the following exceptions:

¢ Deferred tax assets are recognised only 1o the extent that
the directors consider that 1 15 more hikely than net that
there will be sutable taxable profits from which the future
reversal of the underlving uming differences can be
deducted.

¢ Deferred tax is measwred on an undiscounted basis at the
tax rates that are expectad 1o apply in the periods in which
uming differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the batance sheet date.

Deferred tax 15 recogrised m the profit and loss account or
directly in the statement of other comprehensive mcome
according to where the associated gain or loss, to which the
deferred tax is attnbaable, 15 recognised.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, Provisions are recognised in the fimancial statements
when it 15 probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will
be required to seftle a present {legal or constructive) ohligation,
which has anisen as a result of past events, and for which a
rehiable estimate can be misde of the amount of the obligation.
Legal ohligations that may arise as a result of proposed new
laws are recogmised as obligations only when the legislation is
virtually certain 1o be enacted as dralied,

A contingent Lability 15 a possible obligation that arses rom
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
oCeUITEnce of non-ocewrrence of one or more uncertain fubure
events not wholly within the control of the company or a
present obligation that anses from past events but i3 not
recognised because either an cwiflow of economic benefits is
nol probable or the amount of the obligation cannat be reliably
measured.

A contingent asset 15 @ possible asset that anses from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
ooourmence of non-ocewrrence of one or more uncertaimn future
events not wholly within the control of the COMPANY.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets ane not recogrised
i the financial statements. However, disclosure 15 made unless
the probability of settlement 1= remate.
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MNote 3.
Critical  Accounting  Estimates  and
Judgements

The preparation of [nancial stalements regquires managemeant
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recognised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimation mears that actwal outeomes could differ from those
cstimates, The following judgements have had the most
significant effect on amoumis recognised in the financal
slalements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the company’s [nancial assets and DOnancial
liabihties mclude sigrficant unobservable inputs (e, level 3).
See Mote 27 for information about the carrying value, valuation
technigues and significant inputs of these instrumenits

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings

The company estimates and provides for potential losses that
may arise oul of htigation amd regulatory proceedings 1o the
extent that such losses are probable and can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgement iz required in making these
estimates and the company”s final habilities may ulimately be
matenally different. See MNotes 21 and 25 for further
information abowt the company’s provisions for liabilities and
legal proceedings that the company is invelved in, for which it
i5 not practicable o estimate an impact, respectively.

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan habilities. are
determined using actuarial valuations, This iwalves making
assumplions aboul discount rales, femere salary indreases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due (o the
complexity of the valuation, such estimates are subject to
significant uncertainty,

MNote 4.
First-Time Adoption of FRS 101

As set out in MNote 2, these financial statements are for the first
full annwal peried covered by FRS 101,

The accounting policies set out in MNote 2 have been used in the
preparation of all periods in these financial statzments,

The following describes the impact to the company’s financial
statements as a result of adepting FRS 101 and consequential

changes o accounting policies.

286/337

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Reconciliation of Equity

There was no impact on the company’s equity as a result of
adopting FRS 101, The table below presents a comparison of
the company s balance sheet under the previous UK. GAAP
and FRS 101 a3 of January 1, 2014 (the company’s opening

balance sheet) and December
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Reconciliation Nofes™ below for an explamation of each

transition adjustment.
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As of larwary 1, 2014 A5 of Cecember 2014
Previous  Adjstmants Prossious. Adjustmisnts
§ in milions Hote LLE. GAAP  on bansiion FRE 101 LK. GAAP on bransfion FRS 101
Fized assots
Tengiessets % % % - 8§ 15 5 w5 - 3 m
Irvestments 1 - 1 2 - 2
Currend assels
Finamcial instnoments owned ) 516,108 A7) 516, T [ rderyd 1,821 R, a8
Colatoralisied agradmanis B 225854 (14.378) 1.4 219,234 {15, 718) 3,518
DA A Mz (11813 £8 130 T4 {11,082 25 561
Cash ot bank and s hand 4,032 - 4,002 3585 - 3,585
B16,203 (25,560 TES, 543 552, 850 {25,275) 5T, 411
Crdibara! amound Palling due within aie year
Finamcial instraments sold, but not yet purchased A (457,154} L] = (541,413}
Colmaraised frnancings (12 (1902 1705 BB (1137
Crhar credion A (1333500 11,481 8,570 (145904
(TEO.725) T80 27,783 [F28. 454}
Mt cuEment assisty 35478 2849 2514 40,957
Tatal assets less curment Nabilties 35,484 2648 2514 40,871
Creditors: amounds falling due afier meore than one year
Collmaraived Fransing c - 12,849 12/845) - {2.514) (2514}
Cther credion (15,335 = (15,338 [18.70Mm = (16,7008
(15,338 12845) (17,881) (18,70 12,514) (18,214}
Provilend fofr llabiites 18y = {18 (173 = (17}
Mot st ccchuingperlon e 00 M4 - 0 0t 0 e - S
Pansion swplus 158 - 158 257 - 287
Ned assets including pension sumplus 5 20300 3 = 5 20.300 3 2.587 5 = 5 20.987
Capital and reserves
Called up share capidal 1 5% £ - 5 255 5 (5] 5 - 5 f5x]
Share premium etcount 2,863 - 85 2883 - 2863
Capdal rssevs (non-daributabla) 17 - i7 i7 - 7
Profit and ks seooant 16,887 = 16, 887 18,504 - 10504
Total sharehodder' s funds 5 20,300 5 - § 20300 § .47 5 - § 21087
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income

The table below presents a companson of the company’s total
comprehensive income under the previous UK, GAAP and
FES 101, See “FRS 101 Reconciliation MNotes™ below for an
explanation of each transition adjustment,

‘Yoar Ended Decombs 2014
Pravious  Adustnents

5 » milioni Hote LILE GAAP &4 FRE 101
Bot revanuss 5] 56,850 EEET 56,430
Adminibative svpeeses D (BE34 (531} (4,155)
Operatingpeoft S - RIS
Infewrest payabie and

el charges [Zzz) = (223
Mt fnance incoms E Fill 21y 7
Predit on ordinary

activities before Laxaticn oz My 2060
Tix on proft on SEnERy

actiiss E 455} 4 (4521
Prodit for the Nnancial year 51,825 5 (17 51,808
Other comprehensive Income
Rems that will not be

reclassified subsequentty

o predit of loss
Adtuarial prof relating o
___hu pension scheme £ & mo . m
LLE, duferred lax alirbutalls

0 the astuaral prale E (18 b 122
Omer comprehensive

Ineims for e financ s

year, net of tax 72 17 aa
Totad comprehansive

Incoinme for e

Nnancial year 59,887 5 = 51,857

FRS 101 Reconciliation Motes

A. Change From Trade Date to Settlement Date
Accounting. Following a detailed review of its accounting
policies on transition to FRS 101, the company has changed its
accounting policy for regular-way purchases and sales of held
for rading non-derivative imancial instruments from trade date
1o setlement date accounting. Under the previous UK. GAAP
and financial satements prepared for mterim periods i 2015,
regular-way purchases and sales of held for trading non-
denvative financial instruments were recorded on a trade date
basis.
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The company believes that recogmisimg and derecognising held
for trading non-denvative financial instruments on settlement
date results in a more relevant and reliable presentation of its
financial position. In particular:

# It climinates the recognition of wnsettled receivable and
payable balamces. This results i a more appropriate
representagtion of the settlement nsk inherent in these
balances which is minimal due to the delivery va. pavment
seitlement mechanics, which substantially eliminate credit
risk for the majonty of regular-way trades; and

# This is more consistent with the way these balances are
viewed by management and results in more similar balance
sheet presentation to the GS Group's U5, GAAP hinancial
statements.

The change in accounting pelicy 1o recognise and derecognise
these financial instruments on a setlement date basiz did no
change the amount or timing of gains and losses recognised in
the profit or loss account for these instruments because
movements i fair valwe are still recorded between the trade
date and settlement date. The impact of this change is:

s As of January 1, 2014, financial instruments owned and
financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased decreased
by 5371 million and 3703 million, respectively. Debtors
and other creditors decreased by 1181 billien and $11.48
ballkon, respectively.

» Az of December 2014, financial instruments owned and
financial mstruments sold, but aot vet purchased mcreased
by 51.52 hillion and 3% million, respectively. Debtors and
other creditors decreased by 311,08 bellion and 3957
billion, respectively.

B. Adoption of IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments:
Presentation’. The company has adopted 1AS 32 *Financial
Instruments:  Presentation” (IAS  32),  which  includes
‘Offsetting  Financial Assets  and  Financial  Liabilities
(Amendments to TAS 32). This amendment included
additional guidance nod browsght inte the previows UK. GAAP,
which clarifies the meaning of ‘currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off and that some gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent o net settlement. This
resulted in the company offsetting collateralised agreements
with collateralised financings under FRS 101, which were
previously presented as gross under the previcas UK, GAAP,
The impact of this change is:

® Az of January 1, 20014, collateralised agreements and
collateralised financings decreased by 514,38 hallion

e As of December 2014, collaterahsed agreements and
collateralised financings decreased by 515.72 billion
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C. Change in Presentation of Collateralised
Financings. The company has revised its presentation of
collateralised fimancings for instruments that have a contractual
maturity of greater than one vear to include them in creditors:
amocunts falling due after more than one year, which better
reflects the inherent nature of these balances. Previously, the
company included such instruments i creditors: amounts
falling due within ane year. The impact of this change 1s:

* As of Janwary 1. 2014, crediters: amounts falling due
within one vear decreased by 5265 hillion, with a
comesponding increase in creditors: amounts fallmg due
affer more than one year,

o As of December 20014, creditors: amounts falling due
within one year decreased by 3251 hillion, with a
comesponding increase in creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year.

D. Change in Presentation of Market-Making-Related
Costs. The company has revised i1s presentation of market-
making-related costs (Le., brokerage, clearing, exchange and
distribution  fees) to include them within  administrative
expenses as permifted by TAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” and [AS 18 “Revenue’, which better reflects the
inherent mature of these balances. Freviously, the company
included market-making-related costs within net revenuwes
This resulted in net revenues and sdnmimstrative expenses each
increasing by 3531 million for 2014, with no change to the
operating profit of the company.

E. Adoption of IAS 19 ‘Employese Benefits (amended
2011). The company has adopted [AS 19 "Emplovee Benefits
(amended 200117 (IAS 19), which differs o the previows UK.
GAAP In 15 recopmtion of amounts mn the profl and loss
account and other comprehensive income. Under the previous
UK. GAAP, the net finance income recogrised in the profit
and loss account was the summation of the expected return on
assets in the Plan and interest on Flan liabilities estimated at
the beginning of the vear, Any remeasurements during the year
were recognised 1n other comprehensive meome. Under [AS
19, the expected return on assets in the Plan is replaced by
imerest income, which is instead caleulated by applying the
discount rate to Plan assets at the beginning of the vear. Any
remeasurements during the year are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

As a result of adopting 1AS 19, the company’s net finance
income and tax on profit on ordimary activities for 2014
decreased by 321 million and 34 mallion, respectively. This
was offset by an increase in the company's other
comprehensive income. As a result, there was no impact to
tetal comprehensive income. This adoption had no impact on
the value of the company s pension surplus.

i
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Statements of Cash Flows

The company has adopled IAS 7 *Statement of Cash Flows®,
which resulted n certain presentational changes (o the
company's reconciliation of cash flows from operating
actvities, without any changes to the company s cash and cash
equivalents as of December 2014,

In addition, the adoption of settlement date accounting and 1AS
32, as set out in the “Reconciliation of Equity™ above, also
mmpacted the magnitude of working capital changes in the
company's reconciliation of cash flows from operating
activities without any change to the net cash flows from
operating activilies.

Disclosures

The adeption of FES 101 resulted in the company revising

centan dhisclosures in the notes 1o the Dnancial slatements.

These include:

# Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
The company has adopted IFES 13 “Fair  Value
Measurement”, which impacts the classification of ns level
3 financial assets and financial labilities, The company
now  classifies centain financial assets and  financial
liabilities as level 2 (as opposed to level 3) i the far value
hierarchy if the company has no significant net risk to the
bevel 3 inputs. The impact of this change is:

« Az of January 1, 2014, level 3 financial assets and
financial libilites decreased by 3536 billion, with a
corresponding increase in level 2.

o Az of December 2014, level 3 financial assets and
financial liahilities decreased by 3736 hillion, with a
corresponding increase in level 2.

+ Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities. Under the
previous UK. GAAP, a reconciliation between current tax
and the product of profit on ordinary activities before
taxation multiplied by the applicable tax rate was required.
Upon adoption of TAS 12 *Income Taves” the company is
riow required o presemt a reconsiliation between the total
tax expense and the product of profit on ardinary activities
before taeation multiplied by the applicable tax rate.

« Operating Leases. Under the previous UK. GAAF. the
rentals the company was committed o pay in the following
wear in respect of its operating leases were disclosed. These
were categorised by the maturity date of the lease. Upon
adoption of [AS 17 “Leases’, the company 1s now reguired
to disclose the total future minimum leass pavments
payable by vear instead.

In addition, FES 101 has resulted in the company providing
addstional dsclosures relating to financial assets and financal
liabilities due 1o the adoption of IFRS 7 “Financial [nstruments:
Disclosures” and IFES 13 “Fair Value Measurement”.
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Note 5.
Segment Reporting

The company reports its activities in the following four
business segments: Investment Banking. Instibubional Chent
Services, Investing & Lending, and Investment Management.
See “Results of Operations — Segment Reporting™ in Part [ of
this annual report for a description of the company's segments.

Basis of Presentation

In reporting segments, certain of the company™s business lines
have been aggregated where they have similar economic
charactenstics and are similar in each of the following areas:
(1) the nature of the services they provide: (1) their methods of
distmbution; () the types of chients they serve; and () the
regulatory environments in which they operate.

The cost dnvers of the compamy takem as a whole -
compensation, headeount and levels of business activity — are
breadly similar in each of the company’s business sepments.
Direct costs of employment in the company s segments reflect,
among other factors, the overall performance of the company
as well as the performance of imdividual businesses.
Corsequently, operating profit margins in one segment of the
company’s business may be significantly affected by the
performance of the company’s other business sepments.

The company allocates assets (including allocations of GCLA
and cash, secured client financing and other assets), revenues
and expenses among the four husiness segments. Due to the
integrated nature of these segments, estimates and judgements
are made in allocating certain assets, revenues and expenses.
The allocation process is hased on the manmer in which
management currently views the performance of the segments
Transactions between segments are based on specific eriteria or
approximate third-party rates. Total administrative expenses
include chantable contnibutions and mark=to-market of share-
based compensation that have not been allocated to individual
business segments.

In addition to transactions entered into with third parties. the
company also enters ino transactions with affiliates in the
normal course of business as part of market-making activities
and general operations. Revenues are allocated to, and received
from, such affiliates for these transactions.

Management believes that the information in the tables below
provides a reasonsble represemtation of each sepment’s
comtribution to net revenues, operating profit and total assets
Operating profit has only been presented for the company’s
sigrficant  segments, being  Investment Banking  and
Instrutional Client Services.
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The sepment information presented n “Segment MNet
Revenues™ and “Segment Operating Profit”™ below is prepared
according 1o the following methodologies:

®» Hevenue and expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determ ining operating profit.

® Mol revenues i the company’s segzments  inclwde
allocations of interest income and interest expense o
specific securities and other pesitions in relation to the cash
generated by, or funding requirements of, such underlying
positions with the exception of interest on long-term
subordinated loans, which is presented in interest payable
and similar charges (see MNote 90 Met interest is included in
segment nel revenues as it 15 corsistent with the way in
which management assesses segment performance.

s Overhead expenses not directly allocable 1o specific
segments are allocated ratably based on direct sepment
EXPEnses,

Segment Net Revenues

The table below presents the net revenwe of the company's
segments.

Year Endad December

2 dn rlions FLiE] 2014
Investenent Banking
Financial Advisory 5 3 5 452
U dssntiing L] fi]
Total Investment Banking 51,379 51,301
Invstitutionsd Client Services
Fined Income, Cemency and Commodities
..... el I .. N ...

kit 2,353 1 BES
Talal Insthuticnal Clent Serdces 54,502 44,200
Investing & Lending 5 M0 5 268
InivEptinEnt Managem e g 475 5 483
Total net revenues 57,018 55,430

Substantially all interest mcome and nterest expense
recogrised within net revenues is attributable to Institutional
Client Services.
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Segment Operating Profit
The table below presents the operating profit of the company’s
significant segments.

Yem Ended December
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Mote 6.

Administrative Expenses

The table below presents the company’s adminstrative

5 in milicng 2015 204
Investment Banking

L] RN 1.7 B $1.3
A it ol g i B2 -]
Oparating profit § 487 3 563
Insttugicnal Clent Services

Bl res N 002 54,280
Adminiviative sasen s A4 P
Oparating prafit $1258 $1.519
Total reet revenues' 57,016 56,430
Total adminisirative Hp'lll'l'llll-r 4077 4155
Tolal operating profit Er X T £33 M

1. Indudes met mvenees of 3835 millon and 3759 millon for 2015 and 2014,
respactively, redabed to imvesting & Lendng and investment Management.

2. ncludes admi = af 5579 milbon and 458 milan for 2015
and KIM. rwﬂr. redated to Imeesting & Lending and Imeestment
“Hwt“ﬂ'ﬂﬂl and catain cvahieed experit that hnae not Been

d 8o the sompany's of 542 millice and S108 eilion for 2015
and 2014, respectively, rep [ (= and merk:bos
mnf:}amnﬂcmnﬂm

Segment Assets
Substantially all of the company's assels are atinbutable to
Institutional Client Services.

Geographical Analysis

Due to the highly imtegrated nature of international financial
markets, the company manages #s businesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating pml'ltahlllt}' to geographic regions is dependent on
estimates and management judgement. Geographie results are
generally allocated as follows:

* Investment Banking: location of the clent, mvestment
banking team and underlying risk

o Institutional Client Services: location of the market-making
desk and the primary market for the underlying security.

*  Investing & Lending: location of the investing and lending

leanm.

¢ Investrient Mamagement location of the  investment

maAnagerment leam.

The table below presents the total net revenues of the company
by geographic region allocated based on the methodology
referred to above.

Yonr Enced Docimnbar
5 in miliong a5 204
Het revenues
Europs, Middle East and Alrica 252 54,827
.i.muu:“ 1010 ]
‘i = =
Total ned revenues F.016 36,430

al

Total adnuini strative sxpenses 34,155

1. Cxcupancy sspenses incude operating lsase rentals for land and buildings of
581 million and 587 mllion o 2015 and 2014, redpactivily. and ncomd Bom
the subelsase paymants of 516 millon and $12 millon for 2018 and 2014,
mespoctvely.

2. Professional fees include fees payable to the company's sudior for the awdit
of the company's ansual fnancial statements of 55 milkon for both 2015 and
2014 and fees payable to the company's audier for cthee wenices of 34
millior mnd 5006 milkon for 2005 and 2014, respactively.

3. Ot aop mchude tawed,  charitakl -
mmmhmhlndummhnnmm
Honal and sdminesirss i services recsived from
and provided ta aflates and kosses on dsposal of tangisle Rxed nssets,
Lottes on disposal of tangble fned avvets wine 5004 millon and $0.5 milion
for 2015 and 2014, respectivety.
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Hote 7. Mate B,
Directors’ Emoluments Staff Costs
The table below presents the company’s  directors” The table below presents the company’s average number of
emoluments. staff  (employees including directors, consultants  and
tem) ¢ stall),
‘Year Ended December porary ﬂ.:'
3 in milions 015 014
Avarsga foe thi
W'ﬂ“m'ﬁ_“ Yias Endid Dacanibi
ptharm s e — s S
_— — oyeses including dir
Tofal direciors” emoluments 5B 55 g Banking 1 6
) ) Inwtuan Chwnl Sorviees T4 1400
The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid Investing & Lending 148 KL
director g L . g g
Support Funchons 2& 2 50y
Yane Enced Decamb GEE = GaM
5 in eilens 015 04 ContuRanty and bemgrany staf 5T 33
[ e—— 5 = Toial avernge PEBE of S1AlT [XLC] [
i R ey .
purchase schemes - - The company has the use of the services of a number of

In accordance with the Compamies Act 2006, directors’
emoluments  above represent  the proporton of  total
emoluments paid or payable in respect of qualifving services
enly, This total only includes the value of cash and benefits in
kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in
accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of 51 2008/410.
Directors also receive emoluments for non-qualifying services
which are not required to be disclosed

COne director is a member of a defined contribution pension
plan and one director 15 4 member of the hvbnd pension plan
{mcluding the defined benefit section and defined contnbution
section), Three directors, including the highest pard director,
have been granted Group Ine shares in respect of long term
incentive schemes during the vear. Three directors, including
the highest paid director, have exercised options during the
Viear,

it

individuals whe are emploved by affiliated entities and
seconded 1o the company. These seconded individuals are
meluded in the disclosure of headeount and relmted stafl costs.
Consultants and temporary staff costs are included in total
direct costs of emplovment, below, Total headeount was 6,458
amd 5730 as of December 2015 and December 2014,
respectively.

The table below presents employment costs incurred by the
company, including those relating to directors

¥ war Ended Decembar
£ i i 015 2014
AQQregEts Qross wWages ard sal anes Em SE.HZ‘I_
“Em e L e— - R ey
Pengion costs, smployer contributions toc
Diebned contribation plan and defined
section of the hybeid penson plan (7] #
Talal direct costs of employment’ [F=1] 53,042

1. Includes & chasge of 58 million for 2015 and a charge of 583 milien e 2014,
relating 1o the mark-to-market of share-besed compensafion.

MNote 8.

Interest Payable and Similar Charges

Interest payable and similar charges compnses interest on
lofg-term  subordinated loars from  parest and  group
undenakings of 3285 million and 3222 million for 2005 and
20014, respectively. See Note 20 for further details.
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Note 10,
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors an open pension plan with a hvbrd
structure, having both a defined benefit section (the Flan) and &
defined contribution section. The Plan provides retirement
benefits on the basis of members” fimal salary. with a normal
retirement age of 65 for most members. The Plan is funded,
with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the
company, N separate trustee-adm mistersd funds.

The Plan was closed o new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008 and was replaced by a defined contribution plan. In 2013,
the company notified plan participants that the Plan will no
longer accrue future benefit accruals after March 31, 2016
This resulted in the company recogrising a curtailment gain of
524 million. Existing participanils continee 1o accree benefits
up until the Plan's closure.

The Plan operates under trust law and 15 mamaged and
administrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan
Trustee Lamited (the Trustee) on behalfl of the members in
accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Rules and
relevant legislation. The Plan's assets are held by the trust

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was cammied owt by a
qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2012 using
the projected unit funding method and updated to December
31, X015 As of December 2015, the Plan liabilities comprise
28% in respect of active emplovees, 699 in respect of deferred
members and 3% in respect of current beneficianes.

Risks of the Plan
The main risks of the Plan are:

+ Funding Shortfall, Addional contnbutions will be
required of the investment retums are nod sufficient 1o pay
for benefits. The level of equity retums will be a key
determinant of overall investment return; the investment
portfolio is also subject to a range of cther nsks typical of
the asset classes held, in particular interest rate risk and
inflation risk on bonds,

+ Assat Volatility. A conseguence of the Plan’s investment
strategy, with a significant proportion of the assets invested
in equities and other reum-seeking assets is that the
difference between Plan assets and Plan Labilities may be
volatile.

+ Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan labilities and the
current service cost are sensitive 1o the assumplions made
about future inflation and hfe expectancy. It 15 also
sensitive to the discount rate, which depends on market
vields on sterling-dencm mated A corporate bonds,

iy
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Financial Assumptiens

The table below presents the significant financial assumptions
used to determine the present value of the defined benefit
obligation

% per snoum
Disecurt ral

_Rabe of pricw infai
Rabe afi in pendions in pay
..... fpostHovembn 20, 199G secrunh 330 3N
Eabe of increass in penvsions in defemment
(post-hovember 30, 1456 accrual) FE L) 230
Rate ofi in pentions i de T
(post-April 5. 2008 accrusl) 40 23

Mertality Assumptions

The table below presenis the morality assumpiions used o
determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation.
The morality assumptions adopted were the “51 series all
pensioner  light”™ base table with allowance for future
mmprovements from 2002 onwards in line with the CWI 2012
core projections with a long-term rate of improvement of 1%
T arnmm.

¥ Endad Dacsmibisr

¥oars s 2014
Life spectancy ot B5 for o masnber curnenty 55
B . L |

Famales %3 252
Life expectancy at 35 for o member currentty 45
..... Mabes B 22

Fomales pix 267
Defined Benefit Cost

The table below presents the defined benefit cost related to the
Plan recognised in the company’s profit and less account and
statement of other comprehensive income.

it e Docaibel

$ i maliong Pkl 2014
Profit and loss account
Curenbservemeont 0 BT 5 48
Curtaiment gain 24 -
et fnance income L] T
Total charged to the profit and koss sccount 18 £
Other comprehmsive Income
Fabam on Pan aszets greater tan dincont rabe {.I!! (=1 5]
Actusrial gan — Rabity experience S - T
Actusrial lows — Enancial asmmptions L) Fril
Tatal losaigain) recognised in olfer

Cmprelarsing income El {111}
Total defined benent costigany 519 5070
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Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconcilistion of Plan assets, Plan
liabalities and the net pension surplus,

Plar Plas  Met Pension
5 i lens Aznely Linbiities. Surplus.
e Enged Decomber 2015
A of January 1 sar B 1580 s25T
Curent senace cost - (L] W
Cuwtalmertgain - n____ o
Mot fnanos income L1 &) T
Retum on Flan assets greater
Ehan dissount mabe Fi - i
T —
W BN = 12 13
Actusrialloss - Bnancisl
avsumpons - [44) ]
_Ermgier cntribuSions .

Banedts paid
A& of December 31 1,57 156 fra
Yoar Enced Cocermmber 2014
pactienvaryy L S LA 156
Curment sendce oost - {48 (1)
Cortailiment gain S t
Mot francs income &7 &0 T
Retum on Plan sasty greate

hian discount rabe My - 318

Lot - 18 18
Aduarialloss = Snancisl

awumpsons - @n_ mhn
Ermpioryer ¢ontributicers. - - s
Benelts paid & 8 p
A of Decsmbe 31 $1.B7T 1,580 5257

Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Plan Trustess have a long-term asset allocation stralegy 1o
invest 653% of assels in retumn seeking investments {(such as
equities) and 35% in hability matching assets (such as Galts).
The Flan has a hedging programme investing in swaps and
other derivatives in order 1o reduce the exposure to changes
interest rates and inflation. The table below presents the fair
value of Plan assets,

§ in milions
A5 of Decemiper 2015
Eiuiting

Gitn

Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Cash and cash equivalents
Cther
Tetal
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Sensitivity Analysis

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan
liabilines for each significant actuarial assumption. The
sensitivities are based on a change in each assumption while
helding all other assum phions constant.

There are inherert limitations in this analysis, as such
wdicsyneratic  movements  are  unlikely to ocowr,  The
methodology used to calculate the sensitivities are consistent
across the two penods presented i the lable below.

Impacd 1o Plan Lisbiites
in ol £ in it
3 i resllans % Smedions %
025, change i
et e som  am  sw2 w0
D.75% change in price
infation 1nz A | e [[. %]
1 yuar changs in lie
— sopectancy had i L] 3
£ of December 2014
0.38% change in
i s rabe Hi24) (7.9 5143 8z
0.25% change A price
I | S N— N—
1 yoar changs in lif
—Supectancy 5 3 51 L]

Nature of Future Cash Flows

The most recent formal funding valuation of the Plan for the
Trustees was caried out by a quahfied independent actuary as
of December 31, 2012, which mdicated that Plan asscts
exceeded the present value placed on defined benefits acerued
by members 1o that date {Le, a surplus). The preliminary
results of the next formal tnennial valuation as of December

2015 are likely to be available in the third quarter of 20146

In complince with the Persions Act 2014, the company and
the Trustee agreed a scheme-specific funding target, statement
of funding principles and a schedule of contnbutions.

As the Plan is closed to future accrual from March 31, 2006,
the company will cease to make regular anmual contributions
into the Plan from that point and will insiead assess the funding
requirements of the Plan with the Trustees on a periodic basis.
The company expects 1o make 38 million of contribastions 1o
the Plan and expects 58 million of benefits to be pard cast of the
Plan to members in 2016

The weighted average duration of Plan habilities was 35 years
as of December 2015,
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Note 11,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. spornsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2013)
(2015 SIP), which provides for, amongst others, grams of
RSUs and incentive stock options.

GEI recorded share-based compensation in respect of the
amortisaion of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
3630 million and 5529 million for 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The commesponding credit 1o equity has been transferred 1o
hahilities a= a result of the terms of the charpeback agreement
with Group Inc. under which the company is committed to pay
o Group Ine, the grant-date fair value as well as subsequent
moevenments in e value of those awards 1o Group Inc. at the
time of delivery to its employees.

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. grants BSUs to G50's emplovees under the 2015
3IP, which are valued based on the closing price of the
underlying shares on the date of grant after taking into account
a lgqudity discount for any applicable post-vesting and
delivery transfer restrictions. RSUs generally vest and
underlving shares of common stock deliver as outlined in the
applicable  RSU agreements. Employee RSU  agreements
generally provide that vesting is accelerated in certain
cireumstances, such as on retrement, death, disability and
conflicted employment. Debvery of the underlving shares of
common stock is conditioned on the grantees satisfying certain
vesting and other requirements ouwtlined in the award
agreements.

)|
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Stock Options

Stock options granted o emplovees penerally vest as outlined
in the applicable stock option agreement. In gencral, options
expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date, although they
may be subject to earlier terminntion or cancellaton under
certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the
applicable stock option agreement and The Goldman 3achs
Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan in effect at the
time of grant.

The table below presemts options outstanding, All cutstanding
oplions as of December 20015 were granted i 2006 through
20008,

Waighted

Visigried ot g

Biciriegrh Reninning

Optiont Exercite Lite:

Price iyears)

2,184,052 5 FE.7H 1.00

12000 - 134.99 - - -
e e — - -

16800 X000 T30 20240 1.51
Oulstanding. December 2003 3,001,352 S113.68 758

7500 - § 8980 3,383,700 £ TaTe 4.00

9000 - 11989 - - -
izopo- ases  zriae1l 13es bE2
1600 1M iR b =

19500 - X900 87310 2240 251

Outstanding. December 2014 & 602 491 1052 353

For those options exercised dunng the wear, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise was 319628 and
S169.82 for 2005 and 2014, respectively,
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Note 12,
Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities

The table below presents the company’s amalysis of tax on
profit on ordinary activities.
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MNote 13.
Tangible Fixed Assets

The table below presents the movements i tangble fxed
assets during the year.

Yoar Ended Decembar Fistures,
5 i melians 015 014 Leanehoid fizimge and
Current Lax £ in rallians P i Total
UK, eorponston bax a7 5243 Cost
“Adustments inrespect of price periods 18 3@
Ovmrsens tambon ?’_I' B2
Total cuEment tax AET 4 " n m
Dieferred tax A& ol Decambar 31 i 1 ]
Origination and reversal of ismporary diffwences =4 101
Efect of increased U K. corporaie tax rabes 155 Accumalated depreciation
“Adustments in respect of price pericds 3 7 A o Jaiziery 1 Ll 5 £
Tobal celermed lax [114) 108 Charge fer the year (1ee Nobe &) E F] 4
Total tax on profit on ordnary Actvilies § 353 $AEZ Dizposals - (n (1
AsofDecembar 3t R s Gl
The Finance (Mo, 2) Act 2015 was enacted in the fourth quarter
of 2015, which introduced: {{) an 8 percentage point surcharge Mat ook vaus
) o S : Az of December 2015 58 55 511
on bankmg profits effective i 2006; (1) a 1 percentage psoant — —
. - i . Ag of Ducenbar 2014 57 58 512
reduction in corporate tax rates effective i 2017, and (1) a
further | percentage point reduction in corporate tax rates
effective m 2020, This resulted m the company recogrsing a MNote 14,
one-time benefit of 3155 million relating to the revaluation of )
Fixed Asset Investments

its deferred tax asset

The table below presents a reconcibiation between tax on profit
on ordinary activities and the amount calculated by applyving

The table below presents the movements i Axed asset
investments during the vear.

the weighted average rate of UK. corporation tax applicable 1o o Cthae
the company for the year of 20.25% (2014 21.5%) to the profit ﬂ::m Im:n1 ih

. il i than
on ordinary activities before tax. PR— um.g..: loans Total

Cost
Year Ended December

5 in mvilions 15 2014 :'“J"""”” !‘-: ........... s‘; ......... .'*'.[.";'.
Praft on ardinary scivtins befors taxation 53,651 SZ0e0 “ax of Decarrbar 31 = 1 1

Praft on ardnary scivities muliphed by

UK. corpoeate tax rafe of 20025% (2014 21 5%) 530 A4%
e T T
delured tax aveets B} T
Tae losses srandsrd Fom group
o Tar il cansceration (20 0
Efect of higher taxes on mversens samings i H]
Exchange differences and other (=11 &)
Adjustnants in respect of price pared k] 45
Efect of increatad U K. corporate tax rabes. [155) =
Total Lax on profit on ordinary activitles EET] 5 452

Accumulated depreciation

As ol Jarasary 1 - - -
As of December 31 = _ -

Net book valus
s of Decomber 2015 5- 51 51
s of Docember 2012 5= 52 52
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The table below presents the subsidianes over which the
company exercised control as of December 200 5:

Hiidng
and
proporion  Class of
Hams of Counry of of voing  shares Mumbsr  Nature of
cOmpany Incompomtion rights Thadd held  besiness
Goldman Sachs
{Cayrran] Cayman Owdniany Finarcisl
Limnibe-d Islands 100%  shares 250 L H]
] E——
Fumduie
Iernraubyeyiny Ienvpatrrent
Zarninisty Poland 100% - N Wined

° This subsidiary wndetaking it controlled other then Swough veting rights
atached to shares.

The company has interests in a number of special purpose
entities and capital guaranteed funds which do not meet the
definition of a legal subsidmry, b give nse 1o the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were
legal subsidiaries. The activitics of these special purpose
entities and the capital gusranteed funds consist of the sswnce
of loan notes under the terms of a repackaging programme

These special purposes entities and capital guaranteed funds
are conselidated in the financial statements of Group Inc.

73
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Mote 15.

Financial Instruments Owned and Financial
Instruments Sold, But Not Yet Purchased

Fimancial mstruments owned and Onancial instruments sold,
but not yet purchased comprise financial instruments and
investments within the operating activities of the COMmpany.
Fmancial mstruments owned includes fnancim] instruments
owned pledged as collateral. These represent financial
instruments cwned and pledged 1o counterparties that have the
rght 1o deliver or repledpe. See Note 27 for further
mformation.

The table below presents the company’s [imancial instruments
owned.

s off Decemiber

3 i s FLOE]
Cash irmfruments
Commuercial paper, cortificabes of depost,

b deposits and cther money marked

instuments O oAn
Gowsenmant and agency ol gations
Morigage and other assel-backed loans

arvl wecurti

214

3 1,225
16,510

Equitits and convartible debeniured 354 32187
Comamnadingg 9 =
Tota cash instruments 56,037 66,251
Derivative Instruments.

Interest rales 321,05
et e
_Gurm-:in 113,522 .
Commaodtiey e 16
Equities S2660

Tt darivative irsiruments 17

Taota financial instnamants owned SE16,054

The table below presents the company’s financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased,

—tr i Dby

§ i realing FLUE] 2014
Cash Irstruments
Griamimant snd agency obigetions 3 AR 5108
Morigage and otfer assel-Eacked loans

ard securition = &
Gorporste s otes dak cbigsions YT}
Equites and sonvertible detenhmes 4B 14,515
Tatal cash nsrumsnts ) 17,850
Durrivrative Insiraments
Ll 313,124
B — 43,044
_Curnencies 112882
_Commaodities iaper G
Equities 48,015
Talal derivative iriruments 530,970
Tota financia instrumenits sold, but not yet

purchased Fahh i Shak1 413
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Note 16,
Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents the company's  collaterahised
agreements.
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Mote 18.
Deferred Tax

The table below presents the components of the company's
defermred tax asset.

Az of December
3 in millons 3 2014 3 in maliong
Reunale agrdamants 10,318 $1iB.140 _Depreciation in sxcess of coptalalowances
Securities bomowd 5,55 87,379 Foskrobwmentboneltn
Total collateralised agreements H161, 703 5203516 Datered compensation’
Total del smred tax

1.  Includes amounts dus from growep underdaiongs of 581,84 bilkon mnd $134 82
Eilion ot of December 2015 and Decombaer 2004, retpectivaly,

2 includes balarnces dus i miore than one year of $1.87 billon and 52 18 hilion

1. Duefered compensation is mainly in espect of share-based compensation.

The table below presents changes in each component of the

an af Dy g 2015 and Dy e 2014, revpectv '
- company’s deferred tax asset.
A5 of Decamber
Nots 17. § i maliong 2015 2014
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
Debtors A of January 1 § 3 $ 3
2 s A5 of Decembaer 31 5 3 5 3
The table below presents the company s debtors balances. All
debtors are due within one vear of the balance sheet date, Postretirement benefits
unless noted below. A5 of January 1 $ 51} $ (3]
Tranther to e proft and |lowt sccount {18) z
As of Decembar Transfw ta other compreh incame Ll [res]
5 in miliGng % 2014 A& of December 31 ¥ (68) ¥ (51)
. doe from brokerldealers and HiMr == el
Defermred compensation
Aeollngaryl S S sz
. H T for bo e profit and loss sccount 132 {110
Frepayments and accrued incoms . 1] k-] As of December 31 R 5502
St = OARE 56881 remmTeemmere S ot S et
1. includes balsnces dus in more tham ons year réating to seowred lending and
propaid commodiy contracts of S887 million and 5981 milion as of faoldewery = 0000000000000 fous L
D gt 2015w O b 204, raspeesvaly Teanafar bo Bve profit and loss secount
(see Mobe 13) T4 {108
T Ineludes Snancial assets of $55 57 klen and 556,06 Blen 8y of O P, sttt . i
2015 gnd D bt 2014, puctively, and non-Bnancial mussts of 5514 Teanslar bo othiw comprahanssm incomae 1 25
A% of December 1 560 5454

milion and 3501 million as of December 2015 and Dwcember 2014,
respectivedy,

74

MNote 19,

Collateralised Financings

The table below presemis the company's collateralised
financings

Ax of Decemibe
§ in ralliong 25 2014
Amoants falling e within one year
Fepurchase agresments § s 5 44 207
e i e
Total $116,385 5138,137
Amoaunts falling due after more than ore year
Fapurchase agnesmnls £ 502 5 2514
Total 5 1502 5 2514
Total collateralised Nnancings’ F110,887 $141.851

1. Includes amounts dee 1o group undertakings of 582 67 blion and $103.15
bilkcn ot of Decembar 2015 and D 2014, mep ty, of which
02 55 ballion and $102 56 bilion as of December 2015 and December 2014,
meapactvaly, Be ek witin one year
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 20,
Other Creditors
The 1able below presents the company”s other creditors. Debt Securities Issued
The table below s the com "5 debdt securitics 1ssued.
presc pany
5 in ilons A;u:; 014 —fncfOecomber
= £ i maliong 75 2a
Amioris alling due within ane year Amoants falling due within one year
Bank loans 3 Linsseunsd debt saeuriies with aiiiates S1TTE §aew
Gvmrdrat g - e el
E:ﬁ.m“ﬁ". - ...-....!.sﬁf-':-'g- counberparties ara 5,136
: et e e Bwcured Skt sacuriies wih afbia e’ an 72
Asnenrtt b 1o parenl and group Sacurad Sebe e wih
e ae = i 4644 ecuntarparton’ 1,887 1,830
Asnanras e 1o parent and group Total $13,850 $15.545
dirtakin gt — othid d crpditery 18,18 17,078
Agorual for management charges payable A
- ounts falling dus sfter more than one year
__Wpsmland goupunceraiingy 0 47T Un 4 et Ke1 with nfilates 5 B 5 47
2: .i.i.l.........l.:ﬁ.............\.'&.ﬂ:l... - it
aemseeee—— e e ————————————— e :wnmp.rﬁﬂ
(ther creditors and accruals 1,138 8BTS rldﬂiltu-n.lrdn
Total' $118,300 $145.104 at “mm os with mutemal
G0’ 760 1,650
Banouns Talling Sié Aller raoee HLan of yar e T
Bank |oans 3 e 3 - Total debt secunties sued 21,748 21.507
ng-bm:r!_Mlu-drnlm !HI 458
Dbt securites issusd 7,896 & 587 i = # debt s are 1 by secuities which have bean pledged
Amourts doe to parent and group. ms colatersl. This pledged is ®ither recognaed within “Financi
undertakings - unsocured bommwings W38 2T Enamnls oened of fcurced thicugh cdlaterslived agremmants.
et de to parent and group The table below presents the maturity of the company’s long-
__undetakings - other msecasdaediors 0 M4 00 A8 term debt _u_F“_ et ' e
e gemant chargas pay eht secunties issued.
0 paret and group underiakings’ 634 T4
Total" - S 32,298 § 16700 '“E‘u:iu"""'
Total other creditors S, 508 §162.604 0%
1. The seerusl Ror mensgement charges payable to parent and group Dotweentwoandbesyesrs 2,074
unchtakings it in respect of thie-based Sampensaton, 1,768
I ncludes financial Balbilties of 511554 bilon and 5145'53 Bk H i
Decomier 2015 and e e 2014, P aly, #nd non-fi ) .
fabies of $34 milion and $328 miion as of December 2016 and Amounts due in more than five years predominantly relate to
Decamions 2014, rapecsialy structured debt securities with maturities falling due between
3 Al amounts flling dee afber more than one year are fnancisl fakdibes as of 2021 and 2046, P‘q‘]-}'l\'ltﬂl-‘s on these securities are '}amm”}-

fee 2018 and Decomber 2014 referenced to underlying financial  asselts, which  are

predominately interest rate and equitics-related.

Long-Term Subordinated Loans

Long-term  subordinated  loams  comprise  long-term
subordinated loans from parent and group underiakings, which
are unsecured and carry interest al g margin over the U5
Federal Reserve's federal funds rate. The margin is reset on a
pericdic basis to reflect changes in G5 Group’s weighted
average cost of debt. Long-term subordinated loans constitute
regulatory capital as approved by the PRA and are repayable
subject to PRA approval and upon giving or receiving af least 5
years” netice 1o or from the parent o group undertaking,

75
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 21,
Provisions for Liabilities

The table below presents the company's provisions for
liabalities, which are in respect of legal claims made against the
company.

£ in méllons 2015
Az of January 1 §17
Chargs o the probt and ks accou ]
Reducson in provisian (]
Litlinesd chring the year {17}
Forsign eschange gain {1
A5 of December 31 $ -

Further details relating to the provisions have not been
disclosed as permitted by IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, on the grounds that it would
be senously prejudicial to do so.

Hote 22

Share Capital

The table below presents the company s share capital.

Ordinary shares
Alotted, called up and fully paid of §1 each $ iy rliliors
s of January 12016 533,487,150 §593
“Allomed during the year  A&S1T,611 T
As of December 31, 2013 581,964,161 5582

During the year, the directors and shareholder of the company
reviewed G31°s capital requirements and new ordinary shares
were issued in ofder 1o increase the company’s regulatony
capital and further suppon ongoing business activities.

Cn June 10, 2015, 36,088,475 ordinary shares of $1 each were
allotted at $42.95 to GSGUR. The total consideration receved
was §1,550,000,000 in cash incorporating a share premium of
$1.513,911,525,

Cn June 29, 2003, 12,428,536 ordinary shares of 31 cach were
allotted a1 $40.23 to GIGUK, The total corsideration received
was S3000000) in cash incorporating a share premium of
S487.571 464,

6

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Note 23.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The table below presents the company’s cash oand cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows,

Ar of December
§ in millons FLUE] 2014
[Cashatbank sadinbaed LU N bl
Crwarcraks (se Note 20 _ﬂf 1_53
Total cash and cash equivalents 50,870 53,577

Mote 24.
Reconciliation of Cash Flows From
Operating Activities

The table below presents the company’s reconciliation of cash
flows from operating activities.

‘fear Ended Diecember
3 i malions UL 24
Proft on cedinary pcivites badors taxmtion §  nB61 3 2060
Adj st meenis for
Ceprecaton of tangile foed oxsets
{nen Moloes 6 and 13) 4 4
= 1
L]

1
hht'lll:;‘flui g rhlrgnc“;N-ulntl-iﬂm
Cash gereraied befiore changes in operating
atiely and iabStien 002 A
Changes in operating assels
Dx V BaLE} in cwnad T, fl [17a014)
Dacrease in colaternisad ags WIS 7962
Cwcreaselmraase) in debbors B, 15 8,3800
123,701 (178443
Changes in operating labilites
Iner reass) in fnancisl i ik
___Soid, but nat yat purchased pane loagac
Docrares in colateakied Bnancingy {21,764y (34, 184)
Increataf decrsate) in cther craditon {17,137 4,502
Inereasaiducr a e} in provisions for lakites {17} 10
{124,677) 176,200
Contrbutiont paid to defined bena® plan
(e Hobe 107 137} )

Caih penerated from apeations LT T m

Cash generated from operations includes interest paid of 32,16
billion and 5203 billion as of December 2015 and December
2004, respectively, and mterest received of 32.22 hllion and
5245 hllion, as of December 2015 and December 2014,
respectively.
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Note 25,
Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents the company’s commitments and
conlingencies.

As of December

3§ in milions 2015 24
Contingent and krward warting retale

and s b irsg g ks 520,276 534,572
Farward startng repurchate and wecured

lerting agresmentt 11,483 14, TED
Othar 4,137 4,001
Total Sb H96 353,353

The company enters into resale and securities bomowing
agreements and repurchase and secured lending agreements
that settle an a future date, generally withn three business days.
The company alse enters into commilments (o provide
contingent financing to iis clients and counierpariies through
resale  agreements. The company's funding of these
commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual
conditions to the resale agreement and these commitments can
expire umused.

Other commitments primarily relate to collateral commitments.

In addition, there are registered charges on the company’s
assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business.

Leases

The company leases certain buildings under long-term lease
agreements. Under these lease agreements, which are subject to
remegotiation al varniows imervals specified in the leases, the
company pays all insurance, maintenance and repairs of these
properties. The table below presemts funere minimum rental
payments.

A of December
5 in milicng Hi% 2014
Less than cre year 5 05 § @R
e andl e s a7 S
ﬂuuk-m.iu. skl . .0 S~ W &
Total 3z S583

Total future minimum sublease payments expected o be
recerved under non-cancellable subleases as of December 20135
and December 2014 were 570 million and $90 mallion

respectively.

7
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Legal Preceedings

The company s involved in the below legal proccedings,
however it is not practicable to estimate an impact, if any, of
these proceedings.

Credit Derivatives Antitrust Matters. On December 4,
2015, the Buropean Commission anrounced that it had closed
antitrust proceedings agamnst all banks, mcluding G 31, involved
in the European Commission's investigation, announced in
Apnl 2011, of numerous fnancial services companies in
connection with the supply of data related to credit default
swaps and in connection with profit sharing and fee
arrangements for cleanng of credit default swaps, including
pedential anti-competiive praclices.

Mortgage-Related Matters. Variows alleged purchasers of,
and counterparties invelved i transactions relating 1o,
morigage pass-through  certificates,  collateralised  debt
obligations and other moergage-related products (incleding
Aozora Bank, Lid., Basis Yield Alpha Fund (Master) and KB
Deutsche Industrichank AG) have filed complanis m the
United States against the company and certain of its affiliates,
generally alleging that the offering documents for the securnitics
that they purchased contained untrue siatements of material
fact and material omissions and generally seeking rescission
and‘or damages. Certain of these complaimnts allege frawd and
seek punitive damages.

Libya-Related Litigation. G515 the defendant in an action
filed on January 21, 20014 with the High Court of Justice in
London by the Libvan Investment Authonty, relating to nine
derivative transactions between the plaintiff and GSI and
seeking, among other things, rescisson of the transactions and
unspecified equitable compensation and damages exceeding 51
billionn. On December 4, 2014, the Libvan Investment
Authority filed an amended statement of claim.

Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. G5 1= among
the defendants ramed i a putative antitrust ¢lass action
relating to the trading of interest rate swaps, filed on Movember
25, 2015 in the 1.5, District Cowrt for the Southemn District of
Mew York, The complaint generally alleges a conspiracy
among the dealers and brokers since at least January 1, 2008 o
prechude exchange trading of interest rate swaps, The
commplaint seeks declaratory and ijunctive reliel as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount.
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Commaodities-Related Litigation. G351 15 among  the
defendants named in a number of putative class actions filed
beginning on August 1, 2013 and consolidated in the US
District Court for the Southern Dhstrict of New York The
complaints generally allege violations of federal antitrust laws
and state laws in connection with the storage of aluminium and
aluminium trading. The complaints seek declaratory, mjunctive
and other equitable relief as well as unspecified monetary
damages, including treble damages. On August 29, 2014, the
coamt granted the Goldman Sachs defendants’ molion 1o
dismiss. Certain plaintiffs appealed on September 24, 2014,
and the remaining plaintiffs sought (o amend their complaints
i Otober 2004, On March 26, 2013, the court granted in part
and derued in part plantiffs” motions for leave to amend their
complaints, rejecting their monopolisation claims and most
state law claims but permitting their antitrust conspiracy claims
and certain parallel state law and unjust enfchment claims 1o
proceed, and the court directed the remaining plaintifs o file
their amended complaints, which they did on Apnl 8, 2015,

G315 among the defendants i putative class sctions, filed
beginning May 23, 20014 m the US District Court for the
Southern Dhstrict of New York, based on alleged viclations of
the federal antitrust laws in connection with the management
of zinc storage facilities. The complaims seek declaratory,
injunctive and other equitable reliel as well as unspecified
menetary damages, including treble damages. On January 7,
2016, the court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss.

G35l 15 among the defendants named in putative class actions
relating to trading in platinum and palladium, filed beginning
en MNovember 25, 2014, in the U5 Distriet Coun for the
Southern Dnstrict of New York. The complaints generally
allege that the defendants violated federal antitrust laws and
the Commodity Exclange Act in connection with an alleged
conspiracy 1o manipulate a benchmark for physical platinum
and palladium prices and seek declaratory and injunctive relief
as well as treble damages in an unspecified amoun. On July
27, 2015, planuffs filed a second amended consohdated
complaint, and on September 21, 2015, the defendants moved
tos dismiss.

]
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Mote 26.

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclesures in relation to the company™s fmancial risk
management and capital management have been presented
alongside other nsk management and regulatory information in
Part [ of this armual report.
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Mote 27,
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camying valee of the company’s
financial assets and financial liabilities by category.

Financinl Asvaly

Held for  Dozigrated Loans and
$ in milions tnging af far value  recenvabiie Teasl
As of December 2015
Feranicinl msruments cwned 3616054
Colatersiived sgreements =
Oeotors = VR SRS WA
Caih af bank and in hand -
Total Tnancial assets S616,054 134,101 500,250  $R40,605
A of Decomber J014
Frmncial indruments cwned $633,748 5 - % = B a8
Colatersized agresments - 1SG0  4A707 A58

- 1,780 54,280

e ot bk g e = — 35— Ak
Total inancial assets 553,748 S160,880 112673 FoRE g0

Financial Liabilies
Held for  Dosigrated  Amortmad

5 i ervlons tracing  af far valus cont Totsl
Amaunts falling dus

Wil one year
Fenancial mslruments soid
_ bulnctystpurchmed  ¥SSS8S § - F - 6N
Collateraised fnancings = &k ADATI W8T
Cther Lredioms - 14,1584 101,747 115,838
Total 555,604 ETRLT 145,218 7TEL,000
Amounis falling dus afler

maore than one year
Colaterslised Srancings - 1502 - 1,502
Othar cradion - TA4E 24,857 12,308
Total = 10 E 4, R5F 5,800
Total inancial llab@fles  $555,654 93,055 170,008 523,775
A5 of December 2014
Amounts faling due

within one year

Ferancial reraments woid,

Bh41 41 ] - ] = $41.413
Colatersised frmncngs - BSEE 53201 10N
- 18,149 128,427 145 576
B41413 101,096 182,718 906,120
Amounts falling dus after
mare than one year
Cotateraised fnandngs = 1008 i 264
Other credions - 5.0 10,801 18,700
Total - 78T 11387 18214
Tetal Erpncinl habiting FEA1 413 SI09.622  §194,105 55 340

T
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Fair Value Hierarchy

The far value of a financial instrument 1s the amount that
would be recenved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between markel participants at the
measurement date, Financial assets are marked to bid prices
amd fimancial liabilities are marked 1o offer prices. Fair vabue
measurements do not include transaction costs. The company
measures certain financial assets and financial labilities as a
portfolio (1., based on its net exposure to market andior credit
risks),

FRS 101 has a three-level fair value hierarchy for disclosure of
fair value measurements. The fair valwe hierarchy prionitises
mnpiits 1o the valuation technigues used 1o measure fair value,
giving the highest priority to level 1 inputs and the lowest
priorty 1o level 3 mputs A (nancial assel o Dnancial
liabihty®s level in the far value hierarchy = based on the
lowest level of input that 15 sipgnificant to its fair value
M eAsurament,

The far value hierarchy 15 as follows:

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted guated prices in active markets
to which the company had access at the measurement date for
wlentical, unrestnicted assets or iabilties

Level 2. Inputs to valuation technigques are observable, either
directly or indirectly,

Level 3. One or more inputs to valuation techmiques are
significant and unohservable,

The fair values for substantially all of the company”s financial
assets and financial liabilities that are fair valued on a recurming
basis are based on observable prices and inpuls and are
classified m levels | and 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Cerlain
level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial labilites may
require  approprmte valwtion adjustiments that a market
paricipant would require 1o amve at fur value for factors such
a3 counterparty and G5 Group's credit guality, funding risk,
transfer restricteons, hguadity and bad'ofter spreads, Valustion
adjustments are generally based on market evidence,
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Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Cash Instruments. Cash mstruments include government
and agency obligations, bank leans and bridge loans, corporate
and other debt obligations, equities and convertible debentures,
and other non-denvative financial instruments owned and
financial nstruments sold, bul not vel purchased. Valuation
technigques and sigruficant mputs for each level of the Gur valuse
hierarchy include:

*  Level | cash instruments are valued using quoted prices for
identical unrestricted mstruments in active markets. The
company defines active markets for equity instruments
based on the average daily trading volume both in absolute
terms and relative 1o the market capitalisation for the
instrument. The company defines active markets for debt
instruments based on both the average daily trading volume
and the number of days with trading activity.
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Waluation adjustments are typically made fo level 2 cash
mstruments (1) if the cash instrument is subject (o ransfer
restrictions and'or (1) for other premiums and liquidity
discounts that a market participant would require to arrive
al fair value. Valution sdjustments are generally based on
market evidence,

Level 3 cash instruments have ome or more significant
valuation inputs that are not ohservable, Absent evidence o
the contrary, level 3 cash instrumenis are initially valued at
transaction price, which i considered to be the best tnutial
estimate of fair value, Subsequently, the company wses
other methodologies o determine fair value, which vary
based on the tvpe of instrument. Valuation inputs and
assumptions are changed when corrobosated by substantive
observable evidence, including values realised on sales of

oOoOooodn

* Level 2 cash instruments can be verified to quoted prices, financial assets

recent trading activity for identical or similar instruments, The table below presents the valuation techniques and the
h’_‘-"l‘-ﬂ' or dealer q_mialim‘:s. or alierrative ]:lricing_ SOUrees nature of sigmficamt inputs. These valuation techmques and
with reasonable levels of price transparency. Consideration sigmficant mputs are generally used to determine the fair

is given to the nature of the quotations (c.g., indicative of  yalues of each type of level 3 cash instrument,
firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to the

prices provided from altemative pricing sources.

Lewel 3 Cash Instruments Valuation Technigues and Significant Inpuls.

Morgages and other assetbaciosd ‘Valustion techniques vary by instrurment, but are generally based on dscounted cash Bow bechniques.
Woderih e bt Signalcant inputs ane g ity d based on nelative value analyses and indude:

Bank kot aed beidgs loans ® Marke! ywields imphed by transacions of similar or related ety

*  Curent levels and changes in market indces such as the iTrase, COX and LCDX {indices that track the performance of
corporate credit and loans, respactively)

*  Curmant parformancs of the berrowar of loan collatersl and mecovery astumpltiong if & delault sceurs,

*  Timing of expacted Liture cash Bows (duration) which, in cemain cates, may incxperale the impact of ather unabiervabie
Ppts (p.g., prepayment speeds).

‘Corporabe and other debt obligations ‘Valuation techniques vary by in but are g ity based on o i cash Row qUeS.

Sigrifcant inputs ane geneally determined based on relathve value analyses, which incorporate comparisons both to prices of
crachit dafaull wwaps thal reference the same of simiar usdedlying inttrument o enlity and b o dabl inutrumrants e e
wame ivsuer for which cimervalile prices or broker quatations ane available. Signifcant inputs include;

*  Masket wislds impled by transactions of simiar or related avusts

*  Gurrent levels and changes in maried indces swch s the Moo, COX and LODG

*  Curment piefo af the b of loan collateral and W ptions if & delaul oecurs.

*  Maturity and coupon profile of the insbument,

Equiies and convtble cebenbaes Recent third-party compleled or pending Sansactons (e.G. merge proposals, tencer offers. celt resvucturings) are

{incledng private squicy nvestments | considersd 1o be the best evidence for ary change in fair value. When these are not avadable, the following valustion
BN Feshents i peal Fstatn OIS Bl USed, BY BRDIODTIME:

sntiies) *  Industry muRighes and public comparakies.
= T % in similar i
*  Discounted cash Sow bechniques.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Derivative Instruments. Denvatives may be traded on an
exchange (exchange-traded) or they may be privately
negotiated comtracts, which are usually referred to as OTC
derivatives. Certain of the company’s OTC derivatives arne
cleared and settled through ceniral clearing counterparties
(OTC-cleared). while others are bilateral comtracts between
two counterparties (bilateral OTC).

The company”’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
denvative pricing models (ep, discounted cash fow models,
comrelation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methodologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations). Price
trarsparency of derivatives can penerally be charactensed by
product tvpe, as descnbed below.

+ Interest Rate. In general, the kev mpuls used to value
interest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts. Interest rate swaps and oOptions
denominated m the currencies of leading industrialised
mations are characterised by high trading volumes and tight
bid'offer spreads. Interest mte dervatives that reference
indices, such as an inflation index, or the shape of the yield
curve (gg. 10-vear swap rate vs 2-vear swap rate) are
more complex, but the key inputs are generally observable,

+ Credit. Prce transparency for credit default swaps,
including both single mames and baskets of credits, varies
by market and underlying reference entity or obligation.
Credit default swaps that reference indices, large corporates
and major sovereigns generally exhubit the most price
wransparency. For  credit  default swaps  with  other
underliers, price transparency varies based on credit rating,
the cost of hommowing the underlying reference obligations,
and the availability of the underlying reference obligations
for delivery upon the default of the issuer. Credit default
swaps that reference loans, asset-backed securities and
emerging market debt instruments tend 1o have less price
transparency than those that reference corporate bonds. In
addition, more complex credit derivatives, such as those
senasitive to the comelation between two or more underlying
reference  obligations, generally  have less  price
IrAnSparency.

« Currency. Prices for cumrency derivatives based on the
exchange rates of leading industrialised nations, including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent, The
primary difference between the price tansparency of
developed and emerging market currency derivatives is that
emerging markets tend to be observable for contracts with
sharter tenors.

&l
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= Equity. Price ransparency for equity derivatives varnes by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the common
stock of corporates included in major equity indices exhibit
the most price transparency. Equity denvatives generally
have ohservable market prices, except for contracts with
long tenors of reference prices that differ significantly from
current market prices. More complex equity denivatives,
such as those senstive to the correlation between two or
more individual stocks, penerally have less  price
trAnSparency

Liquidity is ¢ssential to observability of all product types. If
transaction volumes decline, previously trarsparent prices and
other inpauis may become unchservable. Conversely, even
highly structured products may at times have trading volumes
large enowgh to provide observability of prices and other
inpts.

Lewvel 1 Derivatives

Level 1 derivatives include shor-term comtracts for future
delivery of secunties when the underlying security 15 a level 1
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and are valued at their quoted market price.

Leve! 2 Derivatives

Level I derivatives include OTC denvatives for which all
sigmficant valuation inpwts are commoborated by market
evidence and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued using models that calibrate to
market-cleanng levels of OTC denvatives. In evaluating the
sigmficance of a valustion mput, the company considers,
among other factors, a portfolio’s net risk exposure 1o that
inpt

The selection of a particular model to value a derwative
deperdds on the contractual terms of and specific nisks inherent
in the nstrument, as well as the availability of pricing
information in the market. For denivatives that trade in liguid
markets, model selection dees not  mvelve  significant
management judgement because outputs of models can be
calibrated to market-cleaning levels

Valustion models reguire a vanely of imputs, such as
contractual terms, market prices, vield curves, discount rates
{including those derved from interest rates on collateral
received and posted as specified in credit suppost agreements
for collateralised denvatives), credit cuwrves, measures of
volatility and correlations of such inputs. Sigmificant mnputs to
the valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer gquotations or other altermative
pricing spurces with reascnable levels of price transparency.
Comsideration is given to the nature of the gquotations (eg.,
mndicative of firm) and the relationship of recent market
activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Level 3 Derfvatives

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which ubilise
cbzervable level 1 andior level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs. Uncbservable imputs include
certain correlations as well as credt spreads and equay
volatility inpants.

Subsequent to the initial valuation of a level 3 derivative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting pains and losses
are recorded in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
comoborated by evidence such az similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and/or broker or dealer quotations
or other empinical market data. In circumstances where the
company cannot venfy the model value by reference o market
trarsactions, i 15 possible that a different valuation model
could produce a matenally different estimate of fair value. See
below for further information about significant unchservable
inputs used in the valuation of level 3 derivatives,

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price
and the far value calcubated by imernal models, a gain or loss
15 recognised afler mitial recognition only to the extent that it
arises from a change in a factor (mcluding time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price,

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are integral to determining the fair value
of derivative portfolios and are wsed (o adjust the mid-market
valushions produced by derivative prcmg models to the
appropriate exit price valuation. These adjustments meorporate
bid'offer spreads, the cost of lguidity, credit valuation
adjustiments and funding valuation adjusiments, which aceount
for the credit and funding risk inherent i the wncollateralised
portion of derivative portfolios. The company also makes
funding valuation adjusimenis to collateralised dervatives
where the terms of the agreement do not permit the company to
deliver or repledge collateral received, Market-based inputs
are generally used when calibrating valwtion adjusimenis io
market-clearing levels.

In  addmion, for dervatives that  include  sigmibicant
unobservable inputs, the company makes model or exit price
adjustments to account for the valuation uncertainty present in
the transaction,
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Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. The sigmificant mputs to the valuation of resale
and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed and loaned
are funding spreads, the amount and timing of expected future
cash flows and interest rates

Debtors. Debtors measured at fair value are primanly
comprised of secured lending and prepaid commodity
contracts, The significant inputs 1o the valuation of such
recewvables are commaodity prices, interest rates, the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows and funding spreads.

QOther Creditors. Cther creditors primarily compnse hyvbnd
financial instruments and prepard commodity contracts.

The sigmficant puls to the valustion of secured other
creditors measured at fair value are the amount and tming of
expected future cash flows, interest rates, funding spreads, the
fair value of the collateral delivered by the company (which is
determined using the amount and tuming of expected future
cash flows, market prices, market vields and recovery
assumplions) and the Frequency of additional callateral calls.

The =significant inputs to the valuation of unsecured other
creditors measured at fair value are the amount and uming of
expected future cash Mows, nterest rates, the credit spreads of
(5 Group, as well as commodity prices in the case of prepaid
commodity contracts, The inputs used to value the embedded
derivative companert of hvbeid fnancial nstruments are
congistent with the inputs used to value the company’s other
derivative instruments
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Significant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair

Value Measurement

Cash Instruments. As of December 2015 and December « Increases in yield, discount rate or duration used in the
2014, the company had level 3 asset cash instruments of $1.24 valuation of the company’s level 3 cash instruments would
billion and $1.98 ballion, respectively. Level 3 liability cash resilt in a lower fair value measurement, while increases in
instruments as of both December 2015 and December 2014 recovery rate, basis or multiples would result in a higher
were nol material. The table below presents the ranges of farr value measurement. Due to the distinctive nature of
significant unobservable mputs used to value these level 3 ecach of the company’'s level 3 cash instruments, the
asset cash instruments, as well as the related weighted mterre lationship of inputs 15 ot necessanly uniform within
averages, Inthe table below each product type.

+ Kanpes represemt the significant unohservable inputs that # The fair value of any ene instrument may be determaned

were used in the valuation of each type of cash instrument, using multiple valuation techmigques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used
together to determine fair valwe Therefore, the level 3
balance encompasses both of these technigues.

+  Weighted averages are caleulated by weighting each input
by the relative fair value of the financial instruments.

* The ranges ard weighted averages of these inpuls are not
representative of the approprate inpuls 1o use when
caleulating the far value of any one cash instrument. For
example, the highest vield presented in the tables below for
bank loans and brdge loans 1s approprate for valuing a
specific bank loan but may not be appropriate for valuing
any other bank lean Accordingly, the ranges of inputs
presented below do not represent uneertainty in, of possible
ranges of, fair value measurements of the company’s level
3 cash instruments.

Range of Slgnificant Unobservable Inputs (Welghled Average)
Valustion Techaiques and Lin
Lewve 3 Cash Instruments Significant Unobservable Inputs As of December 2013 Ak of Decarber 2014
Bank keang and bridgs loans Dizcounted cath Sows:
m:--ﬂ!ﬂmmm'ﬂmﬂ * Yield 3.2% b0 18, 7% (B.2%) 1.9% o 1 7.0% (3E%)

+ Recevery iate B.0% to 70,00 (33 T £, E7.1% (&7,
(642 milion are STSE o of Sl 3 443008 48 e VRIS Jo 0. (2.7 bigutiahial it
o bar 2015 and Dy bar 3014, *  Duration {years) 0.7 te 11,8 {5.4) 131812730
respectivell
Comporste and cther dabt cbligaticnt Ditcounted cath Sows:
Commmcal pape, cartificates of deposi, ime .
deposis and other money market intuments . Viald % ko 14,20 (5.7} 1.6% b0 24.4% (5.5%)
& - i Racowisly b 0u0%% bo 70,00 (BELE) 0007 bor P00 (3T 4%)

agan = . )
(EAAE o and $1.03 B0 oF leved 3 asseds 88 Duration {ywars) 1.8 55 (3.1 0.7 10 6.4 (3.00
&f Dicanboar 2015 ana Dicwenbar 3014,
respesctived
Equiies and converible debentures fincluding Market comparables and
private squity imve and i inreal | & J cash Pows:
eisia anble) * Mukiples 0.0 b 14,5 (2 4} 0.9 0 8.3x 1.5¢)
$152 milon and $187 millon of ke 3 asoet : ;
B Dacarmien 20115 amd Dwcarror 201425 | & Dincount rmieryield B.0% b0 13.3% 11.4%) 15.0% 50 15.8% (16.8%)
respectiveld
B3
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Derivative Instruments. As of December 2015 and
December 2014, the company had net level 3 denvative
instruments of 32,14 hillion and 33,12 billion, respectively.
The table below presents the ranges of significant unchservable
inputs used to value the company”s credit and equity denivative
instruments as well as averages and medians of these inputs
As of December 20015 and December 2014, the company had
net level 3 financial instruments of %136 mullion and 5242
million, respectively, relating to mterest rate, curmencies and
commoedities derivatives for which the range of sigmificant
unobservable inputs has not been disclosed as the amounts are
not material. In the table below:

+ Ranges represent the significant unobservable inputs that
were used in the valuation of each type of derivative.

*  Averapes represent the arithmetic average of the nputs and
are net weighted by the relative fair value or notional of the
respective financial instruments. An average greater than
the median indicates that the majority of inputs are below
the average.
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® The ranges, averages and medians of these inpuls are not
representative of the appropnate npuis o we when
calculating the fair value of any one denvative. For
example, the highest comelation presented in the tables
below for crednt dervatives 15 appropnate for valung a
specific credit derivative but may not be appropriate for
valuing any other credit dervative. Accordingly, the ranges
of inputs presented below do not represent uncertainty in,
or possible ranges of, fair value measurements of the
company’s level 3 derivatives.

®  The far value of any one imstrument may be determined
using multiple valuation technigues. For example, option
pricing models and discouted cash flows models are
typically used together to determune fair value. Therefore,
the level 3 balance encompasses both of these techniques.

Range of & cant Unobservable Inpuls {Average | Med
Vakuation Techriques and oren ! ke
Lawved 3 Derivative Product Type Significant Unobservalle Inputs | A= of December 2015 At of Decembaer 2004
Croit Oiption pricing medels. comdation
(5229 bilor ared 53,36 lon of nel miodets snd discounted cash fows
fevel 3 derivative instruments as of models:
o 2015 et D 014, *  Comeation 45% ta 9% {65 / 86%) ST 1o B (T7%.1 T5%)
*  Credit spreads 1 basis poisty (bpad ba 957 bpa 1 batin paint (berk] 1o 700 Bgri
{174 bps 1 131 bips) (143 bps J 107 bps)
*  Upiont credit points 0 points b BE points {24 points 1 points o B4 points (35 ponts |
20 pointy) 16 painty)
*  Recowsry rabes 2% to S5 (4% / 40%) 4% 1o GO (3075 f 2E%)
Equiies Optsen prating medis;
(52T malon ang S{484) millon of naet
Pl 3 Siehvitas instrurmants i of *  Comelstion (incuding crosse | {B51% to T4% (30% / 45%) (3415 80 D% (457 1 42%)
December 2015 ana December 2014, predhatl comslaten]
Rt * Wolability 1% o S8 (26% 7 26%) 5% to 6% (219 1 21%)
£

308/337

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs

The followmg = information about the ranges of significant
unobservable inputs wsed to value the company™s level 3
denvative nstruments:

+ Correlation. Kanges for correlation cover a variety of
wnderliers both within one market {e.g.. equity index and
equity single stock mames) and scross markets (eg.,
correlation of an equity index and a foreign exchange rate),
as well as across regions

+ Volatility. Ranges for volatlity cover numerous underliers
acToss & vanety of markets, maturities and strike prices. For
example, valatihty of equity indices is generally lower than
velatility of single stocks.

+ Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credit pomts
and recovery rates cover a variety of underliers (index and
single names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit
qualities {high-yield and iwestment-grade). The broad
range of this population gives rise to the width of the ranges
of significant unobservable inputs.

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company’s level 3 fair value measwrements to changes in
significant unobservable inputs, i isolation:

« Correlation. In general, for contracts where the holder
benefits from the consastent directional performance of the
underlving assel or index prices (g, mnterest mles, cradit
spreads, foreign exchange rates, inflation rates and equity
prices), an mereas: in cormelation results moa higher fur
value measurement.

«  Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
velatility results in a higher fair value measurement.

+« Credit spreads, upfront cradit points and recovery
rates. In general, the farr value of purchased credit
prodection ncresses as credit spreads or upfront credit
pomils merease or recovery rates decrease. Credil spreads,
upfront credit points and recovery rates are strongly related
to distinctive nisk factors of the underlving reference
obligations. These include reference entity-specific factors
such as leverage, volatility and industry; market-based risk
factors, such as bomowing costs of liquidity of the
wnderlving  reference  obhgation, and  macroeconomic
conditions.

Due to the distinctive nature of each of the company’s level 3

denvatives, the mtemrelationship of inputs 15 not necessarily

uniform within each product type.

S
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Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. As of both December 2015 and December 2014,
the company had mo level 3 resale agreements, securities
borrowed or securities loaned. As of both December 2015 and
December 2014, the company”s level 3 repurchase agreements
were nol material

Debtors. As of both December 2015 and December 2014, the
company's level 3 debtors were Snil.

Other Creditors. As of both December 2015 and December
2014, the sigroficant wnobservable inputs wed (o value the
company's secured  level 3 other creditors have been
incorporated i the company’s cash imstruments disclosures
related to unobservable inputs. See "Cash Instruments™ abave,

As of both December 2015 and December 2014, substantially
all of the company’s unsecured level 3 other creditors are
hybead financial instruments. As the significant unobservable
mnpats wed to value hybnd financial instruments primanly
relate to the embedded derivative component of these
berrawings, these inpuls are incorporated in the company's
dervative  disclosures related 1o unchservable mputs. See
“Denvative Instruments” above.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Fair Value of Financial Assets
Liabilities by Level

The mables below present, by level within the far value
hierarchy, fimancial assets and financial liabilitties measured at
fair value ona recurring basis,

and Financial

Financial Assets and Financial Lisbilites

ol Fair Valus as of Decembser 2015

_Snmuma Level 1 Level 2 Lewel 3 Taotal
Elnpncis ASSELS

Cath instnaments SRR 5 17500 $1,73% 5 66,937
ity i | nrakru manis. 4 544,000 4,303 48,117
Feranicial imstruments cwnad 48,312 561,801 6,041 616,054
Colateraised agresments - 132,933 - 132,933
S = 159 = 1500

assts ]
Financia LiabilRies
Amourds Falling due within
‘one year

Cash instnaments 11,008 5 2584 § 62 5 na8
Deivatveimtuments I8 528277 2883 530070

Ferancial mstroments soid,

bt not yet purchased 21,088 531,881 27
‘Colatersised beancings =~ = T 1
Total 21,088  B15,41% [ ¥y [TFR L]
Amoimis falling die afler
mare thar ane year
Coilateraised Snancings 3,802 - 3,502
“ther cradiion - 5372 3,18 T
Total = 8,824 7,024 0,848
Total Tnancial liabaiies 51,066 524,047 58,401 653,700
He defvative instruments 4 § 1803 2,103 § 18047
Finmncial Avzats and Fnencial Lisbilities
it Fir Vakse ok of Ducambar 20104
5 in millons Lerwed 1 Leved 2 Lowel 3 Total
Cash insinsments $80,292 5 23083 1,878 5 6828
Divivatvn Instrumants 17 621,863 BEI17T 627,457
Frmncinl meroments cwned | 40,308 645,645 7,783 683,748
Colatersised agresments SETT ) - 150,808
Diidtalen i - 1,760 - 1,760
Total Erencial awats. 50309 H0G.5 §7.7 54, 33T
Amounts Falling dus within
one year
Cash inslnaments S TAR 5 4852 F § 27850
.......................................... Ty

Aot falling dus after

mare than one year
Coilateraized Santings - 1,978 - 1,928
Qthar sraditor - 5,084 [7E] 5 A%
Total = 5,601 w3 7827
Tetal raecinl akating 522774 5100008 6493 5951,095
Hat darhention instrumeets (7 510831 S3420 5 13,734
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Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During 2015 and 2014, there were no significamt transfers
between level | and level 2 financial assets and financeal
liabilities measused at fair value on a recurring basis.,

Level 3 Roliferward

The table below presents the changes in fair value for all level
3 financial assets and financial ligbilities measured at fair vabue
on a recurring basis. Gains and losses ansing on level 3 assets
are recogmised within net revenues m the profit and loss
aceount. [n the table below:

# Il a fimancial assel or Grancial lability was transferred 1o
level 3 during & reporting period, its entine gain or loss for
the peried is included in bevel 3. For level 3 financial assets,
méreases are shown as posilive amounts, while decreases
are shown as negative amounts For level 3 financial
habsilities, increases are shown as negative amounts, while
decrenses are shown &8 positive amounts.

»  Transfers between levels are recognised at the beginning of
the reporting period in which they occur, Accordingly, the
tables do mot include gains or bosses for level 3 fnancil
assets and financial liabilies that were transferred oul of
level 3 prior to the end of the peried.

# Level 3 fnancil asets and fnancial lsbilities are
frequently economically hedged with level 1 and level 2
financial assets and financial liabilities. Accordingly, level
3 gains or kosses that are reported in the table below for a
particular class of financial asset or financial labibty can
be partially offset by gains or losses attributable to level 1
or level 2 in the same class of Onancial asset or financial
liakility or gains or losses attributable to level 1, level 2 or
level 3 in a different class of financial asset or financial
lability, As a result, gains or losses included in the level 3
rollforward below do not necessanily represent the overall
impact on the company’s results of operations, liquidity or
capital resources,

e See “Level 3 Rollforward Commentary™ below for an
explanation of transfers into and transfers out of level 3.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Leved 3 Financial Assels and Financial Lisbdtes at Fai Value

[Ty Translws Translers Balance,
egamng  Gana it out ot andal
5 in enilions slynar  dotien)  Purchaues Saler  Settements Teval 3 Il 3 yuar
Year Ended De-comber 2015
Femcinl Pritruments cwnad $7.793 5 B8 $ &0 § a0 130 SO HRME 56041
Diabiiors = - = = - = = =
Total lewel 3 financal assets 57,793 § &6 3 &0 § (401 1,300 5084 SZ,005 56,041
Fasmeinl Pritruments ssld Bt nel yol purshased LTG5 @ $ #0533 $ I LTLTTIN T 5 $[3,7I7)
Colaterslssd Sranongs 124y s} - - o4 - - i)
e s s o s i B .
Total lewel 3 Ninancial EDITIS ha15 5 W8 T 00 W51 59,801 Wora) % 760 SIEADT)
Yuar Ended Deceonber 2014
Faranicial istruments owned $0085 2508 ST & (TEE Sachm  STI2 LM STTES
Dutdors 180 = = - = - {180 -
Tetal Wnl 3 Bnancal aveets $H,035 .50 1,700 5 (765 SE0Em 5712 51,509 57,798
Firanicial instruments sokd, Bt not yet purchased L0085 5 42 $ (0§ (E5E $1,173 245 51268 2718
Collgteralived boancings =000 AL el ... HE R .
Gthar sraditor V2,668 132 (e (Kiz] Ty E 13,580
Total vl 3 Bnancial lnbses WILEN 8 (28] ] FH A7) % 1.0 FTFe]

Level 3 Rolforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2015. Transfers into level 3 Year Ended December 2014. Transfers ino level 3

primarily reflected transfers of cemain credit derivatives from
level 2, principally due to unchservable credit spread inputs
becoming significant to the valuation of these instruments and
the wransfers of certain equity denvatives from level 2,
principally due to unchservable volatility and correlation
inputs  becoming  significant to the valuation of these
derivatives

primarily reflected iransfers of certain credit derivatives from
level 2, principally due to unobservable credit spread mputs
becoming significant to the valeation of these instruments or a
recuction in market data available for the mstrument

Transfers out of level 3 primarily reflected transfers of certain
credit denvatives to level 2, principally due to unobservable

credit spread inputs no longer being sigmficant to the net nisk
of certain portfolios and the transfers of certain equity
derivatives 1 level 2, due to unchservable comelations no
longer being sigmificant 10 the valuation of the instrument.

Transfers out of level 3 primanly reflected transfers of certan
credit denvatives 1o level 2, pnncipally due to unobservable
credit spread mputs no longer beang sigrificant 1 the met risk
of certamn portfohos.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Fair Value Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Valued Using Technigques That Incorporate
Unobservable Inputs

The tair value of financial assets and financial liabilities may
be determined in whole or part using a valuation technique
based on assumplions thal are not supported by prices from
ohservable current market transactions in the same mstrument
or based on available observable market data and changing
these assumptions will change the resultant estimate of fair
valug, The potential impact of wsing reasonable possible
alternative assumptions for the valuations, including sigmificant
unobservable inputs, has been quantified as of December 2015
and December 2014, as approximately 3261 million and 5179
million, respectively, for favourable changes and 5238 million
and 5146 million, respectively, for unfavourable changes. In
determining  reasomably  possible  alternative  wnfavourable
assumplions, a detailed bisiness and position level review has
been performed to wdentify and quantify instances whene
potential uncertanty exists. This has taken o aceount the
positions” farr value as compared to the range of available
market information.

The table below presents the amounts ot recopmised n the
profit and loss account relating to the difference between the
fair value of financial instruments held for trading at initial
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

Az of December 2015 and Drecember 2014, the company had
$99.25 billion and 311257 billion, respectively, of current
financial assets and S14520 killion and 518272 hillion,
respectively, of current financial habilities that are not
measured at far value. Given the shon-term nature of these
instruments, thewr carrying amounts in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

As of December 2015 and December 2014, the company had
824,85 billion and $11.39 billion, respectively, of financial
liabilites that are due afier more than one vear that are not
measured a1 fair value which predominantly relate to long-term
intercompany  borrowings. The interest rates of these
berrawings are varisble in mature and approximate prevailing
market interest rates for mstruments with similar terms and
characteristics, As such, their camrying amounts in the balance
sheet are a reasonable approsimation of fair value,

Iterms of Income, Expense, Gains or Losses

The table below presents the tems of income, expense, gains
of losses related 1o the company’s financial assets and hnancial
liabihties that are presented within net revenues.

‘Year Ended December

recognition (the transaction price) and the amounts determined % iy malions 014 2014
L - . . . ———— T —
at imtial recognition using the valuation techniques {day 1 Hon-interest (ncoems 8,778 36015
P&L) Intirest neccme
Intanirit income fam eademal counberparting 1,504 510
enr Ended Dacember Inbarest income from parent and group undertakings i Fr
$ in millons s 204 Total interest income 207 453
R was 580
L T N . N ] Interest expense
Aoty recognited in the proSt and loss sccount I E Fom sxten P A0 1,265
duing the pariod (90 162) Intarest superse Fom parent and group undertakings 51 852
A5 of December 31 $139 313 Total interest expense 1,801 2117
Mt intefe sl Bcome Fe 415
Talal net revenues 7,014 6430
1. Mominterest income includes © wnd fess | of $532 milion

B

ond 5557 milon for 2015 and 2014, respectively. This & recogrised in
Ingiiticnal Chent Senicet and nvestment Masagemasnt,

2. Moninterest incoms indudes net gains of $825 million for 2018 and nat
losnan of $489 million for 2014, i relafion to the compeyy's nancisl assets
and Snancial Babdites designated sl fair value This s recognied in
Instiutional Chest Services. The remaining ret nevenuss within Institutional
Client Services rolate 1o ned gains kom fnancisl assels and
Enancial Babdities heid ke radng.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below presents the cash flows of the company's
financial labilities by contractual maturity including interest
that will accrue, except for financial instruments sold, but not
vel purchased Financial mstruments sold, but not wet
purchased are classified as wading'on demand  Fimancial
liabalities, with the exception of those that are held for trading
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The fair values of financial lmbilibes held for trading and
financial habilities desagnated at fair value through profit and
loss have been disclosed as this 15 consistent with the valucs
used in the bgudity risk management of these instruments,
Liguidity risk on derivatives is mitigated through master
netting agreements and cash collateral armangements.

oOoOooodn

or designated at fair value throwzh profit and loss, are disclosed

at their undiscounted cash flows
Financial Liakilties
More than Mz than More than
onimonth  thies manths L= b Ll
[£153 but leis Ent leis taal lein Greater
Trading! than one than Swne ‘than crse than Sve thars fve
£ in milons on demrand manth monkhs year Jears yoars Total
As of December 2015
dnounts Falling dus witfim o yoar
_Financial instrumants soid, Bt not yet purchazed el 8- i_- L § - § - S5SAM
Collatarslised Bnandings B0.0R6 41,000 13TE 11,021 - - 116,355
Cther credion FE050 FrLE L AT T - - 116,372
Total T a0 A, 167 4,0 X iR - - THEA11
Amounts Malling due after more than one year
Colateralised frpncings 0 - —
Othar cradions [] 19
Total [] 19
Total — on-bal ance-sheet 701,790 44,168 4,072 33 A07 24,524 12,680 225,641
Covtagent and rward sating resale and secunties
___borowing sgresmens 000 00- 2 wa8 - - = = B
Cperating s = i 18 Ti HT 13 456
Othar 4137 - = = - - LAE
Total = off-bal ance-s et [RET 0,204 18 ] ¥ 15 X,EM
Total Binanclal lab@ities ST08 927 573452 54,083 134T S24,871 512,695 $899,312

Amounts Falling due within one year

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Coilataraised Bnancings - - - - 2418 k] 2614
Cthar credions - 2 4 i 2110 BATS 1787
Total - 2 4 26 11,528 CRE 20,381
Total — on-Balarte-ohee BO7. 388 53,538 £ 718 55,994 11,528 8771 546,533
Contngent and rward starting resale and securities

__borowing agresments = WS - = == WA
Cperating leates - & 18 T4 385 Al S5
_Dther 4.001 - = = - - 4,001
Total = of-balare-skise 4,001 34 BAO 18 T4 388 B0 38,188
Total bnencial labliiios 811,380 £80, 118 58 Tz S0, 058 £11,813 58881 5008, 088

2O
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives financial instruments (e.g., government
and agency obligations, corporate debt securities, equities and
comvertible debentures) as collateral, pnmarily in connection
with resale agreements, securities bormrowed, derivative
trarsactions and customer margin loans. The company obtains
cash and securities as collmeral on an upfront or contingent
basiz for dervative mstruments and collateralised agreements
to reduce its credit exposure 1o individual counterparties

In many cascs, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering imo
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primarily in connection with secured chent financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledge these
financial instruments in connaction  with other  secured
financings, collateralising dervative transactions and meeting
company or customer setilement requirements,

The company also pledges certam fnancial mstruments owned
in conmection with repurchase agreements, securitics lending
agreements and other secured fimancings to counterparties who
may of may el have the right to deliver or repledge.

The table below presemts financial instruments received as
collateral that were available 1o be delivered. or repledged and
were delivered or repledged by the company.
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Hedge Accounting

The company designates certain interest rate swaps as far
value hedges. These interest rate swaps hedge changes in fair
value attnbutable to the relevant benchmark interest rate (e.g.,
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBORJ) effectively
converting fixed rate obligations imo floating rate obligations.

The company mpplies a statistical method that utilises
regression analysis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair
value hedging relationships in schieving offsetting changes n
the fair values of the hedging instrument and the risk being
hedged {ie, interest rate risk) An interest ale swap is
considered highly effective in offsetting changes i fair value
attnbutable 1o changes in the hedged nsk when the regression
analysis results in a coefficient of determination of 0% or
greater and a slope between 0% and 125%

For qualifying fair value hedges, gains or losses on derivatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item attributable o
the hedged nisk are included in net revenues. When a denvative
is no longer designated as a hedge, any remaining difference
between the carrving value and par value of the hedged item 15
amaised over the remaining Life of the hedged item using the
effective interest method.

The table below presents the gains/(losses) from interest rate
dervatives accounted for as hedges, the related hedged
bommowings and the hedge ineffectiveness on these derivatives.

Ad ol Dicirnbar
§ in milics s 014 Year Ended December
Colateral avallsbie to be cellvered of replodged 579,584 $368,545 % in millians 2015 2014
[~ thad was. of repedg o7, e 204,504 Intarest rale hedges e 585
. . e~ e =
The table below presents mformation about assels pledped. Hedge Inelecveness T 14} 35

A of Docimber
5 i milhong 13 204
Feancial meruments cwned pledged to
eamrtepartie hak
Had thi rght ba delver o riplidos §22,038 S0
Dédl not heve the right to deiver or repledge 0,148 17,555

The company has received cash collateral i respect of
financial instruments owned of 35764 billon and $57.54
billion as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively,
and posted cash collateral in respect of financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased of 338.71 billion and 53546 hillion
as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively.

In addition to repurchase agreemenis and securities lending
transactions, the company funds cenain assets through the use
of other secured financings and pledges financial instruments
as collateral m these itrarsactions. These other secured
financings consist of labalities related to special purpose
entities, transfers of financial assets that are accounted for as
financings rather than sales and other siructured financing
armangements. Other secured financings include amangements
that are non-recourss,

The far value of asset and lishilty derivative instruments
designated as hedges were 5158 million and 324 million,
respectively, as of December 20135,

The farr value of asset and hability denvative instruments
designated as hedpges were 5188 mullion and 310 million,
respectively, as of December 2014,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. During the
vear, the company transferred cenain financial assets where the
trancters failed to meet the derecognition criteria, as contained
i 1AS 3% “Financial Instruments:  Recognifion and
Measurement’, and as a result of which the company continues
o recogise these assets in full on the balance sheet.

The company transfers assets owned to counterparties in the
ordinary course of business w0 collateralise repurchase
agreements and other securities lending transactions.  In these
trarsactions the transferred assets continue to be recognised by
the company for aceounting purposes because the transactions
regquire the financial instruments to be repurchased at maturity
of the agreement and the company remains exposed io the
price, credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
asset, a financial hability is recognised in respect of the
consideration received and recorded within “Collateralised
financings”. When the company receives non cash collateral
(m the form of securities) no lhabality 15 mtally recogmsed. If
collateral received is subsequently seld, the abligation 1o return
the collateral 15 recogised as a habilty within “Financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased”,

In addition 1o repurchase agreements and securities lending
agreements, the company obtains funding through the use of
other arrangements that fail to meet the derecognition eriteria
For example, sales of securities with related derivatives, such
as tofal retun swaps, through which the company retains
substartially all of the nisk and reward of the transferred assets
A francial lability 15 recogmsed in such cases for the
procecds received.

|
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Other financial assets transferred that contimue (o be recognised
o balance sheet for accounting purposes relate 1o pledges of
securities as ¢ollateral, primarily for dervative transactions.
The oblgations under such denivabives are recorded in
“Financial instruments sold, but not vet purchased”,

The table below presents financial assets which have been
transferred but which remain on balance sheet for accounting
purposes. The carrving amount of the assoomated Onancial
liabilities generally approximate the carrying amount of the
as=ets tranaferred.

As of December

§ in malions 205 2014
= il pap, codis of degond. tirme

cepeosits and othar mon ey makosd insinements g m £ 1,047
Gergenmant and agency obligations 10,036 11,085
Corparste and other dabl cbligatont 5,300 E.248
Equitit and convirtible dabantugd 26,625 TXETD
Total 2,182 M0G0
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Derecognised Assets With Ongeoing Exposure. The
company has continuing involvement in the form of denvative
trarsactions and guarantees with certain non consolidated
structured entities to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These denvatives may be credit-linked to the
assel transferred and resull in the company retaiming specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company to make
pavments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
asset if certain contingent events occur

In addition, the company transters financial assets to
securitisation vehicles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets bul may have continting
invalyement with the transferred assets, including ownershap of
beneficial interests in the securitisation. The company may also
purchase semor of subordinated secunities  ssued by
securitisation vehicles in connection with: secondary market
making activities.

Where the company’s continuing invelvement in transferred
assets 15 through derivatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure 1o loss s the notional amounts of the derivative or
puarantée. For retaimed of purchased interests in secumlised
assets, the company”s risk of loss 15 imied o the far value of
these interests, In all cases these retained interests are carried at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transter at fair value
and therefore does not typacally recognise significant gains of
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
comtinuing involvement that could require the company to
repurchase derecognised financial assels
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The tables below present mformation about the company's

exposure through continuing involvement and the gains or
losses related to those ransactions

Maxinum
Carying  Expoiane
§ in rallong Amcunt ta Loss
As of December 2013
Rasets
Cash instrurrsats E L] § @1
Derivalive instruments w 1,180
Fnancial instrumsnts owned () 1,
Tolal e 1,250
Liabilicies
Derivatives instruments. L] ¥ (101
“Financisl instrumwents sold, Bul net yet purchased F3] (LS
Crthar cracitors = =
Talal 5 (8 % (107
£ ol December 2014
Rssets
Cash insrurrents & 5 64
Derivative instrumants 12 1,308
Financial instruments owned 184 1372
To ) T.372
Liabilities
Darivatives instruments. (0 3 B
“Financinl Inwrunmeeis soid, but not yet parchased [F3] 78
Crhar crediton: - -
Total § (D 3 (B
Incomed  Curnulste
(Expanza) I el
& i mallions inthe ysar  {Expense]
i 2 § 120
& 150
Financial instrumeats owned [ Fi]
(3] § oo
Liabdligies
Drivalivet intlrumanty gm0 EREr]
Financial instrumseets sold, but nof yet porchased in [EFI]
s credices - i
Taotal 50N EIEED
Lo ol Deceraber 2014
AsRas
Cash insfruments 27 5 11e
Db i ingirumisnty L] 124
Financiasl ingrumsents owned EE] 23
Total (1] )
Liabdliges
Darivalivet intlrumants ¥ 2 FIEL]
Financial instrumssats sodd, but nat yet purchased F] [EIT]
Othisr ericiory = {1
Total 52 R
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Hote 28,

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

The tables below present the company’s lnancil assets and
financial liabilites that are subject to enforceable metting
agreements and offsetting, Gross amounts exclude the effects
of both counterparty netting and collateral, and therefore are
not representative of the company’s cconomic exposure
Amouris are only offset in the balance sheet when the
company curremtly has a legally enforceable nght 1o set-off the
recognised amounts and an intention either 10 seitle onm a net
basiz, or i realise the asset and settle the hability
simultaneously,
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The tables below alse present ameunts not offset in the balance
sheet in respect of counterparty netting (ie., the netting of
financial assets and financial liabilities for a given counterparty
when a legal right of setofl exists under an enforceable netting
agrecment), and cash and sccurity collateral received and
pested under enforceable credit support agreements, that do not
meet the entena for offsetting under UK. GAAP. Where the
company has recewved or posted collateral under credit support
agreements, but has not wet determined whether such
agreements are enforceable, the related collateral has not been
meluded in the amounts not offset in the balance sheet, in the

oOoOooodn

tables below,
A of Decamber 2015
Amourts not offset in the balance sheet
Amourts  Met amount
offsetin the  presented in
Gross baance the balance Counderpaty Cash Security
5 in milions amounts'” wheat st neming  collateral  collateral  Het ameunt
Cash insinsments 515,662 5 (11,579 § 4,063 % {21y & (TH) L) $ 1M1
Francal ridruments ewnaed L 171,388 35, H00 [A74,510) [RERLE] {13,088 43,705
Colatersised agreements T (27,381 163,703 MEEIG) = (zATH a008
DCiadtel 55,187 {8,744) 43,45 {542y 32,200 (7,900} 1,785
Franicial antets tubject to snforc salie netting
AR B0, B0 {105,317 785,333 [¥d3,2R0) 75,000 (132,463) 13490
Feramicial Bssats not subjsct 1o 80 foroeabie neRng
B TR BT = 84,373 = - - Bl 3T
Total fnarcial assets $0E5,122  S105,517)  SBARE0S  S(5E3,280)  W7S000) (133483 $115,77%
Amounts falling dus within one year
Cash instnamants 5 1,184 5 (1,184 5 - 5 - 5 - 5 - 3 -
Dwivatve instumants ] (XD 530,470 ATIADE)  R20T (REAT) 15650
Ferancial vslroments soid, bl not yet purchased 590,614 159,544 530,870 [474,408) (32,200 (5617} 18,652
Collataralsid Euancngs 150,534 34,149 116,385 {48,130} - {52,088 16,180
Othr craditon T 453 [EXr] 6,408 {21) w2, 160 - 0,343
Total BOE, 601 [LEEE] T, T [H22.640) (4,365 (60,85 52,084
Amourts Palling due after mare than one year
Colateralited fnanc 3,502 = 3,802
Cther crediors ) - B804 {8,857} 1,557
Total 12,190 18,890) EXE]
Farancial bates whmel o enEetonbie nefing
BgrETaL Er0, 0T 1105,517) 15,130 (323,280} (T4,365) (B4, 028y 51,609
“Brancial labites not subyect to enlorceatle neting T -
agresmens 108405 - 108,495 - - - 108 885
Total financial liabdities S0ER, 07 H105,317) SRILTTS S(3F3,2R0) {74, 365) (64,0316} F162, 104

1. Derivative assats and derfvative labities include amounts that sre not subject to &n enforcesbis nefting sgresmiend or are subjsct to & netting agresment that the

i has not yod b s b el

ble of 5834 balon and 57,48 bllon, respectely,

2 Substantialy all collateralned agresments and collsteralised fnancings are subject 1o snforceable neftting agresments.

a3
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

As of December 2014
Amounts not offset in the balance shoest

Ameints B amount
offiat in the  prédented n

Gross bl the bal: L= party Cash Security
_5 in milions amounts’ - sheet shest netting colistenl collateral  Net amount
Elnacclal aesels
Cash instnsments 5 1TaE0 § (14.45Y & a007 5 (161 H - H - 5 2B4E
Doty it menes ] TERLEIT (132115 627 487 005 @il (10,215 25,567
Ferancial mEruments cwned TIT2 145, 55T 80, 504 TXCRTTH LIy 110,215 AT
Colatersised agresments 218,75 {18,718y 20,818 (28, 7By - {108, 488y %1y
T e T
Francial avuets tubject to enforceable nalting
ageemens 8,054 352 (172260 o2, [H30 520 (71,850 120808, 43318
Fanameial asaats Nt subject 1o on ke ceabis nesting
BgreEmans BEE - B4,818 - - - ‘B4.BEG
Total Emancial avsaty FIRECNEL 1T 5064910 T ST 6 120806 F1AT
Einancls Hatilides
Amounts falling due within one year
Cath intinsmint 1 - % - % - 5 - 5§ - 13 - % -
iy g e oo S L
Fararicial Prslraments woid, Gl nol ot purchased A4, 162 1130, 395) 13,163 [E45,005) 28,828} 35
Tt B — ot il o ——
Cther cradion "' 72453 (R EDT) 63,852 ety AT
Total W1 _aah 16, ) iB, 152 i ¥
Amounts laling due after more than one year
Collataraised Esancings 2514 - 2514 (96} - (2418} -
Other credions 9,603 :T.HEI 2.I:Q£- [i‘h = = 1.4&
Total 12117 {7,588 4,548 (588} — (2418} 1.433
Fancial labdites whpct to snkecoable nefling
Bgeameny 3,562 {172.280) 821,301 [638.529) (71,638 (54,8420 56,652
Feancial labiities not subyect bo enforceable netting
B TR 124-.[!_3& - 124 A5 - _- - 124 039
Tolal Brnancial labiting 51,117.601 S(1TZI61) 5845340 S{E38.529) 571638 5 (5442 SIELTH
1. Derhatren assets and desvative labdties ncude ameunts that s not subject to an enfecesbie neSing agr % of are subiect B & Netting aghesmant that the
company has not ye! determined 1o be enforceable of 512 52 bilion snd 510.50 billkon, reapectiely
L Sut inity ol g ol Ined agresments and colisteralised fnancings are subset 1o enfor ceabde netting agresments.
94
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2016 12 9,343.2 2015 12 838.3
468.9 209.0 92.1 69.1
2016 12 9,067.9 2015 12 826.5
582.6 239.9
2016 12 31 2016 12 31
( )
2016 12 2015 12
20,110 22,036 13 662,945
14 184,600
15 69,696
20 16,888
934,129
13 (613,911)
17 (137,641)
18 (110,931)
(862,483)

71,646
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of

Goldman Sachs International (unlimited company)

Report on the financia statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International's financial statements (the “financia statements”):

give atrue and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as of December 31, 2015 and of its profit and cash flows for

the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Annual Report, comprise:

the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2015;

the Profit and Loss Account and the Statements of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;
the Statements of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

the Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial

statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

The financia reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law (United Kingdom

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in

respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future

events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors Report for the financial year for which the financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» we have not received al the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

» thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors remuneration

specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities set out on page 50, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financia statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“1SAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may

come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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What an audit of financial statementsinvolves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from

material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Thisincludes an assessment of:

»  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed,;

» thereasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
e theoverall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by ng the directors' judgements against available evidence, forming our own

judgements, and evaluating the disclosuresin the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide
a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls,

substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

7 More London Riverside

London

SE12RT

March 14, 2016
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Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of

Goldman Sachs International (unlimited company)

Report on the financia statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International's financial statements (the “financia statements”):

give atrue and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as of December 31, 2016 and of its profit and cash flows for

the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Annual Report, comprise:

the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2016;

the Profit and Loss Account and the Statements of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;
the Statements of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

the Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial

statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

The financia reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law (United Kingdom

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in

respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future

events.

335/337



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors Report for the financial year for which the financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
» the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we are required to report if we have identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors
Report. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

»  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches

not visited by us; or
« thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors remuneration

specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities set out on page 50, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financia statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“1SAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may

come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statementsinvolves
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We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from

material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Thisincludes an assessment of:

»  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed;

» thereasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

» theoverall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors' judgements against available evidence, forming our own

judgements, and evaluating the disclosuresin the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide
a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls,

substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. With respect to the Strategic
Report and Directors Report, we consider whether those reports include the disclosures required by applicable legal

requirements.

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

7 More London Riverside

London

SE12RT

March 16, 2017

337/337



	表紙
	本文
	第一部企業情報
	第１本国における法制等の概要
	１会社制度等の概要
	（１）提出会社の属する国・州等における会社制度
	（２）提出会社の定款等に規定する制度

	２外国為替管理制度
	３課税上の取扱い
	（１）英国の租税制度
	（２）日本の租税制度

	４法律意見

	第２企業の概況
	１主要な経営指標等の推移
	２沿革
	３事業の内容
	４関係会社の状況
	５従業員の状況

	第３事業の状況
	１業績等の概要
	２生産、受注及び販売の状況
	３対処すべき課題
	４事業等のリスク
	５経営上の重要な契約等
	６研究開発活動
	７財政状態、経営成績及びキャッシュ・フローの状況の分析

	第４設備の状況
	１設備投資等の概要
	２主要な設備の状況
	３設備の新設、除却等の計画

	第５提出会社の状況
	１株式等の状況
	（１）株式の総数等
	①株式の総数
	②発行済株式

	（２）行使価額修正条項付新株予約権付社債券等の行使状況等
	（３）発行済株式総数及び資本金の推移
	（４）所有者別状況
	（５）大株主の状況

	２配当政策
	３株価の推移
	４役員の状況
	５コーポレート・ガバナンスの状況等
	（１）コーポレート・ガバナンスの状況
	（２）監査報酬の内容等
	①外国監査公認会計士等に対する報酬の内容
	②その他重要な報酬の内容
	③外国監査公認会計士等の提出会社に対する非監査業務の内容
	④監査報酬の決定方針



	第６経理の状況
	１財務書類
	２主な資産・負債及び収支の内容
	３その他
	４英国と日本における会計原則及び会計慣行の主要な相違

	第７外国為替相場の推移
	第８本邦における提出会社の株式事務等の概要
	第９提出会社の参考情報
	１提出会社の親会社等の情報
	２その他の参考情報


	第二部提出会社の保証会社等の情報
	監査報告書

